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On the cover:

North Carolina is home to more than 200 historic bridges spanning a wide range of materials and types,
from timber stringer to metal truss to concrete arch. The bridge pictured on the cover is the historic
footbridge on Corolla Island near the Currituck Sound located in the very popular Outer Banks.

Established in 1668, Currituck was one of the first areas settled in the United States. As an original
North Carolina county, Currituck County was one of the five original ports. Named for an Algonquin
Indian term meaning “The Land of the Wild Goose,” the area is abundant with waters, marshes, and
woods. The bridge (circa 1925) is on the National Register of Historic Places.
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State of North Carolina
Office of the State Controller

NELS C. ROSELAND
STATE CONTROLLER

December 5, 2022

The Honorable Roy Cooper, Governor
Members of the North Carolina General Assembly
Citizens of North Carolina

In compliance with G.S. 143B-426.40H, it is our pleasure to provide you with the State of North Carolina’s 2022 Annual
Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR). This report has been prepared by the Office of the State Controller. Responsibility
for both the accuracy of the data and the completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures, rests with
the state government and this office. To the best of our knowledge and belief, this financial report is complete and reliable in
all material respects. We believe all disclosures necessary to enable you to gain an understanding of the State's financial
activities have been included.

Although the State budgets and manages its financial affairs on the cash basis of accounting, G.S. 143B-426.40H requires
the Office of the State Controller to prepare a Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, which is now termed Annual
Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) with the implementation of GASB Statement 98, The Annual Comprehensive
Financial Report, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) in the United States of America.
Except for schedules clearly labeled otherwise, this ACFR has been prepared in accordance with GAAP.

North Carolina’s State government management is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal control structure
designed to ensure that the assets of the State are protected from loss, theft, or misuse and to ensure that adequate accounting
data are compiled to allow for the preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles. The internal control structure is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that these objectives
are met. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that: 1) the cost of a control should not exceed the benefits likely
to be derived, and 2) the valuation of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by management.

In compliance with North Carolina’s General Statutes, an annual financial audit of the State financial reporting entity is
completed each year by the North Carolina Office of the State Auditor. The Auditor's examination was conducted in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to
financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, and
the Auditor’s opinion has been included in this report. In addition, the State coordinates the Single Audit effort of all federal
funds through the State Auditor.

This letter of transmittal is intended to complement the management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) and should be read
in conjunction with it. The MD&A provides an overview of the State’s financial activities addressing both governmental and
business-type activities reported in the government-wide financial statements. In addition, the MD&A focuses on the State’s
major funds: the General Fund, the Highway Fund, the Highway Trust Fund, the Unemployment Compensation Fund, the
EPA Revolving Loan Fund, the N.C. Turnpike Authority, and the N.C. State Lottery Fund. The MD&A can be found
immediately following the independent auditor’s report.

MAILING ADDRESS: 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh, North Carolina 27699-1410
STREET ADDRESS: 3514 Bush Street, Raleigh, North Carolina 27609
Phone (919) 707-0500 ~ https://www.osc.nc.gov ~~ An EEO/AA/AWD Employer



State of North Carolina June 30, 2022

The Old North
State,

The Tar Heel
State

Government

State Reporting
Entity and
Its Services

Profile of the State of North Carolina

North Carolina became the 12 state of the union in 1789. North Carolina is located on the Atlantic coast
and is bordered by Georgia, South Carolina, Tennessee, and Virginia. The State has a land area of
approximately 50,000 square miles. The State’s estimated population is 10.6 million, making it the 9%
most populated state in the nation. Ninety-four percent of the State’s population lives in metropolitan
areas. The North Carolina coastline is 301 miles, the greatest distance east to west is 543 miles, and the
greatest distance north to south is 188 miles. The State’s elevation rises from sea level on the eastern
coastline to 6,684 feet at Mount Mitchell in the Appalachian mountain range on the western border. There
are 80,318 miles of roads, with Interstate 40 crossing North Carolina east to west, and Interstates 77, 85,
and 95 crossing the State north to south. North Carolina’s capital and central state government
administration is located in Raleigh, in the central piedmont. Charlotte, Raleigh, Greensboro, Durham,
and Winston-Salem are North Carolina’s largest cities and there are 100 counties.

North Carolina is ranked number one by Site Selection and CNBC magazines for doing business while
Chief Executive magazine ranked North Carolina fifth for best state for doing business.

North Carolina’s state government consists of an executive branch, a legislative branch, and a judicial
branch. The executive branch is headed by the Governor. The Governor, Lieutenant Governor, and eight
other statewide elected officers form the Council of State. The State Constitution provides that, “A
Secretary of State, an Auditor, a Treasurer, a Superintendent of Public Instruction, an Attorney General,
a Commissioner of Agriculture, a Commissioner of Labor, and a Commissioner of Insurance shall be
elected by the qualified voters of the State....” All administrative departments, agencies, and offices of
the State and their respective functions, powers, and duties shall be allocated by law among and within
not more than 25 principal administrative departments.

The legislative power of the State is vested in the General Assembly, which consists of a Senate and a
House of Representatives. The Senate is composed of 50 Senators, elected on a biennial basis. The House
of Representatives is composed of 120 Representatives, elected on a biennial basis.

The Courts of the Judicial Branch are split into three divisions, the Appellate Division, the Superior Court
Division, and the District Court Division. Judges are elected on a non-partisan basis.

The State of North Carolina entity as reported in the ACFR includes all fund types of the departments,
agencies, boards, commissions, and authorities governed and legally controlled by the State's executive,
legislative, and judicial branches. In addition, the reporting entity includes legally separate component
units for which the State is financially accountable. The component units are discretely presented in the
government-wide financial statements. The State's discretely presented major component units are the
University of North Carolina System, the State's community colleges, and the State Health Plan. The
criteria for inclusion in the reporting entity and its presentation are defined by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) in its GASB Codification Section 2100. These criteria are described
in Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of the accompanying financial statements.

The State and its component units provide a broad range of services to its citizens, including primary and
secondary education; higher education; health and human services; economic development; environment
and natural resources; public safety, corrections, and regulation; transportation; agriculture; and general
government services. The costs of these services are reflected in detail and in summary in this report.
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Budgetary
Control

Overview

In addition to internal controls discussed previously, the State maintains budgetary controls. The objective
of these budgetary controls is to ensure compliance with legal provisions embodied in the annual
appropriated budget approved by the General Assembly. Activities of the General Fund, departmental
special revenue funds, and permanent funds are included in the annual appropriated budget. The Highway
Fund and the Highway Trust Fund, the State's major special revenue funds, are primarily budgeted on a
multi-year basis. Capital projects are funded and planned in accordance with the time it will take to
complete the project. The level of budgetary control (that is, the level at which expenditures cannot legally
exceed the appropriated amount) is exercised at both the departmental and university level, with allotment
compliance exercised by the State Controller, and on the program line-item levels requiring certain
approvals by the Director of the Budget. Legislative authorization of departmental expenditures appears
in the State Appropriations Bill. The budget approved by the General Assembly is the legal expenditure
authority; however, the Office of State Budget and Management may approve executive changes to the
legal budget as allowed by law. These changes result in the final budget presented in the required
supplementary information.

Economic Condition

At the start of fiscal year 2021-22, broad measures of employment and economic activity demonstrated
that North Carolina’s economy had largely recovered from the depths of the recession induced by the
COVID-19 pandemic and transitioned into the expansion phase of the business cycle. The State’s
economy fared well during the fiscal year, recovering more rapidly than the nation as a whole and showing
increasing resilience to the recurring waves of COVID-19 infections. However, as the year went on,
persistently high inflation began to displace COVID-19 transmission rates as the predominant economic
headline, provoking an aggressive monetary policy response and broadly shaping public perception of
the ongoing state of the economy.

Early in the fiscal year, inflationary pressures were limited to a few specific categories of consumer goods
and services, particularly those most affected by pandemic restrictions and supply chain disruptions.
During fiscal year 2021-22, price increases became widespread as demand outstripped supply across a
broad range of goods and services. Worker shortages and lingering pandemic-related disruptions to
supply chains limited production capacity, while surplus savings resulting from federal pandemic-related
fiscal support, along with reduced spending due to social distancing, continued to fuel demand. Russia’s
invasion of Ukraine in February 2022 disrupted energy markets and commodity exports, causing
additional price pressures to emerge. By the end of the fiscal year, in June 2022, consumer price inflation
had soared to 9.1%, marking the largest year-over-year increase since November 1981.

In response to unacceptably high and persistent inflation, the Federal Reserve began tightening monetary
policy during the latter part of the fiscal year. The Federal Reserve is expected to continue to aggressively
tighten monetary policy into the second half of fiscal year 2022-23.

Projections of key economic indicators illustrate how the economy is expected to unfold during the next
two fiscal years (fiscal years 2022-23 and 2023-24, or the “forecast period”) at the time of this writing.
This forecast assumes that tightening monetary policy will successfully restore price stability and achieve
a so-called “soft landing”, effectively slowing economic growth without triggering an outright recession.
However, the economy is vulnerable, and the risk of a recession during the forecast period is elevated. In
the current environment, aggressive tightening of monetary policy increases this risk.

10
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Economic Indicators

FY 2020-21 FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 FY 2023-24

Actual Actual Projected Projected
United States Indicators
Real Gross Domestic Product 239 4.0% 0.6% 1.5%
Growth
Personal Income Growth 7.6% 2.8% 4.9% 5.1%
Corporate Pre-Tax Profit 12.2% 13.7% 3.4% 139
Growth
Retail Sales Growth 13.7% 13.2% 5.9% 2.5%
Average Unemployment Rate 6.9% 4.2% 3.7% 4.0%
Average Consumer Price 239, 799, 6.3% 2.6%
Index Growth
Average 30-yr Fixed Mortgage 2.9% 3.8% 6.3% 6.2%
Interest Rate
North Carolina Indicators
Real Gross State Product 3.8% 5.1% 15% 1.9%
Growth
Personal Income Growth 8.2% 4.7% 5.0% 4.8%
Wages and Salaries Growth 6.4% 11.7% 8.2% 5.8%
Retail Sales Growth 17.4% 11.4% 6.0% 4.4%
Average Unemployment Rate 5.9% 4.0% 3.5% 4.0%
Nonfarm Employment Growth 7.6% 3.4% 21% 1.0%

In fiscal year 2021-22, real gross domestic product (GDP), a broad measure of economic activity, grew
by 4.0 percent nationally, while North Carolina’s real gross state product (GSP) grew by 5.1 percent.
After surpassing its pre-recession peak last fiscal year, US GDP continued to grow during the first half
of the fiscal year and then contracted mildly for the last two quarters of the fiscal year. Despite two
consecutive quarters of negative growth, US GDP in the last quarter of the fiscal year was 1.8 percent
higher than in the last quarter of fiscal year 2020-21 and 3.5 percent above its pre-pandemic peak.

North Carolina’s GSP had also eclipsed its pre-recession peak by the end of fiscal year 2020-21. The
State’s economy grew more quickly than the national economy during the first three quarters of fiscal
year 2021-22 and, like the national economy, contracted mildly in the last quarter of the fiscal year. GSP
ended the fiscal year 3.4 percent above the last quarter of fiscal year 2020-21 and 7.2 percent above its
pre-pandemic peak. Over the forecast period, absent a recession, both the national and State economies
are expected to grow slowly, with the State’s economy continuing to expand at a faster pace than that of
the nation.

After mounting an especially robust recovery in fiscal year 2020-21, US corporate profits again produced
double-digit growth in fiscal year 2021-22. In the last quarter of the fiscal year, post-tax corporate profits
as a share of GDP reached a 70-year high. Profitability growth is expected to slow significantly in tandem
with the overall slowing of the economy.

Nonfarm employment in North Carolina, which fell by 558,500 during the pandemic-induced recession,
rebounded significantly by July 2021 and continued to improve thereafter. At the start of the fiscal year,
North Carolina became one of the first states to return to its pre-pandemic employment level. From June
2021 to June 2022, the State’s economy went on to gain 155,200 nonfarm jobs (3.4%), exceeding
employment in February 2020, prior to the pandemic, by 136,900 (3.0%). This stands in contrast to the
nation, where employment remained below pre-pandemic levels at the end of the fiscal year and did not
fully recover until more than a year after the State.

11
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In North Carolina, jobs were added over the fiscal year in all major industries except government, which
lost 7,100 jobs. The largest increase was in professional and business services (49,300 jobs). The leisure
and hospitality sector, hardest hit during the pandemic, added 34,600 jobs during the fiscal year.
Preliminary figures indicate that employment in this sector had nearly reached its pre-pandemic level as
of September 2022. Job growth in the State is expected to slow considerably during the forecast period,
adding around 100,000 jobs in fiscal year 2022-23 and another 50,000 in fiscal year 2023-24.

For most of the fiscal year, the labor market was very tight, with unemployment rates at both the State
and national level approaching historic lows. By June 2022, the State unemployment rate was just below
its pre-pandemic rate, while the US rate remained slightly above its pre-pandemic rate. The State
unemployment rate declined from 4.9 percent at the start of the fiscal year to 3.4 percent in June 2022,
averaging 4.0 percent for the fiscal year. At the end of the fiscal year, there were nearly twice as many
job openings as job seekers in North Carolina, and employers struggled to fill vacancies. With so many
job openings and a backlog of work, the unemployment rate is expected to remain low despite slowing
growth. The State unemployment rate is expected to track the national rate closely, slowly increasing to
4.1 percent in the latter half of fiscal year 2023-24.

In response to the tight labor market, wage and salary income growth was remarkably strong in the State,
increasing 11.7 percent — nearly double the growth rate in the previous fiscal year. Wage growth in the
US fared similarly, rising by 10.3 percent. These exceptional growth rates represent the highest wage
increases since the early 1980s, which also came during a period of high inflation. Notably, wage growth,
which makes up more than half of total personal income and closely mirrors its growth under ordinary
circumstances, outpaced personal income growth by a wide margin this fiscal year. Diminishing
government transfer payments from federal pandemic relief and other programs, which bolstered personal
income in fiscal year 2020-21, accounted for the relatively weak personal income growth in the State
(4.7%) and nationally (2.8%) in fiscal year 2021-22.

Personal income is expected to grow slightly faster than average over the next two fiscal years. While the
cooling labor market is expected to slow wage growth in fiscal year 2022-23 relative to the extraordinary
growth in fiscal year 2021-22, projections show NC will maintain solid wage increases during the forecast
period and continue to outpace the nation. State personal income growth is expected to remain steady in
fiscal year 2022-23, roughly matching US growth, before slowing in fiscal year 2023-24.

After posting impressive gains last fiscal year, retail sales in the State and the US remained robust as
consumers spent down the savings accumulated during the pandemic. However, unlike the previous fiscal
year, much of this growth was price-driven. Over the next two fiscal years, rising prices are expected to
dampen demand as consumers deplete surplus savings and gradually revert to typical pre-pandemic
spending patterns. In addition, this forecast predicts continued inflation will erode nominal retail sales
gains, flattening real growth during the forecast period.

Mortgage rates skyrocketed to 5.7 percent by the end of the fiscal year after remaining below 3 percent
for most of fiscal year 2020-21. House prices in North Carolina surged over the last two fiscal years,
increasing 44 percent since the end of fiscal year 2019-20. This dramatic increase was more than twice
the growth rate of prices in the US housing market over the same two-year period. Despite rising rates,
North Carolina house prices increased by over 25 percent during the fiscal year. Mortgage rates are
expected to remain high as the Federal Reserve continues to tighten monetary policy, weakening demand
and leading to declines in prices over the next two years.

Emma Turner, PhD, Chief Economist
NC General Assembly Fiscal Research Division
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Long-Term Financial Planning and Major Initiatives

The North Carolina Retirement System administers four major retirement systems and several smaller
systems and pension funds. The largest of the major retirement systems is the Teachers’ and State
Employees’ Retirement System (TSERS).

Funding the Retirement Systems is a shared responsibility among employees, employers, and the
Department of State Treasurer through investment earnings. Effective July 1, 2021, the State established
an employer contribution rate of 16.38% of compensation for TSERS. This rate is the rate recommended
by the TSERS Board of Trustees using the Employer Contribution Rate Stabilization Policy (ECRSP).

The ECRSP was established in 2016 as a mechanism for the Board of Trustees to use for making
recommendations to the General Assembly for employer contribution rates for TSERS. A new version of
ECRSP was adopted in April 2021 extending the essential provisions of ECRSP and adding clarifications.
This policy establishes a procedure for determining the employer contribution rates for TSERS that the
TSERS Board of Trustees will recommend to the General Assembly for fiscal years ending through June
30, 2027.

With the ECRSP, the Board will recommend to the General Assembly an employer contribution rate that
is no less than 0.35% of payroll greater than the appropriated contribution (ADC) rate from the prior fiscal
year, within the following bounds: 1) contributions may not be less than the ADC rate prior to applying
the ECRSP; and 2) the 0.35% increase may not cause contributions greater than the ADC determined
using the assumptions adopted but using a discount rate equal to the yield on 30-year United States
Treasury securities as of the valuation date.

Legislation passed during the 2017 Legislative Session will close the Retiree Health Benefit Trust.
Members hired on or after January 1, 2021, are not eligible to receive retiree medical benefits. Under this
legislation, retirees must have earned contributory retirement service in a state retirement system prior to
January 1, 2021, and must not have withdrawn from service, to be eligible for retiree medical benefits.

Session Law 2018-30 created the Unfunded Liability Solvency Reserve (Solvency Reserve) within the
State’s General Fund. The purpose is to accumulate funds during each fiscal year to be used in the
following fiscal year to reduce the unfunded liabilities associated with TSERS and the Retiree Health
Benefit Fund (RHBF). The Solvency Reserve will receive funds specifically designated by the General
Assembly. To the extent the Savings Reserve has reached its statutory maximum, the Solvency Reserve
will receive amounts with respect to the revenue growth transfer and debt refinancing savings that
otherwise would have gone to the Savings Reserve. TSERS and RHBF will receive an annual share of
the Solvency Reserve’s balance, if any, in proportion to each plan’s unfunded liability. During the last
fiscal year the Solvency Reserve received its first direct appropriations from the General Fund. Forty
million dollars was appropriated in fiscal year 2022 and $10 million in fiscal year 2023. Two million
dollars was transferred to TSERS and $8.4 million was transferred to RHBF from the Solvency Reserve
in fiscal year 2022.

The North Carolina General Assembly allocated funds during the 2017-2019 biennium to continue to
develop a fully consolidated statewide Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) solution. To date, the State
has implemented Release One, the replacement of the Cash Management Control System (CMCS), on
April 5,2021, and Release Two, implementation of new Oracle SmartView tools for compiling the State’s
ACFR, on July 28, 2021. Through fiscal year ended June 2021, project spending has amounted to
approximately $46 million out of the $90 million appropriated. The project team has completed about
90% of the development phase and is preparing to move into System Integration and User Acceptance
testing for Release Three, the replacement of the North Carolina Accounting System (NCAS), scheduled
to go-live October 2023.

13



State of North Carolina June 30, 2022

Savings Reserve

State Capital and
Infrastructure Fund

Connect NC Bond
Act Amendment

Relevant Financial Policies

Session Law 2017-5 amended General Statute 143C-4-2 creating the Savings Reserve in the General
Fund. The Reserve is a component of the unappropriated General Fund balance. Funds in the Savings
Reserve shall be available for expenditure in an aggregate amount that does not exceed seven and one-
half percent (7.5%) of the prior fiscal year’s General Fund operating budget appropriations, excluding
departmental receipts, upon appropriation by a majority vote of the membership of the Senate and the
House of Representatives present and voting for the following purposes: 1) to cover a decline in General
Fund tax revenue from one fiscal year to another, 2) to cover the difference between that fiscal year’s
General Fund operating budget appropriations, excluding receipts and projected revenue, 3) to pay costs
imposed by a court or administrative order, or 4) to provide relief and assistance from the effects of an
emergency. The General Assembly recognizes the need to establish and maintain sufficient reserves to
address unanticipated events and circumstances such as natural disasters, economic downturns, threats to
public safety, health, and welfare, and other emergencies.

Each year the Office of State Budget and Management along with the Fiscal Research Division of the
General Assembly shall jointly determine the adequacy of the Savings Reserve, based on the volatility of
the State’s tax structure and determine a target for the Savings Reserve, so as to be sufficient to cover two
years of need for nine out of ten scenarios involving a decline in General Fund revenue from one fiscal
year to the next. In 2022, the Office of State Budget and Management along with the Fiscal Research
Division of the General Assembly recommended a target of 11.2% of the prior fiscal year’s General Fund
operating budget appropriations. At June 30, 2022, the Savings Reserve was $3.116 billion, which
represents 12.72% of the prior year’s General Fund appropriation budget.

At the beginning of fiscal year 2021-22, the balance of the Savings Reserve Account was $1.982 billion.
Session Law 2021-180 authorized the transfer of $1.134 billion from the Unreserved Fund Balance to the
Savings Reserve leaving a balance in the Savings Reserve at fiscal year-end of $3.116 billion.

The 2017 General Assembly established the State Capital and Infrastructure Fund (SCIF), effective July
1,2019. This replaces the Repairs and Renovations Reserve Account. The General Assembly recognized
the need to establish and maintain a sufficient funding source to address the ongoing capital and
infrastructure needs of the State. The Fund shall consist of 1) one-fourth of any unreserved fund balance,
as determined on a cash basis, remaining in the General Fund at the end of the fiscal year; 2) four percent
of the net State tax revenues that are deposited in the General Fund during the fiscal year; 3) all monies
appropriated by the General Assembly for the purposes of capital improvements; 4) all interest and
investment earnings received on monies in the Fund; and 5) any other funds as directed by the General
Assembly.

Session Law 2021-180 appropriated $3.66 billion to the SCIF fund in fiscal year 2021-22, with an
additional planned appropriation of $2.40 billion for fiscal year 2022-23. Session Law 2022-74 increased
the appropriation for fiscal year 2022-23 to $3.18 billion. For fiscal year 2021-22, all but $12.5 million
was appropriated to support General Fund debt service, state agency and university capital projects,
community college projects, grants in aid to local governments, and grants in aid to non-profits. Session
Law 2022-74 appropriated all but $500.9 million of funds from the SCIF and appropriated funds largely
for the same purposes. Session Law 2022-74 changed the General Fund statutory contribution to the
SCIF from four percent of General Fund revenue to a set amount each year from fiscal year 2023-24 to
fiscal year 2025-26. The contribution will grow by 3.5% each year after fiscal year 2025-26.

Session Law 2021-180 modified the Connect NC Bond Act (S.L. 2015-280) to limit the aggregate
principal to be issued to $1.6 billion (the amount previously issued). The remaining funds needed to
complete projects under the Connect NC Bond Act ($400 million) will be provided by an appropriation
and available premium funds from earlier issues.
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The Jobs Development Investment Grant (JDIG Program) is a performance-based economic development
incentive program that provides annual grant disbursements for a period of up to twelve years, to new
and expanding businesses based on a percentage of withholding taxes paid by new employees during each
calendar year of the grant. In adopting the JDIG Program in the 2001-2002 Session, the General Assembly
intended “to stimulate economic activity and to create new jobs for the citizens of the State by
encouraging and promoting the expansion of existing business and industry within the State and by
recruiting and attracting new business and industry to the State.” The long-term benefits to the state of
North Carolina generated by the fiscal year 2021-22 grant payments include 1) the creation of 20,180
jobs, 2) capital investment of $3.15 billion, and 3) $9.16 million contributed to the Utility Fund for
infrastructure grants to rural counties.

Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, the Economic Investment Committee offered Compliance Relief for IDIG
recipients. Grantees could request all obligations associated with the grant carried forward one year and/or
request that Project Employees working from home-office locations within North Carolina be considered
employed at the Project Facility with respect to grant years 2020 and 2021. There were 37 grantees that
requested the carryforward, 40 requested both carry forward and home office locations and 25 requested
office locations.

The 2020 COVID-19 Recovery Act (Act) (Session Law 2020-4) authorized the Office of the State
Controller to establish the Coronavirus Relief Reserve in the General Fund to maintain funds received
from the federal government through the Coronavirus Relief Fund created under the CARES Act, P.L.
116-136, to mitigate the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak in North Carolina. Additionally, the Act
established the Coronavirus Relief Fund to provide necessary and appropriate relief and assistance from
the effects of COVID-19. The special fund is administered by the Office of State Budget and
Management. Subsequent legislation (Session Law 2020-32, Session Law 2020-53, and Session Law
2020-80) authorized additional spending of the Coronavirus Relief funds received from the CARES Act.
The State of North Carolina received $3.59 billion directly from the federal government from the CARES
Act in fiscal year 2020. By December 31, 2021 $3.59 billion had been spent on COVID-19 relief.

In addition, in response to the Coronavirus pandemic, Session Law 2021-25 was signed into law on May
24,2021. This bill created the State Fiscal Recovery Reserve and State Fiscal Recovery Fund (SFRF) to
manage federal funds received from the federal government under the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA)
of 2021, P.L.117-2. North Carolina received $5.4 billion in federal funds from ARPA for the SFRF. At
June 30, 2022, $1.23 billion had been spent on COVID-19 relief and $4.21 billion was reported as
unearned revenue.

The 2004 General Assembly passed legislation creating the Debt Affordability Advisory Committee. The
Committee is charged, on an annual basis, with advising the Governor and the General Assembly of the
estimated debt capacity of the State for the upcoming ten fiscal years. The Committee is also required to
recommend other debt management policies consistent with sound management of the State’s debt. The
Committee is responsible for preparing an annual debt affordability study and establishing guidelines for
evaluating the State’s debt burden. The Committee is required to report its findings and recommendations
to the Governor, the General Assembly, and the Fiscal Research Division of the General Assembly by
February 1 of each year.

The Committee has adopted the ratio of debt service as a percentage of revenues as the controlling metric
that determines the State’s debt capacity. The 2022 study indicated over the ten-year planning horizon
the State’s revenue projections show a positive growth trend not excessively impacted from earlier
declines in economic activity caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. The study found that the State’s
General Fund has debt capacity of $1.416 billion in each of the next ten years after incorporating the
Committee’s policy that directs resources to the Unfunded Liability Solvency Reserve to begin addressing
the unfunded pension and OPEB liabilities. The ratio of debt service to revenues was projected to peak
at 2.4% in fiscal year 2022. This rate is below the 4% target.

The following target and ceiling guidelines are the basis for calculating the recommended amount of
General Fund-supported debt the State could prudently authorize and issue over the next ten years:
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1. Net Tax-Supported Debt service after a continuing appropriation of $100 million to the Solvency
Fund as a percentage of General Tax Revenues should be targeted at no more than 4% and not to
exceed 4.75%;

2. Net Tax-Supported Debt as a percentage of personal income should be targeted at no more than
2.5% and not exceed 3%; and

3. The amount of debt to be retired over the next ten years should be targeted at no less than 55%
and not decline below 50%.

North Carolina’s debt is considered manageable at current levels when compared with its peer group
composed of twelve other states rated “triple-A.”

Awards and Acknowledgements

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the State of North Carolina for its
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. This was the
28™ consecutive year (1994 to 2021) the State has received the prestigious national award recognizing
conformance with the highest standards for preparation of state and local government financial reports.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe our current report
continues to conform to the Certificate of Achievement program requirements, and we are submitting it
to the GFOA.

In conclusion, we believe this report provides useful data to all parties using it in evaluating the financial
activity of the State of North Carolina. We in the Office of the State Controller express our gratitude to
all the financial officers throughout the State and to the Office of the State Auditor for their dedicated
efforts in assisting us in the preparation of this report. Any questions concerning the information
contained in this report should be directed to the Office of the State Controller at (919) 707-0500.

Respectfully submitted,

Yeke €. Rsdla@

Nels C. Roseland
State Controller
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STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA

Office of the State Auditor

2 S. Salisbury Street
20601 Mail Service Center
Raleigh, NC 27699
Telephone: (919)807-7500
Fax: (919)807-7647
www.auditor.nc.gov

State Auditor

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The Honorable Roy Cooper, Govemor
The General Assembly of North Carolina
Raleigh, North Carolina

Reporton the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinions

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information of the State of North Carolina, as of and for the year
ended June 30, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the State of North Carolina’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of
contents.

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of the other auditors, the accompanying
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of
the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented
component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the State
of North Carolina, as of June 30, 2022, and the respective changes in financial position and,
where applicable, cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

We did not audit the financial statements of the following:
. The North Carolina Education Lottery, a major enterprise fund, which represent 2 percent

and 70 percent, respectively, of the assets and revenues of the business-type activities.

. The North Carolina Turnpike Authority, a major enterprise fund, which represent
31 percent and 2 percent, respectively, of the assets and revenues of the business-type
activities.

«  The North Carolina Housing Finance Agency, which represent 5 percentand 1 percent,
respectively, of the assets and revenues of the aggregate discretely presented
component units.
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. The North Carolina State Education Assistance Authority, which represent 9 percentand
1 percent, respectively, of the assets and revenues of the aggregate discretely presented
component units.

« The Golden L.E.A.F. (Long-term Economic Advancement Foundation), Inc., which
represent 2 percent of the assets of the aggregate discretely presented component units.

«  The University of North Carolina System - University of North Carolina Health Care
System - Rex Healthcare, Inc., which represent 4 percent and 6 percent, respectively,
of the assets and revenues of the aggregate discretely presented component units.

« The Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina, which represent
10 percent and 24 percent, respectively, of the assets and revenues of the aggregate
remaining fund information.

. The North Carolina Public Employee Deferred Compensation Plan, which represent
1 percent and 3 percent, respectively, of the assets and revenues of the aggregate
remaining fund information.

. The North Carolina Department of State Treasurer Investment Programs, which represent
28 percent of the assets of the governmental activities; 13 percent of the assets of the
business-type activities; 7 percent of the assets of the aggregate discretely presented
component units; and 87 percent of the assets of the aggregate remaining fund
information.

These financial statements were audited by other auditors whose reports thereon have been
furnished to us, and our opinions, insofar as they relate to the amounts, are based solely on
the reports of the other auditors.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our auditin accordance with auditing standardsgenerally accepted in the United
States of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards (GAGAS), issued by the Comptroller General of the United
States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required
to be independent of the State of North Carolina and to meet our other ethical responsibilities,
in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

The State of North Carolina’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, managementis required to evaluate whether there are
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubtabout the State
of North Carolina’s ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the
financial statement date, including any currently known information that may raise substantial
doubt shortly thereafter.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance
but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with GAAS and GAGAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material
if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and GAGAS, we:

Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit.

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the State of North Carolina’s internal
control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the State of North Carolina’s ability to
continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain
internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit.
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Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis and other required supplementary information, as
listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basicfinancial statements. Such
information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to
be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We and other auditors have applied
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of
inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion
or provide any assurance.

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the State of North Carolina’s basic financial statements. The combining
fund financial statements and schedules are presented for purposes of additional analysis and
are not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The combining fund financial statements and schedules are the responsibility of management
and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used
to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining
fund financial statements and schedules are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to
the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other
information comprises the introductory section and the statistical section but does not include
the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinions on the financial
statements do not cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form
ofassurance thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between
the other information and the financial statements, or other information otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected
material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required to describe it in our
report.
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we will also issue our report dated
December 5, 2022, on our consideration of the State of North Carolina’s internal control over
financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is
to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial
reporting or on compliance. That reportis an integral part of an audit performed in accordance
with Government Auditing Standards in considering the State of North Carolina’s internal
control over financial reporting and compliance. The report on internal control over financial
reporting and on compliance and other matters will be published at a later date in the State of
North Carolina’s Single Audit Report.

o Ao # wiand

Beth A. Wood, CPA
State Auditor

Raleigh, North Carolina

December 5, 2022
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (MD&A)

The following is a narrative overview and analysis of the State of North Carolina’s (the State) financial performance for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2022. Please read it in conjunction with the transmittal letter at the front of this report and with the State's
financial statements, which follow this section.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Government-wide Financial Statements

— The State’s total net position increased by $11.33 billion or 17.05% as a result of this year’s operations. Net position of
governmental activities increased by $10.68 billion (17.58%) and net position of business-type activities increased by
$652 million (or 11.4%). At year-end, net position of governmental activities and business-type activities totaled $71.4
billion and $6.37 billion, respectively.

—  Component units reported net position of $23.55 billion, an increase of $2.21 billion or 10.35% from the previous year.
The majority of the net position is attributable to the University of North Carolina System, a major component unit.

Fund Financial Statements

—  The fund balance of the General Fund increased from $11.96 billion at June 30, 2021 (as restated) to $18.43 billion at
June 30, 2022, an increase of 54.06%.

—  The fund balance of the Highway Fund increased from $692.83 million at June 30, 2021 to $1.25 billion at June 30, 2022,
an increase of $555.62 million from the previous year. This increase was mainly due to the issuance of GARVEE bonds
and increase in transfers in.

—  The Highway Trust Fund reported a fund balance of $1.63 billion, a decrease of 11.48% from the previous year. The fund
balance decrease is attributable to the overall increase in capital outlay expenditures outpacing the increase in revenues.

—  The Unemployment Compensation Fund reported net position of $3.79 billion at June 30, 2022 compared to $3.18 billion
at June 30, 2021, an increase of $616.35 million or 19.39%. The increase in net position is due almost entirely to various
fluctuations created by impacts from the Coronavirus pandemic, including the continued decreasing unemployment rates
since the last quarter of the 2019-20 fiscal year.

— The N.C. State Lottery Fund reported net ticket sales of $3.89 billion, an increase of 2.15% from the previous year. As
required by law, the Lottery transferred $929.8 million to the General Fund to support educational programs.

—  The N.C. Turnpike Authority (NCTA) reported net position of $260.63 million, a decrease of 7.75% from the previous
year. The NCTA had an operating loss of $1.19 million, which represents a decrease in operating loss of $43.88 million
from the prior year due to an increase of $50.09 million in operating revenues. The NCTA also had a $4.39 million
decrease in nonoperating expenses due to a $15.04 million increase in investment earnings related to a global adjustment
and a $10.68 million increase in interest and fees related to interest paid on NCTA’s bond debt during the fiscal year.

— The EPA Revolving Loan Fund reported net position of $2.06 billion, an increase of 2.2% from the previous year.
Operating income was $9.86 million, and net nonoperating revenues of $20.45 million consisted primarily of federal
capitalization grants.

Capital Assets
— The State’s investment in capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation) was $65.83 billion, an increase of 5.29% from
the previous fiscal year-end.
— Significant year-end construction in progress amounts were for state highway projects ($2.76 billion), an expressway
project ($611.89 million), a new system for managing and administering social service benefits ($749.45 million), and a
new skilled nursing facility for state veterans ($45.03 million).

Long-term Debt
— The State had total long-term debt outstanding (bonds, special indebtedness, and notes from direct borrowings) of $8.24
billion, a decrease of 1.99% from the previous fiscal year-end. The Highway Trust Fund issued $300 million in special
indebtedness limited obligation bonds for regional and divisional transportation projects.
— In connection with the limited obligation bonds, all three rating agencies affirmed the triple-A credit rating for the State.
The rating agencies recognized the State’s historically conservative budgeting, financial management, and debt issuance
practices. North Carolina remains one of only 13 states with a triple-A rating from all three rating agencies.
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OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is an introduction to the State’s basic financial statements, which comprise three components: 1)
government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains
additional required supplementary information (pension and other postemployment benefits trend information and General Fund
budgetary schedule) and other supplementary information (combining financial statements) in addition to the basic financial
statements. These components are described below.

Government-wide Financial Statements

The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities are two financial statements that report information about the State,
as a whole, and about its activities that should help answer this question: Is the State, as a whole, better off or worse off as a result
of this year’s activities? These statements include all non-fiduciary assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred
inflows of resources using the accrual basis of accounting. The current year’s revenues and expenses are taken into account
regardless of when cash is received or paid. The Statement of Net Position (pages 54 and 55) presents all of the State’s assets,
deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources, with the sum of these components reported as “net
position.” Over time, increases and decreases in net position measure whether the State’s financial position is improving or
deteriorating.

The Statement of Activities (pages 56 and 57) presents information showing how the State’s net position changed during the most
recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying events giving rise to the change occur, regardless
of the timing of related cash flows. Therefore, revenues and expenses are reported in these statements for some items that will only
result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g. uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave).

In the government-wide financial statements, the State’s activities are divided into three categories:

—  Governmental Activities — Most of the State’s basic services are reported under this category. Taxes and intergovernmental
revenues generally fund these services.

—  Business-type Activities — The State charges fees to customers to help it cover all or most of the cost of certain services it
provides. The State’s Unemployment Compensation Fund, the EPA Revolving Loan Fund, the N.C. State Lottery Fund, and
the N.C. Turnpike Authority are the predominant business-type activities.

—  Discretely Presented Component Units — Component units are legally separate organizations for which the elected officials of
the primary government are financially accountable. A description of the component units and an address for obtaining their
separately issued financial statements can be found beginning on page 80. Discretely presented component units are combined
and displayed in a separate discrete column in the government-wide financial statements to emphasize their legal separateness
from the State. In addition, financial statements for major component units are presented in the notes to the financial statements
(pages 184 and 185).

Fund Financial Statements

The fund financial statements provide more detailed information about the State’s most significant funds (i.e., major funds) — not
the State as a whole. A fund is a fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts that the State uses to keep track
of specific sources of funding and spending for particular purposes. In addition to the major funds, page 258 begins the individual
fund data for the nonmajor funds. The State's funds are divided into three categories (governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary) and
they use different accounting approaches.

Governmental funds — Most of the State's basic services are reported in the governmental funds, which focus on how cash and other
financial assets that can readily be converted to cash flow in and out (i.e., inflows and outflows of spendable resources) and the
balances left at year-end that are available for spending (i.e., balances of spendable resources). Consequently, the governmental fund
financial statements provide a detailed short-term view that helps users determine whether there are more or fewer financial
resources that can be spent in the near future to finance the State's programs. The State prepares the governmental fund financial
statements using the modified accrual basis of accounting and a current financial resources measurement focus. Because this
information does not encompass the additional long-term focus of the government-wide statements, a reconciliation schedule, which
follows each of the governmental fund financial statements, explains the relationships (or differences) between them. Information
is presented separately in the governmental fund financial statements for the General Fund, the Highway Fund, and the Highway
Trust Fund, all of which are considered to be major funds. Data for all other governmental funds are combined into a single
aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of these nonmajor governmental funds is provided in the form of combining
statements elsewhere in this report.

Proprietary funds — When the State charges customers for the services it provides, whether to outside customers or to agencies
within the State, these services are generally reported in proprietary funds. Proprietary funds (enterprise and internal service) utilize
accrual accounting, which is the same method used by private sector businesses. Enterprise funds are used to report activities for
which fees are charged to external users for goods and services. The Unemployment Compensation Fund, the EPA Revolving Loan
Fund, the N.C. State Lottery Fund, and the N.C. Turnpike Authority are the State’s most significant enterprise funds. Internal service
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funds are used to report activities that provide goods and services to the State’s other programs and activities on a cost-
reimbursement basis, such as the State Property Fire Insurance Fund, the Motor Fleet Management Fund, Computing Services Fund,
and the State Telecommunications Services Fund. Because the State’s internal service funds predominantly benefit governmental
rather than business-type functions, they have been included within governmental activities in the government-wide financial
statements.

Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only in more detail.
Information is presented separately in the proprietary fund financial statements for the Unemployment Compensation Fund, the EPA
Revolving Loan Fund, the N.C. State Lottery Fund, and the N.C. Turnpike Authority, all of which are considered to be major funds.
Conversely, separately aggregated columns are presented for the nonmajor enterprise funds and the internal service funds.
Individual fund data for the nonmajor enterprise funds and internal service funds is provided in the form of combining statements
elsewhere in this report.

Fiduciary funds — Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the government. Fiduciary
funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the resources of those funds are not available to support
the State’s own programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. The State's fiduciary
activities are reported in separate Statements of Fiduciary Net Position and Changes in Fiduciary Net Position. These funds include
pension and other employee benefit trust funds, private-purpose trust funds, and custodial funds.

Notes to the Financial Statements
The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and
fund financial statements. The notes to the financial statements can be found beginning on page 78 of this report.

Required Supplementary Information

Required Supplementary Information (RSI) follows the basic financial statements and notes to the financial statements. The RSI is
mandated by the GASB and includes: 1) pension plan and employer trend information related to the net pension liability, employer
contributions, and investment returns, 2) information related to the total pension liability for pension plans not administered through
a trust, 3) other postemployment benefits (OPEB) trend information related to the net OPEB liability, employer contributions, and
investment returns, and 4) General Fund budgetary comparison schedules reconciling the statutory to the generally accepted
accounting principles fund balances at fiscal year-end.

Other Supplementary Information

Other supplementary information includes the introductory section; combining financial statements for nonmajor governmental
funds, nonmajor enterprise funds, internal service funds, fiduciary funds, and nonmajor discretely presented component units; a
statement of cash flows for the State Health Plan, a major component unit, which does not issue separate financial statements; and
the statistical section.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE STATE AS A WHOLE

Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the State is
improving or deteriorating. The State’s assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources by $77.77 billion at the close of the most recent fiscal year (see total primary government column). The following table
was derived from the government-wide Statement of Net Position:

Net Position as of June 30, 2022 and 2021
(dollars in thousands)

Governmental Business-type Total Primary Total
Activities Activities Government Percentage
2021 2021 2021 Change
2022 (as restated) 2022 (as restated) 2022 (as restated) 2021-22
Current and other non-
current assets $35,824,347 $26,898,167  $7,621,107 $ 6,827,847 $43,445,454 $33,726,014 28.82%
Capital assets, net 63,154,087 60,079,073 2,676,466 2,442,217 65,830,553 62,521,290 5.29%
Total assets 98,978,434 86,977,240 10,297,573 9,270,064 109,276,007 96,247,304 13.54%
Total deferred outflows
of resources 3,276,214 2,544,873 73,654 65,713 3,349,868 2,610,586 28.32%
Long-term liabilities 16,521,036 17,382,305 2,865,871 2,955,033 19,386,907 20,337,338 (4.67%)
Other liabilities 11,057,695 8,875,772 1,059,934 599,031 12,117,629 9,474,803 27.89%
Total liabilities 27,578,731 26,258,077 3,925,805 3,554,064 31,504,536 29,812,141 5.68%
Total deferred inflows
of resources 3,280,430 2,544,454 73,968 62,174 3,354,398 2,606,628 28.69%
Net position:
Net investment in
capital assets 59,631,130 56,843,205 493,653 515,390 60,124,783 57,358,595 4.82%
Restricted 2,014,178 1,868,783 204,494 255,800 2,218,672 2,124,583 4.43%
Unrestricted 9,750,179 2,007,594 5,673,307 4,948,349 15,423,486 6,955,943 121.73%
Total net position $71,395,487 $60,719,582  $6,371,454 $ 5,719,539 $77,766,941 $66,439,121 17.05%

The largest component of the State’s net position (77.31% for fiscal year 2022) reflects its investment in capital assets (land,
buildings, machinery and equipment, state highway system, toll road system, and other capital assets), less related debt still
outstanding that was used to acquire or construct those assets. An additional portion of net position represents restricted net position
($2.22 billion). Net position is restricted when constraints placed on its use is either 1) externally imposed by creditors, grantors,
contributors or laws or regulations of other governments or, 2) legally imposed through constitutional provisions. The remaining
portion, unrestricted net position, consists of net position that does not meet the definition of “net investment in capital assets” or
“restricted.”

The government-wide statement of net position for governmental activities reflects unrestricted net position of $9.75 billion at June
30, 2022, an increase of $7.74 billion from the prior year. The strong financial results for fiscal year 2022 (i.e., the excess of
revenues over expenses of $9.81 billion) contributed to the increase in unrestricted net position. The State also had an increase of
cash in fiscal year 2022 of $7.61 billion (39.92% increase). The increase in cash is attributable to the receipt of $1.66 billion in
funds from the State Capital Infrastructure Fund (SCIF) as well as increased tax collections revenue for the fiscal year. The State
of North Carolina, like many other state and local governments, issues general obligation debt and special indebtedness and
distributes the proceeds to state agencies, local governments, and component units. The proceeds are used to construct new buildings
and renovate and modernize existing buildings throughout the State, including the State’s community college and university
campuses, assist county governments in meeting their public school building capital needs, and to provide grants and loans to local
governments for clean water and natural gas projects. Of the $6.31 billion of bonds and special indebtedness outstanding for
governmental activities at June 30, 2022, approximately $2.74 billion is attributable to debt issued as state aid to component units
and local governments. The statements of net position of component unit and local government recipients reflect ownership of the
related constructed capital assets without the burden of recording the debt obligation. However, by issuing such debt, the State is
left to reflect significant liabilities on its statement of net position (reflected in the unrestricted net position component) without the
benefit of recording the capital assets constructed or acquired with the proceeds from the debt issuances.

Additionally, as of June 30, 2022, the State’s governmental activities have significant unfunded liabilities for compensated absences
of $586 million, pension liabilities of $1.49 billion, net OPEB liabilities of $6.31 billion, workers’ compensation of $638.54 million,
and claims and judgments payable of $731.7 million (see Note 8 to the financial statements).
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The State’s overall net position increased $11.33 billion or 17.05% (total primary government) from the prior fiscal year. The net
position of the governmental activities increased $10.68 billion or 17.58% and business-type activities increased $651.92 million
or 11.4%. The following financial information was derived from the government-wide Statement of Activities:

Changes in Net Position for the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2022 and 2021
(dollars in thousands)

Governmental Business-type Total Primary Total
Activities Activities Government Percentage
2021 2021 2021 Change
2022 (as restated) 2022 (as restated) 2022 (as restated) 2021-22
Revenues:
Program revenues
Charges for services $3,110,489 $2,949,224 $4,891,624 $4,658,265 $8,002,113 $7,607,489 5.19%
Operating grants and contributions 30,859,243 23,540,962 695,299 6,907,326 31,554,542 30,448,288 3.63%
Capital grants and contributions 1,149,590 1,281,167 248 21,393 1,149,838 1,302,560 (11.72%)
General revenues
Taxes:
Individual income tax 17,845,868 15,368,872 — — 17,845,868 15,368,872 16.12%
Corporate income tax 1,624,384 1,327,813 — — 1,624,384 1,327,813 22.34%
Sales and use tax 11,029,810 9,826,411 — — 11,029,810 9,826,411 12.25%
Motor fuels tax 2,227,883 2,067,262 — — 2,227,883 2,067,262 7.77%
Franchise tax 879,789 882,332 — — 879,789 882,332 (0.29%)
Highway use tax 1,137,060 1,003,310 — — 1,137,060 1,003,310 13.33%
Insurance tax 1,000,680 722,958 — — 1,000,680 722,958 38.41%
Beverage tax 559,195 533,088 — — 559,195 533,088 4.90%
Tobacco products tax 296,416 303,060 — — 296,416 303,060 (2.19%)
Other taxes 372,624 334913 — — 372,624 334913 11.26%
Tobacco settlement 171,849 167,417 — — 171,849 167,417 2.65%
Federal COVID-19 1,525,132 3,117,857 — — 1,525,132 3,117,857 (51.08%)
Unrestricted investment earnings 60,506 15,662 — — 60,506 15,662 286.32%
Noncapital contributions 38,147 91,696 517 1,309 38,664 93,005 (58.43%)
Miscellaneous 67,754 102,661 1,318 — 69,072 102,661 (32.72%)
Total revenues 73,956,419 63,636,665 5,589,006 11,588,293 79,545,425 75,224,958 5.74%
Expenses:
General government 3,033,443 2,500,096 — — 3,033,443 2,500,096 21.33%
Primary and secondary education 15,459,082 12,936,328 — — 15,459,082 12,936,328 19.50%
Higher education 5,473,516 5,142,660 — — 5,473,516 5,142,660 6.43%
Health and human services 30,645,511 25,629,768 — — 30,645,511 25,629,768 19.57%
Economic development 435,295 664,528 — — 435,295 664,528 (34.50%)
Environment and natural resources 816,601 821,398 — — 816,601 821,398 (0.58%)
Public safety, corrections and
regulation 4,777,868 4,536,568 — — 4,777,868 4,536,568 5.32%
Transportation 3,079,409 2,793,445 — — 3,079,409 2,793,445 10.24%
Agriculture 249,195 286,217 — — 249,195 286,217 (12.93%)
Interest on long-term debt 173,241 170,435 — — 173,241 170,435 1.65%
Unemployment compensation — — 672,550 7,317,289 672,550 7,317,289 (90.81%)
N.C. State Lottery — — 2,960,246 2,875,899 2,960,246 2,875,899 2.93%
EPA Revolving Loan — — 37,447 17,458 37,447 17,458 114.50%
N.C. Turnpike Authority — — 210,152 193,813 210,152 193,813 8.43%
Regulatory programs — — 139,202 130,118 139,202 130,118 6.98%
Insurance programs — — 37,099 35,153 37,099 35,153 5.54%
North Carolina State Fair — — 12,657 7,086 12,657 7,086 78.62%
Other business-type activities — — 14,696 12,780 14,696 12,780 14.99%
Total expenses 64,143,161 55,481,443 4,084,049 10,589,596 68,227,210 66,071,039 3.26%
Increase in net position
before contributions and transfers 9,813,258 8,155,222 1,504,957 998,697 11,318,215 9,153,919 23.64%
Contributions to permanent funds 9,605 7,472 — — 9,605 7,472 28.55%
Transfers 853,042 833,513 (853,042) (833,513) — —
Increase (decrease) in net position 10,675,905 8,996,207 651,915 165,184 11,327,820 9,161,391 23.65%
Net position - beginning - restated 60,719,582 51,723,375 5,719,539 5,554,355 66,439,121 57,277,730 15.99%
Net position - ending $71,395,487 $60,719,582 $6,371,454 $5,719,539  $77,766,941  $66,439,121 17.05%
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Governmental Activities. For fiscal year 2022, revenues outpaced expenses and when combined with contributions to permanent
funds and transfers from the State’s business-type activities, an increase in net position of $10.68 billion (17.58%) resulted for
governmental activities. Total revenues increased by 16.22% ($10.32 billion) while total expenses increased by 15.61% ($8.66
billion). The growth in revenues is mainly attributable to the increase in operating grants and contributions, taxes, and other
revenues. Operating grants and contributions increased by $7.32 billion or 31.09% due to higher spending in federally supported
programs, such as Medicaid, Title IV-E Foster Care and Adoption Assistance programs, Rental Emergency and Homeowner
assistance programs, and the Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief fund (ESSER fund) as well as increases in federal
COVID-19 relief funds (see below). Individual, corporate, and sales and use taxes increased $3.98 billion primarily due to continued
economic recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic. The increase in other revenues is also attributable to increases in federal COVID-
19 relief funds (see below).

In fiscal year 2020, the U.S. Congress enacted a series of laws, including the Families First Coronavirus Response Act (FFCRA)
and the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act; these laws were a direct response to the economic and
societal crises resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. One purpose of the FFCRA was to provide a 6.2 percentage point increase
to the Federal Medical Assistance Percentage (FMAP) for Medicaid, extending broad fiscal relief to states since Medicaid is a
countercyclical program. The CARES Act provided widespread assistance to individuals, corporations, and state and local
governments. Funding to the State from the CARES Act was allocated directly through the federal Coronavirus Relief Funds (CRF),
new initiative programs and new grants. In response to the CARES Act and requirements set forth for the State’s CRF, the N.C.
General Assembly passed spending bills that allocated the federal CRF monies to areas impacted by the pandemic. They also
established the North Carolina Pandemic Recovery Office (NCPRO) to oversee and coordinate the funds made available under
COVID-19 Recovery Legislation. The deadline for expending CRF was December 31, 2021.

In March 2021, the United States Congress enacted the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) and established the Coronavirus State
and Local Fiscal Recovery Fund. These funds were allocated to each state, local government, and tribal government individually.
As of June 30, 2022, North Carolina had received $5.41 billion of Coronavirus State Fiscal Recovery funds. The State Fiscal
Recovery Funds reduce the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic and decrease the spread of the virus; replace lost revenue for
governments; support economic stabilization caused by the pandemic; and address public health and economic challenges that
contributed to the unequal impact of the pandemic. The Coronavirus State Fiscal Recovery funds must be obligated by December
23, 2024 and expended by July 1, 2026.

For fiscal year 2022, the State’s governmental activities recognized $7.9 billion of federal COVID-19 funds; $6.38 billion is included
in operating grants and contributions (i.e. program revenues) and $1.53 billion is reported as federal COVID-19, which is included
in the other revenues source shown in the table above (i.e. general revenues). This was an increase of $2.3 billion or 41.07%. The
primary factor for the increase is from continued higher federal matching for FMAP of 6.2% (enacted in the FFCRA) for the
Medicaid and Title IV-E Foster Care and Adoption Assistance programs; federal funds for the Elementary and Secondary School
Emergency Relief Fund (ESSER); and federal funds for the Rental Emergency and Homeowners Assistance programs.
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The following chart reflects the dollar change in governmental activities revenues by source between fiscal years 2021 and 2022:

Dollar Change in Governmental Activities Revenues by Source
Between Fiscal Years 2021 and 2022

Charges for services :I $161

Operating grants and contributions $7,318

Capital grants and contributions $(132) [

Individual income tax $2,477

Corporate income tax :I $297

Sales and use tax $1,203

All other taxes $627

Other revenues $(1,632)
|

$(4,000)  $(2,000) $— $2,000 $4,000 $6,000 $8,000

(dollars in millions )

For fiscal year 2022, spending increased in the majority of the State’s functional areas, with an exception in Economic Development.
Economic Development expenses decreased by $229.23 million or 34.5% primarily due to the reduction in emergency-staffed
personnel assisting with unemployment claims, a decrease in contracted services related to COVID-19 relief programs, and an
overall decrease in unemployment claims expenditures due to the expiration of the CARES ACT and COVID relief funds.

Total health and human services (HHS) spending increased by 19.57% or $5.02 billion in 2022. For comparison, HHS spending
increased by 18.68% and 10.36% in fiscal years 2021 and 2020 respectively. The increase in health and human services is primarily
due to the launch of Medicaid managed care on July 1, 2021. Under managed care, the Division of Health Benefits made monthly
capitated payments to Prepaid Health Plans while also paying fee-for-service claims to provide for services performed in the prior
fiscal year. Another factor is the continued growth in the number of Medicaid enrollees and additional temporary COVID rate
increases. Enrollment in Medicaid increased 9.13% during the fiscal year due to an FFCRA requirement that as a condition of
receiving enhanced FMAP, coverage for any beneficiary cannot be dropped or reduced to a lesser benefit during a Public Health
Emergency (PHE). Medicaid is a federal entitlement program, which means individuals found eligible for Medicaid have legal
rights to receive services and cannot be denied coverage by the State. In North Carolina, Medicaid is administered by the State and
counties and financed with federal and state funds. Medicaid serves as the State’s safety net program for eligible individuals who
lose jobs and health insurance coverage. As such, it is sensitive to economic volatility. Because the State receives federal matching
funds for this program, there was also a corresponding increase in operating grants and contributions (i.e. program revenues).

Other significant increases in functional expenses for fiscal year 2022 were to general government and primary and secondary
education. Total expenses increased 21.33% ($533.35 million) for general government and 19.5% ($2.52 billion) for primary and
secondary education. The growth in these functional areas is primarily due to increased spending for COVID-19 aid programs
including general aid distributed to local governments, hospitals, nonprofits, universities, colleges, and other component units of
the State; and increased state aid provided to local education agencies (LEAs) for continued COVID-19 related programs.
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The following chart reflects the dollar change in the functional expenses of governmental activities between fiscal years 2021 and
2022:

Dollar Change in Governmental Activities Functional Expenses
Between Fiscal Years 2021 and 2022
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The following chart depicts the total expenses and total program revenues of the State’s governmental functions. This format
identifies the extent to which each governmental function is self-financing through fees and intergovernmental aid or draws from
the general revenues of the State.

Expenses and Program Revenues - Governmental Activities
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022
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Business-type Activities. Business-type activities reflect an overall increase in net position of $651.92 million or 11.4%, primarily
due to the increase in net position in the Unemployment Compensation Fund. The increase in net position of $616.35 million or
19.39% in the Unemployment Compensation Fund (Trust Fund) is due almost entirely to various fluctuations created by the
Coronavirus pandemic. The Trust Fund had a $6.64 billion decrease in unemployment benefits paid as the economy recovered and
the need for benefits declined. Corresponding to the decrease in unemployment benefits paid, the Trust Fund also had a $6.2 billion
or 90.86% decrease in nonoperating revenues related to a $5.9 billion decrease in federal COVID-19 aid received. The N.C.
Turnpike Authority’s net position decreased by $21.9 million or 7.75% primarily due to reporting nonoperating expenses of $77.83
million offset by $57.02 million in transfers in from the Highway and Highway Trust Funds. Nonoperating expenses included
$101.58 million of interest and fees expense related to debt issued, which was offset by $19.54 million in investment earnings and
$4.02 million in Federal interest subsidy debt revenue. The net position increase of $44.19 million or 2.2% in the EPA Revolving
Loan Fund is due to the Loan Fund continuing to focus on streamlining its processes resulting in more infrastructure projects
completed during the year, using a cash flow model to better predict fund disbursements and revenue, and prioritizing the spending
of funds from the U.S. EPA (federal) capitalization grant for these projects. The N.C. State Lottery Fund’s net position did not
change and will continue to remain constant as a result of legislative changes in the methodology used to calculate net revenues to
be distributed to the State’s governmental activities, as required by statute. A more detailed discussion of the State’s business-type
enterprise activities is provided in the following section (see Enterprise Funds).
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE STATE’S FUNDS
The State uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements.
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

The focus of the State’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable
resources. At June 30, 2022, the State’s governmental funds reported combined fund balances of $24.21 billion, an increase of
38.56% from the prior fiscal year-end (as restated). Of this amount, $7.25 billion is classified as unassigned fund balance in the
General Fund (available for spending at the State’s discretion). The remainder of fund balance is either nonspendable, restricted,
committed, or assigned to indicate that it is: 1) not in spendable form (e.g., inventories), 2) restricted for particular purposes by
external sources, 3) committed for particular purposes by the General Assembly, or 4) assigned for particular purposes by the Office
of State Budget and Management. The major governmental funds are discussed individually below.

General Fund

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the State. At June 30, 2022, the fund balance of the General Fund increased 54.06%
($6.47 billion) to $18.43 billion. General Fund revenues increased by $10.45 billion (18.47%) while expenditures increased by
$9.22 billion (17.68%). The increase in revenues is primarily due to increased tax revenues, federal and federal COVID-19 relief
funds received. For the current fiscal year, the General Fund recognized $7.79 billion in federal COVID-19 relief funds. These
funds derived from two tranches of ARPA Act federal funds, with the first tranche originally received at the end of fiscal year 2021,
then transferred to OSBM during early fiscal year 2022. The second tranche of $4 billion was received during fiscal year 2022.
However, most of these federal funds were not spent at June 30, 2022 and therefore were recognized as unearned revenue. The
increase in expenditures is primarily due to the federal and federal COVID-19 relief funds spent by the various state functions. The
expenditures supported aid programs, adoption services and foster care programs, increased DHHS SNAP caseloads, and increased
contracted and temporary personal services for DHHS Central Admin support related to the COVID-19 pandemic.

One of the major budget drivers for the General Fund, historically, has been the Medicaid program. Medicaid enrollment increased
by 9.13% to 2.69 million individuals (25.22% of North Carolina’s population). For comparison, Medicaid enrollment increased
13.55% and 4.35%, respectively, in fiscal years 2021 and 2020. The enrollment growth was mostly attributable to the FFCRA
requirement that any beneficiary receiving the enhanced FMAP coverage would not be dropped or reduced to a lesser benefit
category during the COVID-19 PHE. State appropriation expenditures for Medicaid increased by $61.3 million or 1.56%. The
Medicaid program ended the fiscal year with unspent state appropriations of $49 million, which were reverted to the General Fund.
This is the ninth consecutive year the Medicaid Program has finished with cash on hand. Prior to fiscal year 2014, the Medicaid
program experienced shortfalls of nearly $2 billion over a four-year period.

North Carolina’s labor market has rebounded since the COVID-19 shutdown in the spring of 2020. The number of payroll jobs in
North Carolina rebounded in the summer of 2020 and has increased steadily since then, according to the Bureau of Labor Statistics.
By June 2022, the unemployment rate had fallen to 3.4% and the number of nonfarm jobs exceeded 4.75 million. These jobs have
consistently exceeded the level in February 2019 since October 2021. In June 2022, there were 155,200 more jobs than in June
2021 and 480,100 more than in June 2020. However, North Carolina’s labor force participation rate has not rebounded. The
national labor force participation rate in February 2020 was estimated to be 61.3%, while the rate was 60.5% in June 2022. North
Carolina’s labor force participation rate is slightly better than the national trend where the labor force participation rate fell from
63.4% to 62.2% during this period.

Total tax revenues in the General Fund increased by $4.35 billion or 14.94% in fiscal year 2022. Individual income tax revenues
increased $2.48 billion or 16.12% and sales and use tax revenues increased $1.2 billion or 12.25% in fiscal year 2022. Corporate
income tax also increased $325.74 million or 24.97% and Insurance tax increased $278.69 million or 38.55% from the prior year.
The Bureau of Economic Analysis reported that North Carolina’s personal income has shown substantial growth during the fiscal
year (4.7%), leading to the individual income tax revenue growth. Federal programs designed to provide relief from the pandemic
impacts to the economy helped elevate North Carolina’s personal income amounts.

Wage and salary income and personal consumption expenditures impact major sources of the State’s tax revenues, such as personal
income taxes and sales and use taxes. In fiscal year 2022, wage and salary income has increased 11.7% over the prior fiscal year,
supporting larger income tax withholding. The State’s income tax withholding remained strong during the fiscal year due to the
rise in wages and salaries and the shift to higher-income workers. The National Bureau of Economic Analysis’s data shows
continued growth in personal consumption expenditures during the fiscal year, leading to growth in sales and use taxes as well as
other state excise taxes.

The corporate income tax revenue increase is consistent with the trend in the United States. Corporate profits in the U.S. have risen
in recent quarters, contributing to an increase in corporate tax revenues. Insurance tax revenues increased primarily due to an
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increase in the amount of taxable premiums written by insurers, which resulted in an increase in gross premium tax liability and
also the amount of installment payments made toward 2022 premium tax liabilities.

General Fund Budget Variances

The original General Fund budget, including state appropriations and appropriations supported by departmental receipts, serves as
a starting point or plan for the Governor to execute the General Fund budget pursuant to the powers granted by the Constitution and
State Budget Act. At the state level in North Carolina, it is not unusual for the budget to change during the fiscal year in relation to
budget adjustments made to accommodate departmental receipts. The General Fund budget supported by state appropriation is a
subset of the General Fund financial schedule presented in the ACFR as required supplementary information. The current ACFR
schedule reflects all spending required to support the State’s General Fund activities and the funding to support those activities,
including state tax and non-tax revenues, federal revenues, student tuition, and other fees, licenses, and fines. Under current state
budget management practice, particularly related to departmental federal receipts, primary emphasis is placed on comparisons of
the final authorized budget and actual spending.

At the state level, budgetary cuts related to state appropriations are implemented by decreasing allowable actual expenditures, as
opposed to decreasing the state appropriation through a formal legislative process. The Governor and state agencies maintain legal
authority to spend the dollars originally appropriated to them; furthermore, in past years the actual spending has been limited by the
collection of tax and non-tax revenue. In extremely rare cases, the General Assembly has held special sessions to formally amend
the authorized and certified state appropriation budget.

The portion of the original budget comprising departmental receipts is not intended to be the sole controlling point to manage the
State’s General Fund budget. The final budget includes amendments for departmental receipts collected during the fiscal year as
allowed by law. General Fund departmental receipts are typically authorized for expenditure within the activity that generated the
receipt. Historically, final estimated receipts have varied significantly from the original estimate at the beginning of the fiscal year.
State agencies by law must spend departmental receipts prior to spending tax and nontax supported appropriations. If departmental
receipts are higher than expected, appropriated dollars may go unspent and be re-appropriated in a subsequent fiscal year.

Variances — Original and Final Budget

In general, the variances between original and final budget are attributable to the timing and length of the budget preparation process
as well as budget adjustments that occurred during fiscal year 2021-22. In January 2021, OSBM finalized the two-year base budget
used by the General Assembly for the 2021-23 biennium. This was approximately 11 months prior to the ratification of the biennial
budget in November 2021 for the biennium which started July 1, 2021, and a full year prior to the budget certification for fiscal year
2021-22. The amounts budgeted for federal, intra-governmental transfers, fees/licenses/fines, contributions, gifts, grants, and
miscellaneous receipts were all estimates. The final budget reflects all budget revisions made throughout the fiscal year based on
adjustments to agency grant and receipt revenue and movement from state reserves. Consequently, significant variances are very
likely to occur when the original budget is compared to the final budget.

In addition to the normal administrative adjustments that occurred during the year, fiscal year 2020-22 was unusual due to the
Coronavirus health emergency that struck in the third and fourth quarter of the fiscal year 2019-20 and continued throughout fiscal
year 2021-22. The global pandemic resulted in North Carolina receiving $3.5 billion in federal aid in the fourth quarter of fiscal
year 2019-20 that could be spent through December 31, 2021. Additionally, North Carolina received federal funds from the ARPA
enacted in March of 2021.

Additional factors leading to variances between the original and final budget in fiscal year 2021-22 include the following:

1) Awarding of new unanticipated federal grants and increases and decreases in amounts for long standing federally supported
programs. North Carolina received an additional $1.5 billion for Medicaid due to an increase in the FMAP. Additionally, the
State budgeted and expended approximately $1.5 billion in federal Coronavirus Relief Funds during the biennium.

2) Statewide encumbrance carry-forward budgeted amounts from fiscal year 2020-21 totaled $699 million, which increased the
budget for fiscal year 2021-22 through administrative action.

3) Allocation of hurricane disaster funds that were appropriated and authorized in prior years but not expended until fiscal year
2021-22. State functions agriculture, environment and natural resources, and public safety, corrections and regulation were
the biggest recipients.

4) Allocation of statewide reserves to agencies and universities, totaling $4.6 billion including the SCIF, Medicaid
Transformation Funds, Information Technology Reserves, Public School Contingency Reserve, salary pay plan reserve, and
disaster relief funding from the State Emergency Response and Disaster Relief fund and the Hurricane Florence Disaster
Relief Reserve.

5) Receipts and budgeting of over-realized receipts, prior year earned revenues, and unanticipated donations and grants.
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Variances - Final Budget and Actual Results

Actual total own-source General Fund revenue collected (tax, non-tax, and tobacco settlement) was 16.86% higher than budgeted
revenue amounts in fiscal year 2022. Tax revenues were 16.98% higher than anticipated primarily due to better-than-expected
individual income, corporate income, and sales tax revenues. Non-tax revenues from sources included in certified revenues were
14.1% higher than budget. A shortfall in judicial fees was offset by higher-than-budgeted collections from all other major General
Fund nontax revenue sources. Disproportionate Share receipts were higher than anticipated due to adjustments to allotments from
prior federal fiscal years. Tobacco Settlement collections were higher than budgeted in part because of an unanticipated settlement
unrelated to the Master Settlement Agreement and the exclusion of the statutory transfer to the Golden LEAF Foundation from
budgeted revenues.

Collections for individual income taxes, which accounted for 54.5% of total General Fund tax revenue collections, were $3.26
billion (22.77%) higher than the budgeted revenue primarily due to higher-than-expected final and extension payments.
Withholding payment from wage earnings were $883 million (7.4%) above the year-end target. Quarterly payments from business
owners were also higher than expected and refunds were lower than expected. Higher individual income tax collections were from
elevated capital gains realizations, rapid growth in business profits and wages, and lower than expected refunds from taxpayers who
benefited from a retroactive tax change allowing deductions for business expenses paid with forgiven Paycheck Protection Program
loans. Sales and use tax collections, which comprised 31.64% of total General Fund tax revenues in fiscal year 2022, were $589.4
million (6.13%) above the budgeted revenue. Inflation, particularly for consumer goods affected by global supply chain challenges,
remained elevated for longer than anticipated in the June 2021 revised consensus revenue forecast. This higher inflation, rather
than rising consumer demand, accounts for most of the additional sales and use tax collections. Corporate income tax collections
which accounted for 5.04% of total General Fund tax revenues in fiscal year 2022, were $505.94 million (45.18%) above their
respective budgeted revenues. Corporate profits surged by nearly 30% in fiscal year 2021 and continued growing at a more moderate
pace in fiscal year 2022.

Departmental federal funds received by agencies were less than the final authorized budgeted federal fund revenues. A variance
between the budget and actual federal funds occurs because actual federal fund receipts are reflective of the actual expenditures.
Therefore, if qualifying federal costs are not incurred by an agency, the actual receipt of federal funds could be significantly less
than the budget.

Highway Fund

The Highway Fund dates back to 1921 when the General Assembly first imposed the gasoline tax. It accounts for most of the
activities of the North Carolina Department of Transportation (NCDOT), including the maintenance and construction of the State’s
primary and secondary road systems, the Division of Motor Vehicles, transit, aviation, rail, and ferry system. The primary revenue
sources of the Highway Fund are federal funds, 80% of motor fuels taxes, vehicle registration fees, and driver’s license fees.

The fund balance of the Highway Fund increased from $692.83 million at June 30, 2021 to $1.25 billion at June 30, 2022, an
increase of 80.20%. The increase in fund balance was primarily due to the issuance of GARVEE bonds ($252.6 million) and an
increase in transfers in of $310.94 million. The cash and cash equivalents balance increased by $257.42 million from June 30, 2021
to June 30, 2022.

Total revenues were $4.26 billion, an increase of 0.78% or $32.74 million, and total expenditures increased by 33% from $3.28
billion at June 30, 2021 to $4.36 billion at June 30, 2022. The increase in total revenues was due to increased motor fuels tax
collections as overall vehicle travel increased as pandemic restrictions were eased and eliminated. Another contributing factor for
increased revenues was an increase in motor fuels tax rate from 36.1 cents to 38.5 cents effective January 1, 2022. Capital outlay
and Grants led the increase in expenditures. Contract resurfacing and bridge maintenance project ramp-up post-pandemic were the
main contributors to the capital outlay increase. The transfers in increase is primarily due to funds for economic development
projects and grants for airport projects. Thus, economic development had a large increase due to $170 million in participation funds
from the Department of Commerce Job Development Investment Grant Fund for projects in Randolph and Guilford counties. The
increase in directed grants was due to $115.11 million from the SCIF that was distributed to 18 airports across the state.

The State issued $252.6 million in GARVEE bonds in September 2021. This innovative financing tool was used to accelerate the
construction on a variety of transportation improvement projects across the State by leveraging future federal transportation
revenues. At June 30, 2022, $193.88 million of the GARVEE proceeds were unspent.

Transportation is fundamental in continuing North Carolina’s prosperity and quality of life as the state’s population continues to
grow. To address the growing demand on the transportation system, increased cost of supplies, and slow growing revenues, NCDOT
continues to seek innovative solutions to meet the growing stress on the transportation system. Session Law 2020-91 revised the
motor fuels tax distribution formula. Effective July 1, 2020, the distribution of motor fuels tax revenue for the Highway Fund
increased from 71% to 81%. Effective July 1, 2021, the distribution increased to 80% and effective July 1, 2022, the distribution
was reduced to 75%. Session Law 2020-91 also established a motor fuels tax floor. Effective January 1, 2021, and ending December
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31, 2021, the motor fuels excise tax rate shall be the greater of 36.1 cents per gallon or the rate calculated pursuant to G.S. 105-
449.80(a).

According to the N.C. Division of Highways, from 2020 to 2021, paved lane miles grew by 0.10%. Vehicle miles traveled dropped
by 13.5% from 2019 to 2020 due to the decrease in travel because of the COVID pandemic but rebounded in 2021 to an increase of
11.18%. From 2020 to 2021, bridge deck area grew by 0.25%. These increases place a heavier burden on the existing infrastructure
and accentuates the need for additional capacity, safety, and maintenance funding to address the deterioration in service created by
the increase in traffic. Furthermore, many of the State’s highways were built as farm-to-market roads and were not designed to
handle the heavy traffic volumes of today. Other aging highways, such as the interstate highway system, will also require increasing
investment to maintain acceptable condition.

Highway Trust Fund

Legislation creating the Highway Trust Fund was passed by the General Assembly in 1989. It was established to provide a dedicated
funding mechanism to meet specific highway construction needs in North Carolina. Additionally, the Highway Trust Fund provides
allocations for the debt service on limited obligation bonds issued for highway purposes. The principal revenue sources of the
Highway Trust Fund are highway use taxes, 20% percent of motor fuels taxes, and various title and registration fees. The enabling
legislation was amended in 2008 to require annual transfers to the NCTA to pay debt service or financing expenses for specified
toll road construction projects (see Note 10B to the financial statements).

The fund balance of the Highway Trust Fund decreased 11.48% to $1.63 billion at June 30, 2022. The fund balance decrease is
attributable to the overall increase in capital outlay expenditures outpacing the increase in revenues.

Total revenues were $1.64 billion, an increase of 5.08% from the prior year. Motor fuels taxes increased 15.26% or $59.32 million
and highway use taxes increased 3.57% or $35.48 million. The change in the motor fuel distribution percentage (as discussed below)
along with post-pandemic recovery and increased travel were the main factors in the overall increase. The increase in highway use
tax was due to an average increase in collection amount per transaction in fiscal year 2022 compared to fiscal year 2021. This was
fueled by increased vehicle purchases as the supply chain issues eased and the continuation of new residents moving into North
Carolina who must title a vehicle with North Carolina before registering their vehicle. Another contributing factor for increased
revenues was an increase in the motor fuels tax rate from 36.1 cents to 38.5 cents effective January 1, 2022. The Highway Trust
Fund reported $2.1 billion in total transportation expenditures, an increase of 22.45% or $384.12 million from the previous year.
STI capital outlay led this increase due to post-pandemic project ramp-up, additional Build NC funds, and increased construction
contract issuance in fiscal year 2022.

In November 2020, the State issued $700 million in special indebtedness (limited obligation bonds) and $300 million in May 2022,
as authorized by Session Law 2018-16, Session Law 2020-91 and Session Law 2021-189, which allows for up to $3 billion in bonds
over a ten-year period. The proceeds from the bonds can be used for certain regional and divisional transportation projects contained
in the Statewide Transportation Improvement Plan (STIP). As of June 30, 2022, the unspent proceeds were $373.67 million.

As discussed under the Highway Fund section, Session Law 2020-91 revised the motor fuels tax distribution formula. Effective
July 1, 2020, it revised the distribution for motor fuels tax revenue for the Highway Trust Fund from 29% to 19%. Beginning July
1, 2021, the distribution changed to 20% and then to 25% beginning July 1, 2022. Session Law 2020-91 also established a motor
fuels tax floor.

New legislation affecting both the Highway Fund and Highway Trust Fund, House Bill 103, amends General Statute 105-164.44M
to require the net proceeds of tax collected on aviation and jet fuel be transferred to the Highway Fund and Highway Trust Fund,
effective fiscal year 2022-2023. The percentages to be transferred are as follows:

Fiscal Year Percentage to Highway Fund Percentage to Highway Trust Fund
2022-2023 2% 0%

2023-2024 1% 3%

2024-2025 and thereafter 1.5% 4.5%

Data developed by Fiscal Research estimates this transfer will reduce General Fund revenues by $193.1 million in fiscal year 2022-
2023, and increasing to a $684.8 million reduction in fiscal year 2026-2027.

42



State of North Carolina June 30, 2022

ENTERPRISE FUNDS

The State’s enterprise funds or business-type activities provide the same type of information found in the government-wide financial
statements, but in more detail. The major enterprise funds are discussed individually below.

Unemployment Compensation Fund

The Unemployment Compensation Fund (Trust Fund) reported net position of $3.79 billion at June 30, 2022 compared to $3.18
billion at June 30, 2021. The $616.35 million or 19.39% increase in net position is related to various fluctuations created almost
entirely by impacts from the Coronavirus pandemic. Unemployment rates in North Carolina have continued to decline since the
start of the pandemic in the spring of 2020, when businesses were shut down and unemployment rates hit a high of 12.9%. At the
end of the 2021 fiscal year, the unemployment rate was 4.6%, and at the end of June 2022, the unemployment rate was 3.4%.

The Trust Fund’s operating margin (operating revenues less operating expenses) was negative $8.02 million for fiscal year 2022, a
$6.7 billion increase (99.88%) from the prior year, predominantly as a result of a $6.64 billion decrease in unemployment benefits
paid. In the prior fiscal year, the Trust Fund received nonoperating revenues from the CARES Act and American Rescue Plan
(ARP) programs to pay federal benefits. As these programs are ending, the same level of federal funding was not needed in the
current fiscal year to provide for the remaining unemployment benefits. In addition to the significant decrease in unemployment
benefits paid, the Trust Fund also had a $68.27 million (11.53%) increase in employer unemployment contributions received. As
the economy continued to recover during fiscal year 2022, employer contributions increased as additional employers were added.

Contributing to the increase in net position, the Trust Fund had nonoperating revenues of $623.8 million, a decrease of $6.2 billion
or 90.86%. Nonoperating revenues include: $52.3 million of investment earnings, a $15.06 million or 22.36% decrease from the
prior year; $572.6 million of federal COVID-19 funds, a $5.9 billion or 91.16% decrease from fiscal year 2021; and miscellaneous
expenses of $1.08 million, a $6.16 million or 85.12% decrease from the prior year. There was also a $287.27 million (100%)
decrease in noncapital grants as a result of no Extended Benefit program payments being made during the year. Investment earnings
declined due to a reduction in the federal interest rate paid, creating a reduction in interest revenue received. Nonoperating revenues
have historically provided significant support for the total yearly benefits. For the 2021 fiscal year, the nonoperating revenues
supported 93.36% of the total benefits paid for the year, and in fiscal year 2022, nonoperating revenues provided 92.91% of the
support.

In addition, in the 2021 fiscal year, there was a $39 million transfer in that provided for the Increased Benefit Assistance (IBA)
program, a North Carolina unemployment benefit initiative that increased the calculated weekly benefit amount by $50 each week
for eligible claimants. This benefit was not provided in 2022.

N.C. State Lottery Fund

The enabling legislation for the N.C. Education Lottery (NCEL) contains a requirement that the net revenues of the NCEL are
transferred at least four times a year to the State’s General Fund. The legislation defines net revenues as amounts remaining after
accrual of expenses for prizes and operations, excluding balance sheet or prior-period expense adjustments of a specific nature. The
NCEL transferred $929.8 million to the General Fund in 2022 to support educational programs for the State. The amount transferred
in 2021 was $936.8 million.

For fiscal year 2021-22, net ticket sales increased 2.15% or $81.68 million from the previous fiscal year to $3.89 billion. With this
increase in ticket sales, the NCEL saw a corresponding increase in prize payouts of 3.31% or $81.54 million, and an overall decrease
in operating income of 0.24% or $2.2 million. Significant financial highlights include the following: awarded $1 million or more to
an NCEL player for the 708th time; and released 52 new instant scratch-off games into the marketplace generating gross instant
ticket sales of $2.6 billion.

N.C. Turnpike Authority
Major accomplishments for the N.C. Turnpike Authority (NCTA) include the following:

e  The Complete 540 project is a greenfield project in the greater Raleigh area in North Carolina that will link the towns of Apex,
Cary, Clayton, Garner, Fuquay-Varina, Holly Springs, Knightdale and Raleigh. Phase 1 will extend the existing Triangle
Expressway approximately 17.8 miles from N.C. 55 Bypass in Apex to I-40 in southeast Raleigh to partially complete the
“Outer Loop”. Unlimited Notice to Proceed was issued for three Design-Build Contracts on September 26, 2019. As of March
31, 2022, design for Phase 1 is complete with the exception of minor design revisions encountered during construction. Right-
of-way acquisition, utility relocations and construction are well underway for all three contracts. All 648 right of way parcels
have been acquired or have entered the condemnation process, and construction is approximately 55% complete. Phase 1 is
currently expected to open to traffic in Spring 2024.

The NCTA reported a $1.19 million operating loss for fiscal year 2022, which represents a decrease in operating loss of $43.88
million or 97.36% from the prior year. Contributing to the increase was a $50.09 million increase in operating revenues. Operating
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revenues predominantly consist of toll revenues, fees, and sales revenue from the sale of transponders. Toll revenues increased by
$29.66 million, due to an increase in traffic levels and a change in accounting estimate initiated in the prior year for bad debt
expense. In fiscal year 2021, there was a one-time adjustment allowance of $17.7 million when the NCTA changed from the direct
write-off method to the allowance method, creating a significant increase in the bad debt allowance for tolls in the prior year. In
addition, there was a $10.84 million increase in fees, licenses, and fines from the prior year, a 128.07% increase, related to a $10.19
million increase in receipts for late payments fees. Also contributing to the operating revenue increase was a $9.34 million increase
(163.23%) in miscellaneous revenues due to a differential revenue accrual for the I-77 Express Lanes.  Operating expenses
increased by $6.21 million or 6.07%, which is insignificant. Supplies and materials decreased by $4.19 million, services increased
by $2.26 million, and other operating expenses increased by $8.27 million. In addition to the NCTA’s operating loss, there wase
also $77.82 million in nonoperating expenses (net), which represents a $4.39 million decrease or 5.34% from the prior year.
Contributing to the net nonoperating expense decrease was a $15.04 million (334.54%) increase in investment earnings related to a
global adjustment from Wells Fargo in November of 2021 to the NCTA’s 20 Capital Interest Accounts and a $10.68 million
(11.75%) increase in interest and fees related to interest paid on NCTA’s bond debt.

Beginning in fiscal year 2022, revenue collections provided the funding for administrative expenses. Previously, funding for
administrative expenses were advanced, as needed, from the Highway Trust Fund to be repaid from NCTA revenue collections.
Interest continues to accrue on the unpaid balance of the advance.

The high cost of building, operating, and maintaining a major highway facility is typically more than the revenue a new road can
generate through tolls. The gap between what tolling can pay for and the cost of the road requiring additional support from the State
is known as gap funding. These annual transfers from the Highway Trust Fund to the NCTA are used to pay debt service and fund
required reserves on bonds issued to finance turnpike projects. The transfers in include funds received from NCDOT’s Highway
Fund and Highway Trust Fund during fiscal year 2022 and the Federal Highway Administration State match. While the amount
received from NCDOT’s Highway and Highway Trust for gap funding remained unchanged at $49 million, the transfers in for
project participation increased by $2.98 million from the Highway Trust Fund and by $4.1 million from the Highway Fund, a total
increase of $7.1 million or 14.18%.

Both NCTA’s operating loss and nonoperating expenses contributed to a $21.9 million or 7.75% decrease in net position to $260.63
million at the 2022 fiscal year end. In addition to factors identified above, the Complete 540 project has significant impacts on
NCTA’s balance sheet. Restricted investments decreased by $313.77 million or 39.26% as NCTA continues to use restricted
investments, which have been funded with prior year bond proceeds, for the construction of the Complete 540 project. Land and
permanent easements increased by $19.1 million due to the continued right of way acquisitions for the project, and construction in
progress increased by $248.84 million or 55.33%, as the Complete 540 project construction continues.

EPA Revolving Loan Fund

The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Revolving Loan Fund (Loan Fund) is comprised of the Clean Water State Revolving
Fund and the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund established by General Statute 159G-22 and receives federal and state funds.
This Loan Fund was established to provide loans and grants as allowed under federal laws for wastewater projects and public water
systems to meet the water infrastructure needs of the State.

The net position of the Loan Fund increased 2.2% or $44.19 million to $2.06 billion in fiscal year 2022. This increase in net position
is due to the Loan Fund continuing to focus on streamlining its processes (requiring municipalities to follow specified timelines that
resulted in more infrastructure projects being completed during the year), using a cash flow model to better predict fund
disbursements and revenue, and prioritizing the spending of funds from the U.S. EPA (federal) capitalization grants for these projects
(as opposed to funds from other sources). The amount of new loans issued during the current year was $138.24 million, an increase
of $6.93 million or 5.28%, and the amount of principal received on existing loans during the year was $94.35 million, a $163.41
million or 63.4% decrease. As a result, Notes Receivable increased by $43.89 million. The variances in loans issued and principal
received during fiscal year 2022 is not unusual for a year-over-year fluctuation. Funds are managed with a long-term focus, typically
with more loans issued over time. But in any given year, there may be a slight decrease from the previous year. With interest rates
being low during the 2021 fiscal year, more communities chose to pay off their existing loans in 2021, resulting in a decrease in
principal payments received during fiscal year 2022.

Operating income (operating revenues less operating expenses) was $ 9.86 million, an increase of $3.04 million or 44.55% from the
prior year. The increase in operating income was due predominantly to a $3.46 million or 21.7% increase in operating revenues.
Operating revenues went from $15.96 million in the prior year to $19.42 million in fiscal year 2022. Sales and services increased
by $4.68 million due to the increase in closing fees associated with the State Revolving funds issued. Closing fees are reported as
sales and services when received. Loan closing fees are 2% of the issuance, and grant closing fees are 1.5%. The increase is directly
related to an increase in loans and grants issues in the 2022 fiscal year. Interest earnings on loans decreased by $1.22 million.
Operating expenses did not change significantly from the prior year and were $9.56 million for fiscal year 2022, which represents
a $0.43 million or 4.65% increase.
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Net nonoperating revenues were $20.45 million, a decrease of $29.73 million or 59.25%. Nonoperating revenues consist of
noncapital grants (federal capitalization grants) and investment earnings, and nonoperating expenses consist primarily of payments
for grants, aid and subsidies. Noncapital grants were $71.91 million, a $14.66 million or 25.61% increase from the prior year,
related to federal grants received for Drinking Water State Revolving Fund projects. Investment earnings were a negative $23.63
million, a decrease of $24.77 million or 2,167.02%. The decrease in investment earnings is due predominantly to the Loan Fund
reporting unrealized losses of $29.5 million in fiscal year 2022, an increase of $22.92 million in unrealized losses from the prior
year. Payments for grants, aid and subsidies increased by $19.57 million or 236.14% related to grants and loans to local
municipalities for Clean Water and Drinking Water projects. In addition, the EPA Revolving Loan Fund received $14.02 million
in transfers for appropriated state match funds for Clean Water and Drinking Water projects, a $1.46 million or 11.63% increase
from the prior year.
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CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION
CAPITAL ASSETS

As of June 30, 2022, the State’s investment in capital assets was $65.83 billion, an increase of 5.29% from the previous fiscal year-
end (see table below).
Capital Assets as of June 30
(net of depreciation, dollars in thousands)

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
2021 2021 2021
2022 (as restated) 2022 (as restated) 2022 (as restated)

Land and permanent easements $21,524,138 $20,652,733 $ 569,389 $ 549,128 $22,093,527 $ 21,201,861
Buildings 2,950,614 2,877,194 60,642 53,302 3,011,256 2,930,496
Machinery and equipment 783,481 804,462 7,987 8,393 791,468 812,855
Infrastructure:

State highway system 32,430,490 31,103,285 — — 32,430,490 31,103,285

NC toll road system — — 1,328,953 1,358,637 1,328,953 1,358,637

General infrastructure 230,355 233,871 6,174 6,524 236,529 240,395
Computer software 303,276 315,483 521 644 303,797 316,127
Art, literature, and other artifacts 148,872 147,576 1,293 1,290 150,165 148,866
Construction in progress 3,473,971 2,735,268 698,766 460,856 4,172,737 3,196,124
Computer software in development 903,675 791,903 — — 903,675 791,903
RTU Land and permanent easements 501 464 — — 501 464
RTU Buildings 402,075 413,343 2,741 3,443 404,816 416,786
RTU Machinery and equipment 1,483 2,066 — — 1,483 2,066
RTU General infrastructure 1,156 1,425 — — 1,156 1,425

Total $63,154,087  $60,079,073  $2,676,466 $ 2,442,217 $65,830,553 $ 62,521,290

Total percent change between
fiscal years 2021 and 2022 5.12 % 9.59 % 5.29 %

The largest component of capital assets is the state highway system. North Carolina has an 80,318 mile highway system, making it
the second largest state-maintained highway system in the nation. The major capital asset activity during the current fiscal year
included the following:

e The NCDOT reported year-end construction in progress of $3.16 billion for state highway projects. Additionally, the NCTA
(business-type activity) reported year-end construction in progress of $611.9 million for the Complete 540 project. This project
involves completing the 540 loop around the greater Raleigh area by extending the Triangle Expressway approximately 17.8
miles. NCTA also has $38.04 million construction in progress for the Mid-Currituck Bridge project. This project is a 7-mile
roadway toll project, which includes a two-lane bridge, that spans the Currituck Sound and connects the Currituck county
mainland to the Outer Banks; it also includes a second two-lane bridge that spans Maple Swamp on the Currituck county
mainland.

e The Department of Military and Veterans Affairs is constructing a skilled nursing care facility with 120 private rooms for state
veterans in Kernersville, North Carolina. The project is 95% complete. It has a budget of nearly $59 million and is a cooperative
effort between the State of North Carolina and the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, which provided over $27 million in
grant funds. The revised occupancy timeframe for the facility is spring 2023. At year-end, construction in progress for the
Kernersville Veterans Home totaled $45.03 million.

e The Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) is replacing major legacy IT systems. NC FAST, the new system for
managing and administering social services benefits, will improve the way DHHS and the 100 county departments of social
services conduct business. At year-end, computer software in development for NC FAST totaled $749.45 million.

As further detailed in Note 21E to the financial statements, the State has commitments of $6.095 billion for the construction of
highway infrastructure ($6.04 billion for governmental activities and $55.26 million for business-type activities), which are expected
to be financed by motor fuels tax collections, motor vehicle fees, toll collections, federal funds, and debt proceeds. Other
commitments of $344.23 million for the construction and improvement of state government facilities are expected to be financed
primarily by debt proceeds, state appropriations, and federal funds.

More detailed information about the State’s capital assets is presented in Note 5 to the financial statements.
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LONG-TERM DEBT

At year-end, the State had total long-term debt outstanding (bonds, special indebtedness, and notes from direct borrowings) of $8.24
billion, a decrease of 1.99% from the previous fiscal year-end (see table below).

Outstanding Debt as of June 30
Bonds, Special Indebtedness, and Notes From Direct Borrowings
(dollars in thousands)

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
2021 2021
2022 (as restated) 2022 2021 2022 (as restated)
General obligation bonds $2,309,790  $2,648,385 $ — $ — $2,309,790  $2,648,385
Special Indebtedness:

Limited obligation bonds 2,348,890 2,275,750 — — 2,348,890 2,275,750
GARVEE bonds 1,023,210 875,865 — — 1,023,210 875,865
Revenue bonds — — 2,323,816 2,365,938 2,323,816 2,365,938
Notes from direct borrowings 43,403 50,619 186,127 185,991 229,530 236,610

Total $5,725,293  $5,850,619 $2,509,943  $2,551,929  $8,235,236 $ 8,402,548
Total percent change between
fiscal years 2021 and 2022 2.19% (1.65)% (1.99)%

During the 2022 fiscal year, the State issued $432 million in limited obligation bonds. The State issued $132 million in limited
obligation refunding bonds to refund certain maturities of the 2011B limited obligation bonds and 2011C limited obligation bonds.
The State issued the 2021 refunding bonds pursuant to the provisions of the State Capital Facilities Finance Act found in General
Statute Chapter 142, Article 9, as amended, a resolution of the North Carolina Council of State, and the approval of the State
Treasurer. The refunding bonds achieved a net present value savings to the State of approximately $23.6 million. The Highway
Trust Fund issued $300 million Build NC special indebtedness limited obligation bonds as part of the $3 billion transportation
package approved by the General Assembly. The bond proceeds will be used to finance regional and divisional transportation
projects contained in the Statewide Transportation Improvement Plan (STIP), build a debt service reserve fund, and pay the costs
incurred in connection with the issuance of the bonds.

The State issues two types of tax-supported debt: general obligation (GO) bonds and special indebtedness (i.e., debt not subject to
a vote of the people). GO bonds are secured by the full faith, credit, and taxing power of the State and require approval by a majority
of voters. The payments on special indebtedness are subject to appropriation by the General Assembly and also may be secured by
a lien on facilities or equipment. The General Statutes (Chapter 142, Article 9) prohibit the issuance of special indebtedness except
for projects specifically authorized by the General Assembly. Special indebtedness is also known as appropriation-supported debt.
Limited obligation bonds may be issued by the State directly rather than through a conduit issuer. The use of alternative financing
methods provides financing flexibility to the State and permits the State to take advantage of changing financial and economic
environments. The GARVEE bonds are a revenue bond-type debt instrument where the debt service is to be paid solely from federal
transportation revenues.

The State’s total long-term debt (bonds, special indebtedness, and notes from direct borrowings) reported in governmental activities
has increased from $3.48 billion in 2002 to $5.73 billion in 2022, in part due to large issuances of non-GO debt (special indebtedness)
for higher education capital projects. Prior to 2003, the State only issued general obligation debt. The NCTA had its first debt
issuance in 2010. The NCTA’s long-term debt has increased from $691.56 million in 2010 to $2.51 billion in 2022.

The following is a summary of recent debt authorizations.

Build NC Bond Act of 2018

The 2017-18 Session of the General Assembly authorized the issuance of up to $300 million annually over ten years, not to exceed
$3 billion in total, of special indebtedness. The maturity of the bonds is limited to 15 years and the issuance is contingent upon the
N.C. State Treasurer’s recommendation. The Build NC Bonds will be repaid from appropriations from the Highway Trust Fund.
The proceeds will enable the N.C. Department of Transportation to accelerate Regional and Divisional transportation projects
authorized pursuant to the State’s Strategic Transportation Investments Act (STI). The Build NC Bond Act of 2018 became effective
January 1, 2019.
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Connect NC Bond Act of 2015

The 2015-16 Session of the General Assembly authorized, subject to a vote of the qualified voters of the State, the issuance of $2
billion of general obligation bonds of the State to be secured by a pledge of the faith and credit and taxing power of the State. The
Connect NC Bonds were approved by a statewide voter referendum held on March 15, 2016. The general obligation bonds will
provide financing for various capital improvements throughout the State as follows: University of North Carolina System ($980
million), North Carolina Community Colleges ($350 million), local parks and infrastructure ($312.5 million), National Guard ($70
million), agriculture ($179 million), State parks and attractions ($100 million), and public safety ($8.5 million). The 2021 Session
of the General Assembly (S. L. 2021-180) repealed the remaining authorization of the Connect NC general obligation bonds that
had not been issued as of June 30, 2021 and replaces it with pay-as-you-go capital for the remaining amount of $400 million total
authorization.

Credit Ratings

Credit ratings are the rating agencies’ assessment of a governmental entity’s ability and willingness to repay debt on a timely basis.
As a barometer of financial stress, credit ratings are an important factor in the public credit markets and can influence interest rates
a borrower must pay.

The State’s general obligation bond credit ratings are as follows:

State of North Carolina
General Obligation Bond Credit Ratings

Rating Agency Rating Outlook
Fitch Ratings AAA Stable
Moody’s Investors Service Aaa Stable
Standard & Poor’s Rating Services AAA Stable

These ratings are the highest attainable from all three rating agencies. In 2022, Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s Investors Service, and
Fitch Ratings, the top three rating agencies, all affirmed the triple-A bond rating for the State. A triple-A bond rating means that
North Carolina has followed well-defined financial management policies and has demonstrated strong debt management practices.
The rating agencies recognized the State’s historically conservative budgeting, financial management, and debt issuance practices.
North Carolina remains one of only 13 states with a triple-A rating from all three rating agencies.

Special indebtedness is not subject to a vote of the people, and its repayment is based on the State’s annual debt service appropriation.
For these reasons, special indebtedness is rated lower than the State’s general obligation bonds and typically carries a higher interest
rate.

Limitations on Debt

The Constitution of North Carolina (Article 5, Section 3) imposes limitations upon the increase of certain state debt. It restricts the
General Assembly from contracting debt secured by a pledge of the faith and credit of the State, unless approved by a majority of
the qualified voters of the State, except for the following purposes:

1. To fund or refund a valid existing debt;
To supply an unforeseen deficiency in the revenue;

3. To borrow in anticipation of the collection of taxes due and payable within the current fiscal year to an amount not exceeding
50 percent of such taxes;

4. To suppress riots or insurrections; or to repel invasions;

5. To meet emergencies immediately threatening the public health or safety, as conclusively determined in writing by the
Governor; and

6. For any other lawful purpose, to the extent of two-thirds of the amount by which the State’s outstanding indebtedness shall
have been reduced during the preceding biennium.

The 2013-14 Session of the General Assembly enacted legislation (Session Law 2013-78) to limit the amount of special indebtedness
that the State may incur. According to this law, special indebtedness authorized by legislation enacted after January 1, 2013 cannot
exceed 25% of the total bond indebtedness of the State supported by the General Fund that was authorized pursuant to legislation
enacted after January 1, 2013.

More detailed information about the State’s long-term liabilities is presented in Note 8§ to the financial statements.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK

Next Year’s Budget and Rates

In the 2021-2022 Regular Session, the General Assembly enacted Session Law 2022-74 (House Bill 103). The General Assembly
appropriated $27.9 billion in the General Fund for fiscal year 2022-23, which is $1.8 billion above the fiscal year 2021-22 amount,
a 7% increase. The fiscal year 2022-23 revised net General Fund appropriations are $922 million greater than the fiscal year 2022-23
appropriations as provided in Session Law 2021-180 (2021 Appropriations Act). The budget provides compensation increases for
educators and state employees, reservation of billions of dollars for significant statewide purposes, and additional investment in
state and local capital and infrastructure. Specific priorities of the 2022 Appropriations Act include:

e  $369 million to augment the fiscal year 2022-23 salary increases enacted in the 2021 Appropriations Act for state
employees and state-funded local employees: most state agency employees will receive a 3.5% pay increase, with teachers
receiving a 4.2% increase on average; noncertified public school employees will receive the greater of 4% or an increase
to $15 per hour.

e  $66 million for labor market salary adjustments to address specific staffing issues by providing targeted salary increases
to recruit and retain employees.

e  $36 million to increase a budgeted one-time retiree supplement from 3% to 4%.

e  $876 million in new reservations for Economic Development Projects.

e  $500 million in additional funds transferred into the savings reserve account, which when combined with the $1.13 billion
already reserved for fiscal year 2022-23, will bring the total balance to its highest-ever level of $4.75 billion.

o  $945 million in total reservations to the State Emergency Response and Disaster Relief Reserve.

e  $3.2 billion in mandatory and discretionary funding transferred to the SCIF to support a number of previously authorized
capital projects.

e  $431 million in Lottery and other state funds provided for the Needs-Based Public School Capital Fund, to increase the
number of school construction and renovation grants available to low-wealth counties.

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors, and creditors with a general overview of
the State’s finances and to demonstrate the State’s accountability for the money it receives. If you have questions about this report
or need additional financial information, contact the North Carolina Office of the State Controller, Accounting and Financial
Reporting Section, 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh, N.C. 27699-1410. In addition, this financial report is available on the Office
of the State Controller’s internet home page at https://www.osc.nc.gov/public-information/reports.
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State of North Carolina June 30, 2022

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

June 30, 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)
Primary Government

Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3) $ 26,680,846 $ 4,473,259 $ 31,154,105 $ 5,079,636
Investments (Note 3) 367,391 457,990 825,381 5,803,119
Securities lending collateral (Note 3) 1,019,384 37,948 1,057,332 205,710
Receivables, net (Note 4) 5,029,402 1,118,380 6,147,782 2,002,427
Due from component units (Note 18) 56,264 - 56,264 5,627
Due from primary government (Note 18) - - - 35,122
Internal balances 195,117 (195,117) - -
Inventories 235,008 1,370 236,378 178,242
Prepaid items 17,517 29,127 46,644 178,301
Hedging derivatives asset - - - 159
Advances to component units 1,691 - 1,691 -
Advances to outside entities 2,131 - 2,131 11,330
Notes receivable, net (Note 4) 62,284 1,166,329 1,228,613 1,325,119
Lease receivable 2,577 5,725 8,302 180,607
Investment in joint venture - - - 229,130
Equity interest in component unit 371,586 - 371,586 -
Securities held in trust 63,493 - 63,493 -
Restricted/designated cash and cash equivalents (Note 3) 627,996 40,580 668,576 3,350,520
Restricted investments (Note 3) 1,056,203 485,467 1,541,670 12,090,099
Restricted due from primary government (Note 18) - - - 13,247
Restricted due from component units (Note 18) 1,106 - 1,106 4,990
Beneficial interest in assets held by others - - - 2,961
Net pension asset (Note 12) 31,046 - 31,046 -
Net OPEB asset (Note 14) 3,305 49 3,354 4,956
Capital assets-nondepreciable (Note 5) 26,050,656 1,269,448 27,320,104 2,447,365
Capital assets-depreciable, net (Note 5) 37,103,431 1,407,018 38,510,449 19,076,171
Total Assets 98,978,434 10,297,573 109,276,007 52,224,838
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Accumulated decrease in fair value of hedging derivatives - - - 72,331
Deferred loss on refunding 36,662 20,939 57,601 51,867
Forward funded state aid 236,067 - 236,067 -
Deferred outflows for asset retirement obligation - - - 13,833
Deferred outflows for pensions (Note 12) 1,499,162 21,092 1,520,254 1,073,272
Deferred outflows for OPEB (Note 14) 1,504,323 31,623 1,535,946 1,852,753
Other deferred outflows - - - 1,455
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 3,276,214 73,654 3,349,868 3,065,511
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,250,070 827,483 3,077,553 1,738,944
Medical claims payable 1,066,454 - 1,066,454 409,058
Unemployment benefits payable - 3,079 3,079 -
Tax refunds payable 1,174,835 - 1,174,835 -
Obligations under securities lending 1,019,384 37,948 1,057,332 205,710
Interest payable 29,343 134,211 163,554 61,323
Due to component units (Note 18) 48,369 - 48,369 10,617
Due to primary government (Note 18) - - - 57,370
Unearned revenue 5,356,337 45,261 5,401,598 822,953
Advance from primary government - - - 1,691
Deposits payable 7 11,952 11,959 34,430
Funds held for others 112,896 - 112,896 3,399,195
Hedging derivatives liability (Note 7) - - - 72,472
Long-term liabilities (Note 8):

Due within one year 917,195 48,325 965,520 713,221

Due in more than one year 15,603,841 2,817,546 18,421,387 19,323,642
Total Liabilities 27,578,731 3,925,805 31,504,536 26,850,626
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State of North Carolina

June 30, 2022

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

June 30, 2022 Exhibit A-1
(Dollars in Thousands)
Primary Government
Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred gain on refunding 6,994 5,779 12,773 -
SCA revenue applicable to future years - - - 314,514
Deferred state aid - - - 236,067
Deferred inflows for lease agreements 2,516 5,648 8,164 187,967
Deferred inflows for pensions (Note 12) 1,486,733 21,738 1,508,471 1,268,075
Deferred inflows for OPEB (Note 14) 1,784,187 40,803 1,824,990 2,855,232
Deferred inflows irrevocable split-interest agreements - - - 20,368
Accumulated increase in fair value of hedging derivatives - - - 159
Other deferred inflows - - - 5,077
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 3,280,430 73,968 3,354,398 4,887,459
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 59,631,130 493,653 60,124,783 14,694,484
Restricted for:
Nonexpendable:
Environment and natural resources 123,217 - 123,217 -
Higher education - - - 3,415,432
Expendable:

Primary and secondary education 6,579 - 6,579 -

Higher education 7,751 - 7,751 6,450,109

Higher education student aid 1,087,089 - 1,087,089 -

Health and human services 96,752 - 96,752 468,594

Economic development 31,351 1,583 32,934 900,794

Environment and natural resources 137,743 - 137,743 -

Public safety, corrections, and regulation 125,154 1 125,155 -

Transportation 3,441 2,878 6,319 -

Highway construction/preservation 90,755 - 90,755 -

Agriculture 81,680 - 81,680 -

Debt service 168,956 197,963 366,919 -

Capital projects/repairs and renovations 12,672 - 12,672 -

Other purposes 41,038 2,069 43,107 -
Unrestricted 9,750,179 5,673,307 15,423,486 (2,377,149)
Total Net Position $ 71,395,487 6,371,454 77,766,941 $ 23,552,264

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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State of North Carolina

June 30, 2022

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

Program Revenues

Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and Net (Expense)
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Revenue
Primary Government
Governmental Activities
General government $ 3,033,443 % 358,361 $ 873,339 7,128 (1,794,615)
Primary and secondary education 15,459,082 237,124 3,786,021 - (11,435,937)
Higher education 5,473,516 138,243 23,844 - (5,311,429)
Health and human services 30,645,511 351,072 24,617,252 - (5,677,187)
Economic development 435,295 3,405 275,080 - (156,810)
Environment and natural resources 816,601 262,281 138,537 35,755 (380,028)
Public safety, corrections, and regulation 4,777,868 640,364 757,514 92 (3,379,898)
Transportation 3,079,409 1,089,208 344,044 1,105,964 (540,193)
Agriculture 249,195 30,431 43,612 651 (174,501)
Interest on long-term debt 173,241 - - - (173,241)
Total Governmental Activities 64,143,161 3,110,489 30,859,243 1,149,590 (29,023,839)
Business-type Activities
Unemployment Compensation 672,550 663,385 624,951 - 615,786
N.C. State Lottery 2,960,246 3,892,769 213 - 932,736
EPA Revolving Loan 37,447 19,419 48,286 - 30,258
N.C. Turnpike Authority 210,152 107,271 23,841 98 (78,942)
Regulatory programs 139,202 157,746 5,271 - 23,815
Insurance programs 37,099 22,806 (10,527) - (24,820)
North Carolina State Fair 12,657 15,160 1,520 - 4,023
Other business-type activities 14,696 13,068 1,744 150 266
Total Business-type Activities 4,084,049 4,891,624 695,299 248 1,503,122
Total Primary Government $ 68,227,210 $ 8,002,113 $ 31,554,542 1,149,838 (27,520,717)
Component Units
University of North Carolina System $ 14,780,690 $ 10,398,293 $ 2,230,651 253,456 (1,898,290)
Community Colleges 2,588,065 300,167 1,247,423 450,281 (590,194)
State Health Plan 4,166,836 3,942,153 15,299 - (209,384)
Other component units 1,199,306 478,547 386,720 14,904 (319,135)
Total Component Units $ 22,734,897 $ 15,119,160 $ 3,880,093 718,641 (3,017,003)

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022 Exhibit A-2

(Dollars in Thousands)
Primary Government

Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units
Changes in Net Position
Net (expense) revenue $ (29,023,839) $ 1,503,122 $ (27,520,717) $ (3,017,003)
General Revenues:
Taxes:
Individual income tax 17,845,868 - 17,845,868 -
Corporate income tax 1,624,384 - 1,624,384 -
Sales and use tax 11,029,810 - 11,029,810 -
Motor fuels tax 2,227,883 - 2,227,883 -
Franchise tax 879,789 - 879,789 -
Highway use tax 1,137,060 - 1,137,060 -
Insurance tax 1,000,680 - 1,000,680 -
Beverage tax 559,195 - 559,195 -
Tobacco products tax 296,416 - 296,416 -
Other taxes 372,624 - 372,624 -
Tobacco settlement 171,849 - 171,849 -
Federal COVID-19 1,525,132 - 1,525,132 -
Unrestricted investment earnings 60,506 - 60,506 (152,831)
State aid - coronavirus - - - 320,489
State aid - - - 4,786,612
Noncapital contributions 38,147 517 38,664 57,027
Miscellaneous 67,754 1,318 69,072 23,944
Contributions to permanent funds 9,605 - 9,605 -
Contributions to endowments - - - 191,639
Transfers 853,042 (853,042) - -
Total general revenues, contributions, and transfers 39,699,744 (851,207) 38,848,537 5,226,880
Change in net position 10,675,905 651,915 11,327,820 2,209,877
Net position — July 1, as restated (Note 23) 60,719,582 5,719,539 66,439,121 21,342,387
Net position — June 30 $ 71,395,487 $ 6,371,454 $ 77,766,941 $ 23,552,264
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State of North Carolina June 30, 2022
BALANCE SHEET

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
June 30, 2022 Exhibit B-1
(Dollars in Thousands)
Other Total
General Highway Highway Governmental Governmental
Fund Fund Trust Fund Funds Funds
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3) $ 22,221,674  $ 1,527,483 $ 979,167 $ 1,818,654 $ 26,546,978
Investments (Note 3) 7,654 - - 333,667 341,321
Securities lending collateral (Note 3) 886,813 47,077 34,177 50,602 1,018,669
Receivables, net: (Note 4)
Taxes receivable 2,815,922 162,119 52,946 7,680 3,038,667
Accounts receivable 413,022 45,643 697 25,567 484,929
Intergovernmental receivable 1,391,760 61,107 978 1,326 1,455,171
Interest receivable 1,605 708 530 788 3,631
Contributions receivable 76 - - - 76
Other receivables - 4,332 - - 4,332
Due from other funds (Note 10) 156,834 84,430 207,548 16,494 465,306
Due from component units (Note 18) 16,264 40,000 - - 56,264
Inventories 106,823 101,950 - 26,002 234,775
Advances to other funds (Note 10) - - 30,424 - 30,424
Advances to component units - 1,691 - - 1,691
Advances to outside entities 2,131 - - - 2,131
Notes receivable, net (Note 4) 13,482 139 9 48,654 62,284
Lease receivable 2,351 - - 226 2,577
Securities held in trust 15 4,837 - 58,641 63,493
Restricted/designated cash and cash equivalents (Note 3) 235,509 - - 392,487 627,996
Restricted investments (Note 3) 1,968 194,724 484,897 374,614 1,056,203
Restricted due from component units (Note 10) 1,106 - - - 1,106
Total Assets 28,275,009 2,276,240 1,791,373 3,155,402 35,498,024
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Forward funded state aid 198,780 - - 37,287 236,067
Total Assets and Deferred Outflows $ 28,473,789 $ 2,276,240 $ 1,791,373 $ 3,192,689 $ 35,734,091
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 491,079 $ 397,059 $ 97,315 $ 39,624 $ 1,025,077
Accrued payroll 3,422 40,030 - 82 43,534
Intergovernmental payable 733,566 161,892 4,734 15,272 915,464
Claims payable - - - 100,000 100,000
Medical claims payable 1,066,454 - - - 1,066,454
Tax refunds payable 1,158,266 12,427 4,142 - 1,174,835
Obligations under securities lending 886,813 47,077 34,177 50,602 1,018,669
Due to fiduciary funds (Note 10) 138,294 - - - 138,294
Due to other funds (Note 10) 65,274 221,207 21,216 942 308,639
Due to component units (Note 18) 8,972 - - 13,287 22,259
Unearned revenue 5,217,600 123,634 2,588 455 5,344,277
Advance from other funds (Note 10) - - - - -
Deposits payable - - - 7 7
Funds held for others 30,590 23,536 - 58,770 112,896
Total Liabilities 9,800,330 1,026,862 164,172 279,041 11,270,405
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unavailable revenue 243,534 938 - 7,305 251,777
Deferred inflows for lease agreements 2,330 - - 186 2,516
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 245,864 938 - 7,491 254,293
Fund Balances (Note 11)
Nonspendable 106,920 101,950 - 149,419 358,289
Restricted 244,916 198,071 484,897 1,589,491 2,517,375
Committed 6,531,413 948,419 1,142,304 1,163,321 9,785,457
Assigned 4,298,908 - - 3,926 4,302,834
Unassigned 7,245,438 - - - 7,245,438
Total Fund Balances 18,427,595 1,248,440 1,627,201 2,906,157 24,209,393
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows and Fund Balances $ 28,473,789 $ 2,276,240 $ 1,791,373  $ 3,192,689 $ 35,734,091

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

June 30, 2022 Exhibit B-1a
(Dollars in Thousands)
Total fund balances - governmental funds (see Exhibit B-1) $ 24,209,393

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position are different because:

— Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds (see Note 5). These consist of:

Cost of capital assets (excluding internal service funds) $ 63,991,432
Less: Accumulated depreciation (excluding internal service funds) (986,410)
Net capital assets 63,005,022
— Some assets, such as receivables, are not available soon enough to pay for current
period expenditures and thus, are offset by unavailable revenue in the governmental funds. 251,777

— Equity interest in component unit is not a financial resource and, therefore, is not
reported in the funds. 371,586

— Net pension asset (excluding internal service funds) resulting from contributions in excess
of the actuarially determined contribution are not financial resources and, therefore, are
not reported in the funds (see Note 12). 31,046

— Net OPEB asset (excluding internal service funds) resulting from contributions in excess
of the actuarially determined contribution are not financial resources and, therefore, are
not reported in the funds (see Note 14). 3,231

— Deferred losses on refundings are reported in the Statement of Net Position (to be
amortized as interest expense) but are not reported in the funds. 36,662

— Deferred gain on refunding is reported in the Statement of Net Position (to be amortized
as a component of interest expense) but is not reported in the funds. (6,994)

— Deferred outflows for pensions (excluding internal service funds) are reported in
the Statement of Net Position but are not reported in the funds (see Note 12). 1,460,585

— Deferred outflows for OPEB (excluding internal service funds) are reported in
the Statement of Net Position but are not reported in the funds (see Note 14). 1,417,851

— Long-term debt instruments, such as bonds and notes from direct borrowings, are not
due and payable in the current period and, therefore, the outstanding balances are not
reported in the funds (see Note 8). Also, unamortized debt premiums are reported in the
Statement of Net Position but are not reported in the funds. These balances consist of:

General obligation bonds payable (2,309,790)
Limited obligation bonds payable (2,348,890)
GARVEE bonds payable (1,023,210)
Unamortized debt premiums (to be amortized as interest expense) (628,794)
Notes from direct borrowings (43,403)
Leases payable (excluding internal service funds) (405,962)
Net long-term debt (6,760,049)

— Other liabilities not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, not reported
in the funds (see Note 8 as applicable) consist of:

Accrued interest payable (29,343)

Compensated absences (excluding internal service funds) (567,524)

Obligations for workers' compensation (excluding internal service funds) (636,809)

Death benefit payable (37)

Pollution remediation payable (7,328)

Claims and judgments payable (731,703)

Pension liability (excluding internal service funds) (1,460,805)

Net OPEB liability (excluding internal service funds) (6,170,123)
Total other liabilities (9,603,672)

— Deferred inflows for pensions (excluding internal service funds) are reported in

the Statement of Net Position but are not reported in the funds (see Note 12). (1,454,455)

— Deferred inflows for OPEB (excluding internal service funds) are reported in
the Statement of Net Position but are not reported in the funds (see Note 14). (1,739,552)

— Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain
activities to individual funds. The assets and liabilities of the internal service funds
are included in governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position (see Exhibit B-3). 173,056

Total net position - governmental activities (see Exhibit A-1) $ 71,395,487
The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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State of North Carolina

June 30, 2022

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022 Exhibit B-2
(Dollars in Thousands)
Other Total
General Highway Highway Governmental Governmental
Fund Fund Trust Fund Funds Funds
Revenues
Taxes:
Individual income tax $ 17,845,868 $ -8 -8 - $ 17,845,868
Corporate income tax 1,630,010 - - - 1,630,010
Sales and use tax 11,012,646 - - 7,767 11,020,413
Motor fuels tax - 1,757,305 448,031 26,758 2,232,094
Franchise tax 890,406 - - - 890,406
Highway use tax - 108,270 1,028,791 - 1,137,061
Insurance tax 1,001,625 - - - 1,001,625
Beverage tax 559,192 - - - 559,192
Tobacco products tax 296,701 - - - 296,701
Other taxes 241,914 - - 128,990 370,904
Federal funds 23,855,788 1,275,610 - 109,405 25,240,803
Local funds 118,239 34,072 4,421 8,509 165,241
Investment earnings (losses) 66,533 3,288 2,786 (23,361) 49,246
Interest earnings on loans 68 - 69 1,147 1,284
Sales and services 176,861 3,345 - 160,560 340,766
Rental and lease of property 16,695 3,524 418 1,923 22,560
Fees, licenses, and fines 1,130,023 924,180 152,560 211,750 2,418,513
Tobacco settlement 171,585 - - - 171,585
Contributions, gifts, and grants 49,901 86,188 2,387 53,617 192,093
Funds escheated - - - 137,760 137,760
Federal COVID-19 funds 7,793,424 47,209 - 62,754 7,903,387
Miscellaneous 189,747 12,176 756 47,470 250,149
Total revenues 67,047,226 4,255,167 1,640,219 935,049 73,877,661
Expenditures
Current:
General government 3,028,140 - - 69,590 3,097,730
Primary and secondary education 15,491,013 - - - 15,491,013
Higher education 5,238,809 - - 238,094 5,476,903
Health and human services 30,758,970 - - 80,305 30,839,275
Economic development 439,026 - - 4,234 443,260
Environment and natural resources 564,575 - - 241,859 806,434
Public safety, corrections, and regulation 4,716,986 - - 274,902 4,991,888
Transportation - 4,188,128 2,000,842 - 6,188,970
Agriculture 263,605 - - 20,886 284,491
Capital outlay - - - 151,327 151,327
Debt service:
Principal retirement 683,355 116,791 49,795 2,927 852,868
Interest and fees 183,432 52,885 44,263 839 281,419
Debt issuance costs 439 - 466 - 905
Total expenditures 61,368,350 4,357,804 2,095,366 1,084,963 68,906,483
Excess revenues over (under) expenditures 5,678,876 (102,637) (455,147) (149,914) 4,971,178
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Special indebtedness issued - - 300,000 - 300,000
GARVEE bonds issued - 252,595 - - 252,595
Refunding bonds issued 132,025 - - - 132,025
Other debt issued 29,977 4,421 - 14 34,412
Premium on debt issued 26,218 53,561 34,013 - 113,792
Sale of capital assets 8,067 17,867 107 28,916 54,957
Insurance recoveries 1,469 12,862 - 12,649 26,980
Transfers in (Note 10) 1,186,212 368,914 - 274,290 1,829,416
Transfers out (Note 10) (596,640) (51,968) (89,978) (239,311) (977,897)
Total other financing sources (uses) 787,328 658,252 244,142 76,558 1,766,280
Net change in fund balances 6,466,204 555,615 (211,005) (73,356) 6,737,458
Fund balances — July 1, as restated (Note 23) 11,961,391 692,825 1,838,206 2,979,513 17,471,935
Fund balances — June 30 $ 18,427,595 $ 1,248,440 $ 1,627,201 $ 2,906,157 $ 24,209,393

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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State of North Carolina

June 30, 2022

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Exhibit B-2a

(Dollars in Thousands)
Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds (see Exhibit B-2)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities are different because:
— Capital outlays are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. However, in the
Statement of Activities, the cost of capital assets is allocated over their estimated
useful lives as depreciation expense. In the current period, these amounts are:
Capital outlays (including construction-in-progress and computer soft. in develop.) $ 4,334,182

Less: Depreciation expense (excluding internal service funds) (1,213,518)

Net capital outlay adjustment
— Proceeds from the sale of capital assets increase financial resources in the funds,
whereas in the Statement of Activities only the gain or loss on the sale is reported. This
adjustment reduces the proceeds by the book value of the capital assets sold.
— Donations of capital assets do not appear in the governmental funds because they
are not financial resources, but increase net position in the Statement of Activities.

— Pension Contributions (excluding internal service funds) to defined benefit
pension plans in the current fiscal year are not included on the Statement of Activities.

— OPEB Contributions (excluding internal service funds) to defined benefit
OPEB plans in the current fiscal year are not included on the Statement of Activities.

— Benefit payments to the special separation allowance defined benefit pension plan
in the current fiscal year are not included on the Statement of Activities (see Note 12).

— Long-term debt proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds,
while the repayment of the related debt principal consumes those financial resources.
These transactions, however, have no effect on net position. Also, governmental funds
report the effect of premiums and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these
amounts are deferred and amortized in the Statement of Activities. In the current period,
these amounts consist of:

Debt issued or incurred:

Bonds and similar debt issued (684,620)

Leases (excluding internal service funds) (34,412)

Premiums on debt issued (113,792)
Principal repayments:

Bonds, notes, and similar debt 809,946

Leases (excluding internal service funds) 42,922

Net debt adjustments

— Some revenues in the Statement of Activities do not provide current financial
resources and, therefore, are deferred inflows of resources in the funds.
Also, revenues related to prior periods that became available during the current period
are reported in the funds but are eliminated in the Statement of Activities. This amount
is the net adjustment.

— Change in equity interest of component unit resulting from changes in stockholder's
equity are not current financial resources, and therefore, are not recognized in the funds.

— Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of
current financial resources and, therefore, are not recognized in the funds. Also,
some payments related to prior periods are recognized in the funds but are eliminated
in the Statement of Activities. In the current period, the net adjustments consist of:

Accrued interest 4,419
Compensated absences (excluding internal service funds) 23,793
Workers' compensation (excluding internal service funds) 54,994
Pension expense (excluding internal service funds) (408,675)
OPEB expense (excluding internal service funds) 64,274
Pollution remediation 328
Amortization of deferred amounts 103,758

Net expense accruals

— Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain
activities to individual funds. The net revenues of internal service funds are
included with governmental activities in the Statement of Activities (see Exhibit B-4).

Change in net position - governmental activities (see Exhibit A-2)

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.

$ 6,737,458

3,120,664

(46,689)
5,197

685,532

284,217

19,567

20,044

(2,683)

5,086

(157,109)

4,621

$ 10,675,905
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State of North Carolina

June 30, 2022

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

June 30, 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3)
Investments (Note 3)
Securities lending collateral (Note 3)
Receivables: (Note 4)
Accounts receivable, net
Intergovernmental receivable
Interest receivable
Premiums receivable
Contributions receivable, net
Notes receivable
Lease receivable
Due from other funds (Note 10)
Inventories
Prepaid items
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (Note 3)
Total current assets

Noncurrent Assets

Investments (Note 3)

Notes receivable

Lease receivable

Prepaid items

Restricted/designated cash and cash equivalents (Note 3)

Restricted investments (Note 3)

Net OPEB asset

Capital assets-nondepreciable (Note 5)

Capital assets-depreciable, net (Note 5)
Total noncurrent assets
Total Assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred loss on refunding
Deferred outflows for pensions
Deferred outflows for OPEB
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll
Intergovernmental payable
Claims payable
Unemployment benefits payable
Obligations under securities lending
Interest payable
Due to fiduciary funds (Note 10)
Due to other funds (Note 10)
Due to component units (Note 18)
Unearned revenue
Deposits payable
Annuity and life income payable (Note 8)
Notes from direct borrowings (Note 8)
Lease liability (Note 8)
Bonds payable (Note 8)
Compensated absences (Note 8)
Workers' compensation (Note 8)
Total current liabilities

Business-type Activities —
Enterprise Funds

Unemployment

Compensation EPA Revolving N.C. State N.C. Turnpike
Fund Loan Fund Lottery Fund Authority

3,447,397 698,205 122,263 $ -
- 220,900 7,621 -
1,895 23,598 4,209 5,191
842,380 - 24,753 41,025
1,744 280 - 3,676
13,909 359 14 -
183,319 - - -
- 86,206 - -
28,475 2,115 - 1,129
- - - 914
- - - 49
4,519,119 1,031,663 158,860 51,984
- - 73,395 -
- 1,079,874 - -
- - 3,924 4,487
- - - 38,348
- - - 485,467
_ 4 17 2
- - - 1,254,255
- - 1,894 1,328,953
- 1,079,878 79,230 3,111,512
4,519,119 2,111,541 238,090 3,163,496
- - - 20,939
- 2,254 6,537 808
- 4,249 8,100 1,816
- 6,503 14,637 23,563
49,049 124 25,092 $ 16,866
- - 2,106 -
667,245 21,107 - 1,861
3,079 - - -
1,895 23,598 4,209 5,191
- - - 58,312
- - 441 -
661 - 127,834 69,881
2,552 - - 241
- - - 10,670
- - 7,621 -
- - - 36,994
- 89 345 32
- - 12 -
724,481 44,918 167,660 200,048
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State of North Carolina

June 30, 2022

Exhibit B-3
Governmental
Activities —
Other Total Internal
Enterprise Enterprise Service
Funds Funds Funds
$ 205,394 $ 4,473,259 133,868
128,166 356,687 26,070
3,055 37,948 715
1,222 909,380 42,503
3,001 8,701 -
542 14,824 10
2,156 2,156 83
- 183,319 -
- 86,206 -
1,545 1,545 -
1,966 33,685 14,777
456 1,370 233
20,600 20,649 17,517
2,161 2,161 -
370,264 6,131,890 235,776
27,908 101,303 -
249 1,080,123 -
4,180 4,180 -
67 8,478 -
71 38,419 -
- 485,467 -
26 49 74
15,193 1,269,448 3,396
76,171 1,407,018 145,669
123,865 4,394,485 149,139
494,129 10,526,375 384,915
- 20,939 -
11,493 21,092 38,577
17,458 31,623 86,472
28,951 73,654 125,049
$ 11,909 $ 103,040 18,875
147 2,253 5,689
- 690,213 -
29,373 29,373 3,137
- 3,079 -
3,055 37,948 715
- 58,312 -
- 441 -
2 198,378 6,751
- - 26,110
42,468 45,261 12,060
1,282 11,952 -
- 7,621 -
1,014 1,014 -
697 697 299
- 36,994 -
1,521 1,987 1,504
- 12 222
91,468 1,228,575 75,362
Continued
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State of North Carolina

June 30, 2022

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS (Continued)

June 30, 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

Noncurrent Liabilities

Accounts payable
Interest payable
Advances from other funds (Note 10)
Annuity and life income payable (Note 8)
Notes from direct borrowings (Note 8)
Lease liability (Note 8)
Bonds payable, net (Note 8)
Compensated absences (Note 8)
Workers' compensation (Note 8)
Net pension liability (Note 8)
Net OPERB liability (Note 8)

Total noncurrent liabilities

Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred gain on refunding
Deferred inflow for lease agreements
Deferred inflows for pensions
Deferred inflows for OPEB
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:
Expendable:
Economic development
Public safety, corrections, and regulation
Transportation
Debt service
Other purposes
Unrestricted
Total Net Position

Business-type Activities —
Enterprise Funds

Unemployment

Compensation EPA Revolving N.C. State N.C. Turnpike
Fund Loan Fund Lottery Fund Authority

- - - 75,899

- - - 30,424

- - 73,395 -

- - - 166,500

- - - 2,442,257

- 909 2,115 295

- 1,433 5,607 512

- 8,133 32,535 2,951

- 10,475 113,652 2,718,838

724,481 55,393 281,312 2,918,886

- - - 5,779

- 2,138 7,084 670

- 4,576 9,028 1,093

- 6,714 16,112 7,542

R - 1,894 422,924

- - - 2,878

- - - 197,963

- - 4 -
3,794,638 2,055,937 (46,595) (363,134)
3,794,638 2,055,937 $ (44,697) 260,631

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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June 30, 2022

Exhibit B-3

Governmental
Activities —
Other Total Internal
Enterprise Enterprise Service
Funds Funds Funds
2,163 2,163 -
- 75,899 -
- 30,424 -
- 73,395 -
18,613 185,113 -
2,188 2,188 1,229
- 2,442,257 -
7,154 10,473 16,970
33 33 1,505
8,869 16,421 25,105
44,047 87,666 139,824
83,067 2,926,032 184,633
174,535 4,154,607 259,995
- 5,779 -
5,648 5,648 R
11,846 21,738 32,278
26,106 40,803 44,635
43,600 73,968 76,913
68,835 493,653 147,571
1,583 1,583 -
1 1 -
- 2,878 -
- 197,963 -
2,065 2,069 -
232,461 5,673,307 25,485
304,945 6,371,454 173,056
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State of North Carolina June 30, 2022

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

Business-type Activities —
Enterprise Funds

Unemployment

Compensation EPA Revolving N.C. State N.C. Turnpike
Fund Loan Fund Lottery Fund Authority
Operating Revenues
Employer unemployment contributions $ 660,626 $ - $ - $ -
Federal funds 2,759 - - -
Sales and services - 7,940 3,887,004 815
Student tuition and fees, net - - - -
Interest earnings on loans - 11,479 - -
Rental and lease earnings - - - -
Fees, licenses, and fines - - 5,207 19,306
Toll revenues - - - 72,088
Insurance premiums - - - -
Miscellaneous - - 558 15,062
Total operating revenues 663,385 19,419 3,892,769 107,271
Operating Expenses
Personal services - 7,394 25,271 3,024
Supplies and materials - 161 2,339 36,399
Services - 1,525 382,435 13,403
Cost of goods sold - - - 934
Depreciation - - 461 29,684
Lottery prizes - - 2,543,961 -
Claims - - - -
Unemployment benefits 671,403 - - -
Insurance and bonding - - 192 -
Other - 481 5,211 25,021
Total operating expenses 671,403 9,561 2,959,870 108,465
Operating income (loss) (8,018) 9,858 932,899 (1,194)
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Noncapital grants - 71,912 - -
Noncapital gifts, net - - - -
Noncapital contributions - 49 197 18
Lease interest revenue - - - -
Investment earnings (losses) 52,302 (23,626) 213 19,537
Insurance recoveries - - - 288
Grants, aid, and subsidies - (27,863) - -
Gain (loss) on sale of equipment - - (372) -
Federal interest subsidy on debt - - - 4,016
Federal COVID-19 funds 572,579 - - -
Interest and fees - - - (101,576)
Miscellaneous (1,077) (23) 4) (111)
Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 623,804 20,449 34 (77,828)
Income (loss) before contributions and transfers 615,786 30,307 932,933 (79,022)
Capital contributions - - - 98
Transfers in (Note 10) 568 14,019 - 57,023
Transfers out (Note 10) - (134) (932,933) -
Change in net position 616,354 44,192 - (21,901)
Net position — July 1, as restated (Note 23) 3,178,284 2,011,745 (44,697) 282,532
Net position — June 30 $ 3,794,638 $ 2,055,937 $ (44,697) $ 260,631

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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June 30, 2022

Exhibit B-4

Governmental
Activities —
Other Total Internal
Enterprise Enterprise Service
Funds Funds Funds
$ - $ 660,626 $ -
- 2,759 -
1,879 3,897,638 454,652
21 21 -
- 11,479 -
8,044 8,044 -
174,599 199,112 4,648
- 72,088 -
22,765 22,765 34,713
1,328 16,948 372
208,636 4,891,480 494,385
92,207 127,896 254,682
3,965 42,864 18,871
54,219 451,582 129,264
535 1,469 269
5,264 35,409 23,230
- 2,543,961 -
14,288 14,288 12,042
- 671,403 -
23,315 23,507 33,231
8,970 39,683 22,263
202,763 3,952,062 493,852
5,873 939,418 533
281 72,193 -
2,763 2,763 -
253 517 846
144 144 -
(5,256) 43,170 (3,705)
20 308 14
- (27,863) -
1,318 946 5,464
- 4,016 -
- 572,579 -
(425) (102,001) (71)
(266) (1,481) 17
(1,168) 565,291 2,565
4,705 1,504,709 3,098
150 248 -
11,621 83,231 17,359
(3,206) (936,273) (15,836)
13,270 651,915 4,621
291,675 5,719,539 168,435
$ 304,945 $ 6,371,454 $ 173,056




State of North Carolina

June 30, 2022

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Receipts from customers
Receipts from federal agencies
Receipts from program loan - interest
Receipts from program loan - principal
Receipts from other funds
Payments to suppliers
Payments to employees
Payments for prizes, benefits, and claims
Payments for program loans issued
Payments to other funds
Other receipts
Other payments

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities

Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities
Grant receipts
Grants, aid, and subsidies
Federal aid - COVID-19
Noncapital contributions
Advances from other funds
Transfers from other funds
Transfers to other funds
Gifts
Insurance recoveries

Net cash provided by (used for)
noncapital financing activities

Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities

Acquisition and construction of capital assets
Proceeds from the sale of capital assets
Proceeds from capital debt
Transfers from other funds
Transfers to other funds
Capital contributions
Principal paid on capital debt
Interest paid on capital debt
Federal subsidy for interest on debt
Insurance recoveries
Proceeds from lease arrangements
Bond issuance costs
Net cash provided by (used for)
capital and related financing activities
Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Proceeds from the sales/maturities of non-State Treasurer

investments
Purchase of non-State Treasurer investments
Purchase into State Treasurer investment pool
Redemptions from State Treasurer investment pool
Investment earnings

Net cash provided by
investment activities

Business-type Activities —
Enterprise Funds

Unemployment

Compensation EPA Revolving N.C. State N.C. Turnpike
Fund Loan Fund Lottery Fund Authority
$ 632,939 $ 7,382 $ 3,617,776 69,341
2,887 - - -
- 11,479 - -
- 94,351 - -
(198) (2,125) (120,060) (60,088)
- (8,413) (29,205) (3,105)
(775,005) - (2,524,801) -
- (138,240) - -
70 - 218 16,428
(1,145) - 4) (13)
(140,452) (35,566) 943,924 22,563
- 71,912 - -
- (9,217) - -
704,048 - - -
- - - 69
568 14,019 - -
- (134) (1,040,172) -
342 - - -
704,958 76,580 (1,040,172) 69
- - (257) (266,054)
- - - 57,023
- - - 2,133
_ - - (42,122)
- - - (107,132)
- - - 4,016
- - - 288
- - - (99)
- - (257) (351,947)
- - - 926,164
_ - - (619,319)
55,078 1,097 200 26,450
55,078 1,097 200 333,295

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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State of North Carolina June 30, 2022

Exhibit B-5
Governmental
Activities —

Other Total Internal
Enterprise Enterprise Service
Funds Funds Funds

$ 202,232 $ 4,529,670 $ 25,856

- 2,887 -

- 11,479 -

- 94,351 -

- - 486,062

(92,514) (274,985) (196,713)

(93,795) (134,518) (251,030)

(12,090) (3,311,896) -

- (138,240) -

- - (15,236)

2,174 18,890 3,737

(16,890) (18,052) -

(10,883) 779,586 52,676

286 72,198 -

- (9,217) -

- 704,048 -

181 181 -

- 69 -

11,753 26,340 17,043

(2,413) (1,042,719) (15,835)

2,551 2,893 -

20 20 -

12,378 (246,187) 1,208

(3,298) (269,609) (23,100)

3,013 3,013 8,464

1,182 1,182 -

- 57,023 317

(793) (793) -

99 2,232 -

(1,722) (43,844) (299)

(416) (107,548) (71)

- 4,016 -

- 288 14

1,824 1,824 -

- (99) -

(111) (352,315) (14,675)

30,497 956,661 -

(43,135) (662,454) -

- - (20,000)

35,000 35,000 22,500

965 83,790 40

23,327 412,997 2,540

Continued
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State of North Carolina

June 30, 2022

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS (Continued)

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at July 1, as restated
Cash and cash equivalents at June 30

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash Provided

By Operating Activities
Operating income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)
to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Lease revenue (amortized deferred inflow for leases)
Management fees

Nonoperating miscellaneous and other income (expense)

Change in assets and deferred outflows:
Receivables
Intergovernmental receivables
Due from other funds
Inventories
Prepaid items
Net OPEB asset
Notes receivable
Deferred outflows for pensions
Deferred outflows for OPEB
Change in liabilities and deferred inflows:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to other funds
Due to component units
Due to fiduciary funds
Compensated absences
Workers' compensation
Unearned revenue
Net pension liability
Net OPEB liability
Deferred inflows for pensions
Deferred inflows for OPEB
Deposits payable
Net cash provided by (used for) operations

Noncash Investing, Capital, and Financing Activities
Noncash distributions from the State Treasurer

Bond Index External Investment Pool and/or other agents
Change in construction in progress as a result of accrual of

accounts payable

Capital asset writeoff

Assets acquired through the assumption of a liability
Change in fair value of investments

Increase in receivables related to nonoperating income
Change in securities lending collateral

Decrease in net OPEB liability related to
noncapital contributions

Business-type Activities —
Enterprise Funds

Unemployment

Compensation EPA Revolving N.C. State N.C. Turnpike
Fund Loan Fund Lottery Fund Authority
619,584 42,111 (96,305) 3,980
2,827,813 656,094 218,568 34,368
3,447,397 $ 698,205 122,263 $ 38,348
(8018) $ 9,858 932,899 $ (1,194)
R - 461 29,684
- - - (13)
(1,076) - (4 (111)
(490,191) - (8,235) (21,255)
- - - (988)
(5,326) (558) - (866)
- - - (513)
- - 1,216 -
- 6 31 3
- (43,890) - -
- (492) (728) (22)
- (1,612) (3,628) (128)
364,356 39 21,222 369
(197) - - 25,681
- - 63 (9,876)
- (68) (148) (57)
- - (43) -
- - - 241
- (1,567) (8,126) (758)
- 2,308 5,660 447
- 1,600 7,045 670
- (1,190) (3,761) (228)
- - - 1,477
(140,452) $ (35,566) 943,924 $ 22,563
- % (2,069) - $ -
R - - 11,974
- - (16) -
- - - 287
- (22,919) - (21,220)
- 243 13 -
1,895 23,591 4,206 5,183
- (49) 197 (18)
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State of North Carolina June 30, 2022

Exhibit B-5
Governmental
Activities —

Other Total Internal
Enterprise Enterprise Service
Funds Funds Funds

24,711 594,081 41,749

182,915 3,919,758 92,119

$ 207,626 $ 4,513,839 $ 133,868

$ 5873 $ 939,418 $ 533

5,264 35,409 23,230

(1,755) (1,755) -

- (13) -

184 (1,007) 18

1,830 (517,851) 17,105

- (988) -

617 (6,133) (434)

171 (342) (93)

(15,015) (13,799) (2,662)

49 89 129

- (43,890) -

(632) (1,874) 131

(3,246) (8,614) (2,091)

2,895 388,881 7,478

19 25,503 5,614

- - (3,488)

- (9,813) -

(165) (438) (388)

1 (42) 63

(5,574) (5,333) 1,286

(13,253) (23,704) (34,594)

763 9,178 26,282

11,275 20,590 31,386

(1,466) (6,645) (16,829)

1,282 2,759 -

$ (10,883) $ 779,586 $ 52,676

$ 1,844 3 (225) $ 523

- 11,974 -

329 313 -

11 298 346

(12,012) (56,151) (4,279)

83 339 10

3,054 37,929 213

(285) (155) (846)
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State of North Carolina

June 30, 2022

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

June 30, 2022

Exhibit B-6

(Dollars in Thousands)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3)
Investments (Note 3):
Corporate bonds
Corporate stocks
Certificates of deposit
Collective investment funds
State Treasurer investment pool
Unallocated insurance contracts
Synthetic guaranteed investment contracts
Non-State Treasurer pooled investments
Securities lending collateral (Note 3)
Receivables:
Taxes receivable
Accounts receivable
Other receivables
Intergovernmental receivable
Interest receivable
Contributions receivable
Due from other funds (Note 10)
Due from component units
Notes receivable
Sureties
Capital assets-nondepreciable
Total Assets

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:
Accounts payable
Intergovernmental payable
Benefits payable
Obligations under securities lending
Deposits payable
Funds held for others
Total Liabilities

Net Position

Restricted for:
Pension benefits
Other postemployment benefits
Other employment benefits
Pool participants

Individuals, organizations, and other
governments

Total Net Position

Custodial Funds

Pension External
and Other Private- Investment
Employee Purpose Pools and Other
Benefit Trust Investment Custodial
Trust Funds Account Funds
$ 1509641 @ $ 147,725  $ 5,572 1,749,189
- - - 124,483
- - - 43,342
- 44,502 - 400
42,720 - - -
111,735,263 - 1,690,835 -
248,085 - - -
2,094,529 - - -
13,982,421 - - -
1,149,787 3 33,800 17,906
- - - 296,000
32,020 - - 89,330
- - - 51
103 - - 1
884 - 677 15,923
201,416 - - -
100,208 - - 38,527
34,549 - - -
278,952 . . .
- 823,957 - 24,390
- - - 68
131,410,578 1,016,187 1,730,884 2,399,610
2,123 - 996 706
- - - 1,330,546
6,448 - - -
1,149,787 3 33,800 17,906
- - - 276
6,085 - - 1,256
1,164,443 3 34,796 1,350,690
124,719,910 - - -
3,088,485 - - -
2,437,740 - - -
i, - 1,232,438 -
- 1,016,184 463,650 1,048,920
$ 130,246,135 $ 1,016,184 $ 1,696,088 1,048,920

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Exhibit B-7

(Dollars in Thousands)

Custodial Funds

Pension and External
Other Investment
Employee Private- Pools and Other
Benefit Trust Purpose Trust Investment Custodial
Funds Funds Account Funds
Additions
Contributions:
Employer Contributions $ 5,170,647 $ -3 - -
Members Contributions 2,048,002 - - -
Trustee deposits - 201,735 - -
Other contributions 241,504 - - -
Total contributions 7,460,153 201,735 - -
Investment income:
Investment earnings (losses) (6,288,095) 175 (92,695) 306
Less investment expenses (597,881) - (158) 9)
Net investment income (loss) (6,885,976) 175 (92,853) 297
Pool share transactions:
Reinvestment of dividends - - (92,853) -
Net share purchases/(redemptions) - - 330,309 -
Net pool share transactions - - 237,456 -
Property tax collections for local governments - - - 1,167,266
Sales and use tax collections for local governments - - - 4,974,071
Participant deposits - - - 812,919
Child support deposits - - - 709,481
Federal COVID-19 funds - - - 352,692
Other additions:
Sales and services - - - 1,321
Fees, licenses, and fines 3,163 - - -
Interest earnings on loans 15,119 - - -
Miscellaneous 5,194 - - -
Total other additions 23,476 - - 1,321
Total additions 597,653 201,910 144,603 8,018,047
Deductions
Claims and benefits 7,941,070 - - -
Medical insurance premiums 1,044,104 - - -
Refund of contributions 199,597 - - -
Distributions paid and payable - - (92,853) -
Payments in accordance with trust arrangements - 164,729 - -
Payments of property tax to local governments - - - 1,167,220
Payments of sales and use tax to local governments - - - 4,974,071
Payments in accordance with custodial arrangements - - - 710,130
Payments in accordance with child support arrangements - - - 709,706
Payments of grants to local governments - - - 343,228
Payments of refunds to grantors - - - 9,464
Administrative expenses 34,338 - - 212
Other deductions 618 - - -
Total deductions 9,219,727 164,729 (92,853) 7,914,031
Change in net position (8,622,074) 37,181 237,456 104,016
Net position — July 1, as restated (Note 23) 138,868,209 979,003 1,458,632 944,904
Net position — June 30 $ 130,246,135 $ 1,016,184 $ 1,696,088 1,048,920

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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State of North Carolina June 30, 2022
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A. Financial Reporting Entity

The accompanying government-wide financial statements present the State of North Carolina and its component units. The State of North
Carolina, as primary government, consists of all organizations that make up its legal entity. All funds, organizations, agencies, boards,
commissions, and authorities that are not legally separate are, for financial reporting purposes, part of the primary government. The
primary government has a separately elected governing body (the General Assembly), and the primary government must be both legally
separate and fiscally independent. Component units are legally separate entities for which the State is financially accountable. The State’s
financial accountability is normally determined in one of two ways. First, the State has substantive appointment of a majority of the
organization's governing board plus the State is able to either impose its will upon the organization or there is a potential for the
organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on the State. Financial accountability also
exists when an organization is fiscally dependent on the State and there is a potential for the organization to provide specific financial
benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on the State.

The State’s defined benefit pension plans, deferred compensation plans, and other employee benefit plans are reported as fiduciary
component units in the State’s fiduciary fund financial statements.

The State’s non-fiduciary component units are discretely presented. The “Component Units” column in the accompanying financial
statements includes the financial data of the State’s discretely presented component units. They are combined and reported in a separate
column in the government-wide financial statements to emphasize their legal separateness from the State.

Fiduciary Component Units

Teachers’ and State Employees’ Retirement System

The Teachers’ and State Employees’ Retirement System (TSERS) pension plan is a legally separate entity established by the State
to provide pension benefits for general employees and law enforcement officers (LEOs) of the State, general employees and LEOs
of its component units, and employees of Local Education Agencies and eligible charter schools not in the reporting entity. The
TSERS plan is governed by a 13-member board, with eight appointed by the Governor, one appointed by the State Senate, one
appointed by the State House of Representatives, and the State Treasurer, the State Superintendent, and the Director of the Office
of State Human Resources who serve as ex officio members. The State is legally required to make contributions to the plan
creating a financial benefit/burden relationship.

Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement System

The Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement System (LGERS) pension plan is a legally separate entity established by the
State to provide benefits for employees of participating local governments. The LGERS plan is governed by a 13-member board,
with nine appointed by the Governor, one appointed by the State Senate, one appointed by the State House of Representatives, and
the State Treasurer and State Superintendent who serve as ex officio members. The State can impose its will on the LGERS plan.

Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund

The Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund (FRSWPF) is a legally separate entity established by the State to
provide pension benefits for all eligible firefighters and rescue squad workers. The FRSWPF is governed by the LGERS Board of
Trustees. The State is legally obligated to contribute to the plan creating a financial benefit/burden relationship.

Register of Deeds’ Supplemental Pension Fund

The Register of Deeds’ Supplemental Pension Fund (RODSPF) is a legally separate entity established by the State to provide
supplemental pension benefits for all eligible, retired county registers of deeds. The RODSPF is governed by the LGERS Board of
Trustees. The State can impose its will on the RODSPF.

Consolidated Judicial Retirement System

The Consolidated Judicial Retirement System (CJRS) pension plan is a legally separate entity established by the State to provide
pension benefits for eligible employees of the State Judicial System. The CJRS is governed by the TSERS Board of Trustees. The
State is legally required to make contributions to the plan creating a financial benefit/burden relationship.

78



State of North Carolina June 30, 2022
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Legislative Retirement System

The Legislative Retirement System (LRS) pension plan is a legally separate entity established by the State to provide retirement
and disability benefits for members of the General Assembly. The LRS is governed by the TSERS Board of Trustees. The State is
required to make contributions to the plan creating a financial benefit/burden relationship.

North Carolina National Guard Pension Fund

The North Carolina National Guard Pension Fund (NGPF) is a legally separate entity established by the State to provide pension
benefits for members of the North Carolina National Guard. The NGPF is governed by the TSERS Board of Trustees. The State is
legally obligated to make contributions to the plan creating a financial benefit/burden relationship.

Retiree Health Benefit Fund

The Retiree Health Benefit Fund (RHBF) is a legally separate entity in which the State is currently funding on a pay-as-you-go
basis with appropriated contributions matching benefit payments, creating a financial benefit/burden relationship. The RHBF is a
cost-sharing, multiple-employer, defined benefit healthcare plan, exclusively for the benefit of former employees of the State, the
University of North Carolina System, community colleges, Local Education Agencies, charter schools and select local
governments. Retiree health benefit programs and premiums are determined by the State Health Plan Board of Trustees. The State
Health Plan Board of Trustees consists of 10 members — two appointed by the Governor, two appointed by the State Treasurer, two
appointed by the state Senate, two appointed by the state House of Representatives, and State Treasurer and the Director of State
Budget and Management who serve as ex officio members.

Disability Income Plan of North Carolina

The Disability Income Plan of North Carolina (DIPNC) is a legally separate entity in which the State is legally required to make
contributions towards creating a financial benefit/burden relationship. DIPNC is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit
plan for eligible members of TSERS providing other post-employment (OPEB) benefits. The plan provides extended short-term
and long-term disability income benefits to eligible members. DIPNC is governed by the Department of State Treasurer and the
TSERS Board of Trustees.

Death Benefit Plan

The Death Benefit Plan consists of the TSERS death benefit plan, the LGERS death benefit plan, separate insurance benefits plan
for law enforcement officers, and the retirees’ contributory death benefit plan which are legally separate. The Plan provides a
group life insurance option to members of the TSERS, LGERS, CJRS, and LRS. The Death Benefit Plan is governed by the
TSERS and LGERS Boards of Trustees. The State can impose its will on the Plan. The Plan’s assets are administered through a
trust committed to providing benefits to recipients and the assets are protected from creditors.

Supplemental Retirement Income Plan

The Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina (401(k) Plan) is a State-sponsored, qualified defined contribution
pension plan under Internal Revenue Code (Code) Section 401(k) that is available to members of TSERS, LGERS, CJRS, LRS,
and certain other governmental defined benefit plans, as well as state and local law enforcement officers and others eligible under
the Code and is a legally separate entity. The 401(k) Plan is governed by the Department of State Treasurer and the Supplemental
Retirement Board of Trustees (Board), a nine-member board, with six members appointed by the Governor, one appointed by the
State Senate, and one appointed by the State House of Representatives. The State Treasurer serves as an ex officio member and
chair of the Board. The State can impose its will on the 401(k) Plan.

Public Employee Deferred Compensation Plan

The North Carolina Public Employee Deferred Compensation Plan (457 Plan) is a State-sponsored, eligible defined contribution
plan under Code Section 457(b) that is available to the employees of the State and participating local governmental entities. The
457 Plan is a legally separate entity and is governed by the Department of State Treasurer and the Supplemental Retirement Board
of Trustees. The State can impose its will on the 457 Plan. The 457 Plan’s assets are administered through a trust committed to
providing benefits to recipients and the assets are protected from creditors.
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Discretely Presented Component Units - Major

University of North Carolina System

The Board of Governors of the consolidated University of North Carolina (UNC) System is a legally separate body, composed of 24
members elected by the General Assembly. The Board of Governors establishes system-wide administrative policies while budgetary
decisions are exercised at the State level. Within the consolidated System are UNC System Office, which is the administrative arm of the
Board of Governors; the 16 constituent universities; a joint research campus; a constituent high school; an arboretum; and the University
of North Carolina Health Care System (UNCHCS). Each of the 16 universities, the joint research campus, and the high school, in turn, is
governed by its own separate board of trustees that is responsible for the operations of that campus only. The arboretum and the
UNCHCS are each governed by its own separate board of directors. Funding for the UNC System is accomplished by State
appropriations, tuition and fees, sales and services, federal grants, state grants, and private donations and grants.

Also included in the System are the financial data of the universities’ significant fund-raising foundations (and similar organizations).
Although the universities do not control the timing or amount of receipts from their foundations, the majority of resources (or income
thereon) that the foundations hold and invest are restricted to the activities of the respective universities by the donors. Because these
restricted resources held by the foundations can only be used by, or for the benefit of, the specific universities, the foundations are
considered component units of the universities and are included in the universities’ financial statements. Certain foundations are private
not-for-profits that report under Financial Accounting Standards Board pronouncements. As such, certain revenue recognition criteria and
presentation features are different from that of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. The financial statement formats of the
private foundations were modified to make them compatible with the universities’ financial statement formats.

The following constituent institutions comprise the UNC System for financial reporting purposes:

UNC System Office University of North Carolina School of the Arts
Appalachian State University Western Carolina University

East Carolina University Winston-Salem State University

Elizabeth City State University Gateway Research Park, Inc.

Fayetteville State University North Carolina School of Science and Mathematics
North Carolina Agricultural and Technical State University North Carolina Arboretum

North Carolina Central University University of North Carolina Health Care System

North Carolina State University

University of North Carolina at Asheville
University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill
University of North Carolina at Charlotte
University of North Carolina at Greensboro
University of North Carolina at Pembroke
University of North Carolina at Wilmington

Community Colleges

There are currently 58 community colleges located throughout the State of North Carolina. Each is a separate component unit of the
reporting entity and is legally separate. The State does not appoint a voting majority of each community college board of trustees.
However, the State is financially accountable for these institutions because the State Board of Community Colleges (the Board) approves
the budgeting of state and federal funds, the associated budget revisions, and the selection of the chief administrative officer of each
individual community college and because the State provides significant funding to these institutions. The Board is comprised of state
officials or their appointees. Each community college is similar in nature and function to all of the others, and the operations of no single
community college are considered major in relation to the operations of all community colleges in the system. Therefore, aggregated
financial information is presented in this ACFR for all community colleges.

The aggregated financial information for community colleges also includes the financial data of the institutions’ significant fund-raising
foundations. Although the community colleges do not control the timing or amount of receipts from their foundations, the majority of
resources (or income thereon) that the foundations hold and invest are restricted to the activities of the respective community colleges by
the donors. Because these restricted resources held by the foundations can only be used by, or for the benefit of, the specific community
colleges, the foundations are considered component units of the community colleges and are included in the community colleges’
financial statements. Certain foundations are private not-for-profits that report under Financial Accounting Standards Board
pronouncements. As such, certain revenue recognition criteria and presentation features are different from that of the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board. The financial statement formats of the private foundations were modified to make them compatible with the
community colleges’ financial statement formats.
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The following are the State’s 58 community colleges:

Alamance Community College
Asheville-Buncombe Technical Community College
Beaufort County Community College
Bladen Community College

Blue Ridge Community College
Brunswick Community College

Caldwell Community College and Technical Institute
Cape Fear Community College

Carteret Community College

Catawba Valley Community College
Central Carolina Community College
Central Piedmont Community College
Cleveland Community College

Coastal Carolina Community College
College of The Albemarle

Craven Community College
Davidson-Davie Community College
Durham Technical Community College
Edgecombe Community College
Fayetteville Technical Community College
Forsyth Technical Community College
Gaston College

Guilford Technical Community College
Halifax Community College

Haywood Community College

Isothermal Community College

James Sprunt Community College
Johnston Community College

Lenoir Community College

Martin Community College

Mayland Community College
McDowell Technical Community College
Mitchell Community College
Montgomery Community College
Nash Community College

Pamlico Community College
Piedmont Community College

Pitt Community College

Randolph Community College
Richmond Community College
Roanoke-Chowan Community College
Robeson Community College
Rockingham Community College
Rowan-Cabarrus Community College
Sampson Community College
Sandhills Community College

South Piedmont Community College
Southeastern Community College
Southwestern Community College
Stanly Community College

Surry Community College

Tri-County Community College
Vance-Granville Community College
Wake Technical Community College
Wayne Community College

Western Piedmont Community College
Wilkes Community College

Wilson Community College

State Health Plan

The State Health Plan (Plan) is a legally separate organization established to provide medical and pharmacy benefits to employees and
retirees of the State, most of its component units, and local boards of education that are not part of the reporting entity. The Plan is
governed by a ten-member board of trustees including the State Treasurer, an ex officio member who serves as chair and votes only in the
event of a tie; the Director of the Office of State Budget and Management, a non-voting, ex officio member; two members appointed by
the Governor; two members appointed by the State Treasurer; and four members appointed by the General Assembly. Health benefit
programs and premium rates are recommended by the State Treasurer and approved by the board of trustees. The State of North Carolina
makes significant contributions to the Plan as an employer.

Discretely Presented Component Units - Other

The Golden LEAF (Long-term Economic Advancement Foundation), Inc.

The Golden LEAF, Inc. (Foundation) is a legally separate not-for-profit corporation ordered to be created by the Consent Decree and
Final Judgment in the State of North Carolina vs. Philip Morris, et al. The Foundation was established to receive and distribute 50% of
the tobacco settlement funds allocated to North Carolina, such funds to be used to provide economic impact assistance to economically
affected or tobacco-dependent regions of North Carolina. The 2013 General Assembly enacted legislation repealing the requirement for
50% of tobacco settlement funds to be allocated to the Foundation. In fiscal years 2014 and 2015, these funds were distributed to the
State’s General Fund rather than the Foundation. The 2015 General Assembly enacted legislation providing for the appropriation of $10
million of tobacco settlement funds to the Foundation each year. The 2017 General Assembly enacted legislation increasing the annual
appropriation to $17.5 million. The Foundation is governed by a 15-member board, all of whom are appointed by either the Governor,
President Pro Tempore of the Senate, or the Speaker of the House. The Foundation provides grants to State agencies and component
units, creating a financial benefit/burden relationship.
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North Carolina Housing Finance Agency

The North Carolina Housing Finance Agency (Agency) is a legally separate organization established to administer programs to finance
housing opportunities for low- and moderate-income individuals. The Agency has a 13-member board of directors, with 12 appointed by
either the Governor or the General Assembly. The 13th member is elected by the other 12. The Agency’s mission is defined in its
authorizing statute, which is modified or expanded from time to time by the General Assembly. The General Assembly also appropriates
funds that assist the Agency in its mission to finance housing for very low-income individuals and those with special needs; therefore, a
financial benefit/burden relationship exists between the State and the Agency.

State Education Assistance Authority

The State Education Assistance Authority (Authority) is a legally separate authority created to provide a system of financial assistance,
consisting of grants, loans, work-study or other employment, and other aids, to qualified students to obtain an education by attending
public or private educational institutions. The Authority is governed by a nine-member board of directors, four of whom are appointed by
the Governor, three of whom are appointed by the UNC Board of Governors, and two of whom serve ex officio by virtue of their
positions with the North Carolina Community College System and the University of North Carolina System. The State provides program
subsidies to the Authority; therefore, a financial benefit/burden relationship exists between the State and the Authority.

North Carolina Global TransPark Authority

The North Carolina Global TransPark Authority (Authority) is a legally separate authority created to administer the development of the
North Carolina Global TransPark. Of the 20-member governing board, 19 are voting members. Six of the voting members are appointed
by the Governor and six are appointed by the General Assembly. The State has obligated itself to provide significant funding to the
Authority; therefore, a financial benefit/burden relationship exists between the State and the Authority. Effective July 2011, the General
Assembly enacted legislation that made the Authority subject to the direction and supervision of the North Carolina Secretary of
Transportation. Also included in the Authority is the financial data of its discretely presented component unit, the North Carolina Global
TransPark Foundation.

North Carolina State Ports Authority

The North Carolina State Ports Authority (Authority) is a legally separate authority established to operate the State's port facilities in
Wilmington and Morehead City and an inland terminal in Charlotte. It is governed by an 11-member board, all of whom are appointed by
either the Governor or the General Assembly. The State has obligated itself to provide significant funding to the Authority; therefore, a
financial benefit/burden relationship exists between the State and the Authority. Effective July 2011, the General Assembly enacted
legislation that made the Authority subject to and under the direct supervision of the North Carolina Secretary of Transportation.

North Carolina Railroad Company

The North Carolina Railroad Company (Railroad) is a legally separate, for-profit corporation owned by the State for the purpose of
promoting trade, industry, and transportation within North Carolina and advancing the economic interests of the State. The Railroad is
governed by a 13-member board, all of whom are elected by shares held by the State. A financial benefit/burden relationship exists
between the State and the Railroad. Also, the State is financially accountable since the State’s intent in owning the Railroad’s stock is to
directly enhance the State’s ability to provide governmental services.

The North Carolina Partnership for Children, Inc.

The North Carolina Partnership for Children, Inc. (Partnership) is a legally separate organization established to develop and oversee a
comprehensive long-range strategic plan for high-quality early childhood education and development. A 26-member board governs the
Partnership. Certain elected state officials appoint 22 of the members, while three members serve ex officio by virtue of their state
positions, and one serves as the Director of the North Carolina Pre-Kindergarten Program. The State provides significant operating
subsidies to the Partnership, creating a financial benefit/burden relationship.

North Carolina Biotechnology Center

The North Carolina Biotechnology Center (NCBiotech) is a legally separate nonprofit corporation established for the purpose of
furthering economic development and job creation in North Carolina through life science technology, company, and sector development
statewide. NCBiotech is governed by a 40-member board. Twelve of the board members are appointed by the Governor or General
Assembly; four serve as a result of their positions with the UNC System, a component unit of the State; two serve ex officio by virtue of
their state positions; and two serve ex officio by virtue of their positions with private universities. The President of NCBiotech serves as
an ex officio member. The other members are elected by the board of directors. The State has provided significant funding to NCBiotech
since its inception; therefore, a financial benefit/burden relationship exists between the State and NCBiotech.

Centennial Authority

The Centennial Authority (Authority) is a legally separate authority created to study, design, plan, construct, own, promote, finance, and
operate a regional facility in Wake County, North Carolina. The regional facility consists of an arena where sports, fitness, health,
recreational, entertainment or cultural activities can be conducted. The Authority is governed by a 21-member board comprised of ten
members appointed by the General Assembly, four members appointed by the Wake County Board of Commissioners, four members
appointed by the Raleigh City Council, one member appointed by the Chancellor of North Carolina State University or the Chancellor’s
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designee, and two members appointed jointly by the mayors of all the cities in Wake County. The facility is located on land owned by the
State and leased to the Authority at an annual rent of $1 per year. Therefore, a financial benefit/burden relationship exists between the
State and the Authority.

Economic Development Partnership of North Carolina

Economic Development Partnership of North Carolina (EDPNC) is a legally separate nonprofit corporation created to consolidate and
enhance the State’s economic development marketing and sales functions previously conducted by the North Carolina Department of
Commerce. These functions include export promotion, tourism marketing, existing industry support, small business assistance, and
business recruitment. EDPNC is governed by an 18-member board comprised of nine members appointed by the Governor and eight
members appointed by the General Assembly, and the Secretary of the North Carolina Department of Commerce as an ex officio
member. The State has the ability to remove board members at will. The State’s contract with EDPNC provides recurring financial
support to EDPNC, creating a financial benefit/burden relationship.

Availability of Financial Statements

Complete financial statements for the Supplemental Retirement Plan of North Carolina (the 401(k) Plan) and the North Carolina Public
Employee Deferred Compensation Plan (the 457 Plan) can be obtained from the North Carolina Department of State Treasurer, 3200
Atlantic Avenue, Raleigh, NC 27604.

Unless otherwise noted, complete financial statements for the following component units can be obtained from the Office of the State
Auditor, 2 South Salisbury Street, 20601 Mail Service Center, Raleigh, NC 27699-0600 or can be accessed from the Office of the State
Auditor internet home page at https://www.auditor.nc.gov.

Constituent institutions in the UNC System (excluding Gateway Research Park, Inc., North Carolina Arboretum, and University of North
Carolina Health Care System)

North Carolina Global TransPark Authority

North Carolina State Ports Authority

The North Carolina Partnership for Children, Inc.

Complete financial statements for the following component units can be obtained from the respective administrative offices of those units
listed below:

The Golden LEAF, Inc. North Carolina Railroad Company Gateway Research Park, Inc.
301 North Winstead Avenue 2809 Highwoods Boulevard 2901 East Gate City Boulevard Ste 2500
Rocky Mount, NC 27804 Raleigh, NC 27604-1000 Greensboro, NC 27401-4904
North Carolina Housing Finance Agency North Carolina Biotechnology Center Economic Development Partnership of
P.O. Box 28066 P.O. Box 13547 North Carolina
Raleigh, NC 27611-8066 Research Triangle Park, NC 27709-3547 150 Fayetteville St. Suite 1200
Raleigh, NC 27601
State Education Assistance Authority Centennial Authority
P.O. Box 14103 1400 Edwards Mill Road

Research Triangle Park, NC 27709-4103 Raleigh, NC 27607

Complete financial statements of the individual community colleges can be obtained from their respective administrative offices. The
addresses of the individual community colleges are available on the internet home page for the North Carolina Community College
System as follows: https://www.nccommunitycolleges.edu (click “Find a College”). The State’s defined pension plans, other employee
benefit plans, State Health Plan, North Carolina Arboretum, and the University of North Carolina Health Care System do not issue
separate financial statements.
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B. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial statements of the State of North Carolina financial reporting entity have been prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (GAAP) as applicable to governments. The Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) establishes standards of financial accounting and reporting for state and local governmental
entities. The financial statements of the North Carolina Railroad Company, a for-profit corporation, and the North Carolina
Biotechnology Center (discretely presented component units) have been prepared in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) pronouncements.

The financial statements are presented as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, except for the USS North Carolina Battleship
Commission whose statements are as of and for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021, and the North Carolina Deferred
Compensation Plan (the 457 Plan), the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina (the 401(k) Plan), and the North Carolina
Railroad Company whose statements are as of and for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. Occupational licensing boards have
financial statements with various fiscal year ending dates.

The basic financial statements include both government-wide (based on the State as a whole) and fund financial statements as follows:
Government-wide Financial Statements

The statement of net position and the statement of activities display information on all the non-fiduciary activities of the primary
government (the State) and its component units. Fiduciary activities are excluded from the government-wide statements because they
cannot be used to support the State’s own programs. As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the
government-wide financial statements. Exceptions to this general rule are interfund services provided and used between functions.
Elimination of these charges would misstate both the expenses of the purchasing function and the program revenues of the selling
function. These statements distinguish between the governmental and business-type activities of the State. Governmental activities
generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange transactions. Business-type activities are
financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties. Likewise, the primary government is reported separately from certain
legally separate component units for which the primary government is financially accountable.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or identifiable activity are offset by
program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly associated with a specific function or identifiable activity. Certain charges to
other funds or programs for “centralized” expenses also include an overhead markup that is included in direct expenses. Program
revenues include (a) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided
by a given function or identifiable activity (including fees, fines and forfeitures and certain grants and contracts that are essentially
contracts for services) and (b) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular
program or identifiable activity (including restricted investment earnings or losses). Revenues that are not classified as program revenues,
including all taxes, are presented as general revenues. Unrestricted resources internally dedicated by the State’s governing body (General
Assembly) are reported as general revenues rather than as program revenues. The State does not allocate general government (indirect)
expenses to other functions.

Fund Financial Statements

The fund financial statements provide information about the State's funds, including its fiduciary funds. Separate statements for each fund
category—governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary—are presented. The emphasis of fund financial statements is on major governmental
and major enterprise funds, each displayed in a separate column. All remaining governmental and enterprise funds are aggregated and
reported as nonmajor funds.

The State reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund
This is the State’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the general government, except those accounted
for in another fund.

Highway Fund

This fund accounts for most of the activities of the Department of Transportation, including the maintenance and some construction of
the State’s primary and secondary road systems. In addition, it supports areas such as the North Carolina Ferry System, the Division
of Motor Vehicles, public transportation, and railroad operations. The principal revenues of the Highway Fund are motor fuels taxes,
motor vehicle registration fees, driver's license fees, and federal aid. A portion of the motor fuels taxes is distributed to municipalities
for local transportation projects.
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Highway Trust Fund

This fund was established by legislation (Chapter 692 of the 1989 Session Laws) to provide a dedicated funding mechanism to meet
highway construction needs for North Carolina. Taxes were increased for the specific purpose of improving identified primary
transportation corridors within the State and for the completion of urban loops around seven major metropolitan areas. The fund
makes transfers to the General Fund, the Highway Fund, and the North Carolina Turnpike Authority. The fund also provides revenue
to the North Carolina State Ports Authority to support modernization initiatives. Session Law 2013-183 amends the Highway Trust
Fund allocation of resources. It eliminates individually legislated projects and implements a new way for the Department of
Transportation to fund and prioritize necessary infrastructure improvements while utilizing existing revenue sources more efficiently.
In June 2015, the Board of Transportation approved the 10-year State Transportation Improvement Program, fully implementing the
new legislation. The principal revenues of the Highway Trust Fund are highway use taxes, motor fuels taxes, and various title and
registration fees.

The State reports the following major enterprise funds:

Unemployment Compensation Fund

This fund accounts for the State’s unemployment insurance program, which is part of a national system established to provide
temporary benefit payments to eligible unemployed workers. The administrative costs of this program are reported in the General
Fund and financed through the distribution of employer paid federal unemployment insurance taxes. The state unemployment taxes
collected from employers are transferred to the United States Treasury and deposited into North Carolina’s Unemployment Insurance
Trust Fund. State unemployment benefits are financed by the employer paid state unemployment insurance taxes. Certain
unemployment benefits for civilian and military employees are paid through the trust fund but reimbursed from federal funds. In
addition, when triggered, some extended benefits and emergency related benefits are also reimbursed from federal funds.

North Carolina State Lottery Fund

This fund accounts for the activities of the North Carolina Education Lottery Commission. The North Carolina Education Lottery
Commission was created as an independent, self-supporting, and revenue raising entity. The purpose of the lottery is to generate funds
to provide educational opportunities as directed by the General Assembly. The net profits of the fund are transferred periodically to
the General Fund as required by general statutes.

EPA Revolving Loan Fund

This fund accounts for the activities of the State’s clean water and drinking water revolving loan programs, which provide low cost
loans to units of local government for the construction of wastewater facilities and drinking water infrastructure. These programs are
financed primarily by federal capitalization grants from the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), interest earnings
on loans, loan repayments, and state funds (i.e., bond proceeds and State appropriations).

North Carolina Turnpike Authority

This fund accounts for the activities of the North Carolina Turnpike Authority (Authority), which was created to study, design, plan,
construct, finance, and operate a system of toll roads, bridges, and/or tunnels supplementing the traditional non-toll transportation
serving the citizens of the State. Effective July 2009, the General Assembly enacted legislation that transferred the functions and funds
of the Authority to the Department of Transportation.

Additionally, the State reports the following fund types:

Internal Service Funds

These funds account for state property fire insurance coverages, motor fleet management services, mail services, temporary staffing
services, computing and telecommunication services, and surplus property services provided to other departments or agencies of the
State and its component units, or to other governments, on a cost-reimbursement basis.

Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds

These funds account for resources held in trust for the members and beneficiaries of the State’s defined benefit pension plans, defined
contribution pension plans, Internal Revenue Code Section 457 plan, death benefit plan, disability income plan, and retiree health
benefit fund.

Private-purpose Trust Funds
These funds account for resources held in trust for insurance carriers, and designated beneficiaries by the Administrative Office of the
Courts.
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Custodial Funds

These funds account for resources held by the State in a purely custodial capacity for individuals, private organizations, or other
governments. This includes sales tax and vehicle tax collections held on behalf of local governments, resources held by the
Administrative Office of the Courts for distribution to designated beneficiaries, and insurance company receivership assets, held by
the Commissioner of Insurance exclusively in his capacity as Receiver. Custodial funds include the external portions of investment
pools sponsored by the Department of State Treasurer and individual investment accounts held by the Department of State Treasurer.
Resources are also held by the State for Local Fiscal Recovery under the federal American Rescue Plan Act, the Swain County
Settlement with the federal government, and other Departmental funds.

C. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting
Government-wide, Proprietary, and Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements

The government-wide, proprietary, and fiduciary fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus
and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred,
regardless of the timing of related cash flows.

Lottery games are sold to the public by contracted retailers. For the North Carolina Education Lottery Commission’s Fast Play and draw
games, POWERBALL, Mega Millions, Carolina Cash 5, Carolina Pick 4, Carolina Pick 3, EZ Match, Lucky for Life, and Keno, revenue
is recognized at the time of sale on a daily basis. For instant games, revenue is recognized at the time a pack of tickets is settled. For
POWERBALL, Mega Millions, Carolina Cash 5, Carolina Pick 4, Carolina Pick 3, and Lucky for Life, prize expense is recorded at 50%
of sales on a daily basis. EZ Match is recorded at 63.36% of sales on a daily basis. Keno is recorded at 65.73% of sales on a daily basis.
Fast Play prize expense is recorded daily based on each game’s particular prize structure percentage. For instant games, prize expense is
accrued based on the final production prize structure percentage provided by the gaming vendor for each game and recorded daily on the
value of packs settled. For the instant games with prize tickets, the final prize structure percentage used is adjusted to eliminate the value
of the prize tickets. Prize expense for merchandise prizes is recognized as prizes are fulfilled.

Nonexchange transactions, in which the State receives (or gives) value without directly giving (or receiving) equal value in exchange,
include taxes, fines and forfeitures, grants (and similar assistance), entitlements, and donations. Recognition standards are based on the
characteristics and classes of nonexchange transactions. Income taxes, sales taxes, and other similar taxes on earnings or consumption are
recognized as revenues, net of estimated refunds and uncollectible amounts, in the accounting period when the underlying exchange
transaction has occurred. Franchise taxes, other taxes, and fines and forfeitures are recognized as revenues, net of estimated refunds and
uncollectible amounts, in the accounting period when an enforceable legal claim to the assets arises and the use of resources is required or
is first permitted. Grants (and similar assistance), entitlements, and donations are recognized by providers as expenses and by recipients
as revenues (net of estimated uncollectible amounts), when all applicable eligibility requirements, including time requirements, are met.
Resources transmitted before the eligibility requirements are met (excluding time requirements) are reported as assets by the provider and
as liabilities by the recipient. Resources received or recognized as a receivable before time requirements are met, but after all other
eligibility requirements have been met, are reported as a deferred outflow of resources by the provider and a deferred inflow of resources
by the recipient.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

Governmental funds are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.
With this measurement focus, only current assets and liabilities are generally included on the balance sheet. The operating statement
presents increases (revenues and other financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and other financing uses) in spendable resources.
General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures and proceeds of general long-term debt are reported as other financing
sources.

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when both measurable and available. Generally, the State
considers revenues reported in the governmental funds to be available if they are collected within 31 days after year-end. Exceptions are
individual income tax revenues and federal and county funds accrued for the matching share of medicaid claims payable, which the State
considers to be available if they are collected within 12 months after year-end. Furthermore, in the circumstance where underpayments
exceed overpayments, individual income tax revenues are recognized to the extent of estimated overpayments (i.e., refunds payable and
applied refunds). Principal revenue sources considered susceptible to accrual include taxes, federal funds, local funds, and investment
earnings. Other revenues are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the State.

Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on general long-term debt, claims
and judgments, compensated absences, obligations for workers’ compensation, pollution remediation, and arbitrage rebate liabilities,
which are recognized as expenditures when payment is due. Pension and other postemployment benefit contributions to cost-sharing
plans are recognized as expenditures in the period to which the payment relates, even if payment is not due until the subsequent period.
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D. Cash and Cash Equivalents

This classification includes undeposited receipts; petty cash; deposits held by the State Treasurer in the Short-term Investment Fund, a
portfolio within the North Carolina Department of State Treasurer External Investment Pool (External Investment Pool); demand and
time deposits with private financial institutions, excluding certificates of deposit; and deposits with the United States Treasury. The Short-
term Investment Fund maintained by the State Treasurer has the general characteristics of a demand deposit account in that participants
may deposit additional cash at any time and also may withdraw cash at any time without prior notice or penalty.

E. Investments

This classification includes deposits held by the State Treasurer in certain investment portfolios (see Note 3A) as well as investments held
separately by the State and its component units. Investments are generally reported at fair value, with significant exceptions as follows.
Repurchase agreements and certain money market mutual funds are reported at cost. Fully benefit responsive synthetic guaranteed
investment contracts and unallocated insurance contracts that are nonparticipating interest-earning investment contracts are reported at
contract value.

The net increase (decrease) in the fair value of investments is recognized as a component of investment income. Additional information
regarding investments is provided in Note 3.

F. Securities Lending

Cash received as collateral on securities lending transactions is used to purchase investments. These investments are reported as assets in
the accompanying financial statements and are generally measured at fair value with the exception of repurchase agreements, which are
reported at cost. A corresponding liability is also reported for the amount owed to the broker at the termination of the lending agreement.

G. Receivables and Payables

Receivables in all funds represent amounts that have arisen in the ordinary course of business and are shown net of allowances for
uncollectible amounts.

Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are referred to
as either “due to/due from other funds” (i.e., current portion of interfund loans) or “advances to/from other funds” (i.e., the non-current
portion of interfund loans except “advances to outside entities”). Coronavirus relief funds were advanced to entities outside the State’s
financial reporting entity. These current advances are classified as “advances to outside entities.” All other outstanding balances between
funds related to services provided and used, reimbursements, and transfers are classified as “due to/due from other funds.” Any residual
balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial
statements as “internal balances.”

H. Inventories and Prepaid Items

The inventories of the State and component units are valued at cost using either the first-in, first-out (FIFO); last invoice cost; or average
cost method. These inventories consist of general supplies and materials. Institutions of the UNC System and community colleges also
use these valuations along with the retail inventory method for some bookstore operations. The State Highway Fund accounts for its
maintenance and construction inventories using the average cost method. Inventories of governmental funds are recorded as expenditures
when consumed rather than when purchased. Prepaid items of governmental funds are recorded as expenditures when purchased, and
balances of prepaid items are not reported as assets.

I. Securities Held in Trust

Securities held in trust include various assets, including securities from insurance companies and bail bondsmen doing business within
North Carolina. These securities have been placed in safekeeping with a financial institution or the State Treasurer, as required by
applicable general statutes.
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J. Restricted/Designated Assets

In the government-wide and enterprise fund financial statements, certain resources are reported as restricted assets because restrictions on
asset use change the nature or normal understanding of the availability of the asset. The following resources are not available for current
operations and are reported as restricted assets: 1) resources restricted for the acquisition/construction of the government’s own capital
assets, 2) resources legally segregated for the payment of principal and interest as required by debt covenants, 3) temporarily invested
debt proceeds, and 4) nonexpendable resources of permanent funds. This financial statement caption also includes resources designated
by management for the acquisition/construction of the government’s own capital assets and thus not available for current operations.

K. Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment; easements; and infrastructure assets (e.g., State highway network, utility
systems, and similar items), are reported in the government-wide financial statements and the fund financial statements for proprietary
funds. Purchased or constructed capital assets are reported at cost or estimated historical cost. The State highway network constructed
prior to July 1, 2001 is recorded at estimated historical cost. Since July 1, 2001, the State highway network is recorded at cost. The initial
estimated historical cost of the network is based on construction expenditures reported by the Department of Transportation less amounts
estimated for the cost of right-of-ways and land improvements. The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of
the asset or materially extend its useful life are not capitalized. Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value at the date of
donation except that capital assets donated prior to July 1, 2015 are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of donation. Right-to-
use lease assets are measured as the sum of the initial lease liability plus prepayments made at or before the commencement of the lease
term less lease incentives received plus initial direct costs that are ancillary charges necessary to place the lease asset in service.

Generally, capital assets are defined by the State and component units as assets with an initial value or cost greater than or equal to $5,000
and an estimated useful life of two or more years, except for internally generated computer software and other intangible assets, which are
capitalized when the value or cost is greater than or equal to $1 million and $100 thousand, respectively. Intangible right-to-use lease
assets associated with leases of the primary government are defined by the State as leased assets whose future lease payments through the
lease term are $10,000 or greater. Component units of the State have established their own thresholds for defining leased assets whose
future lease payments through the lease term range from $5,000 or greater, to $1,100,000 and greater, or by specific asset class.

The value of assets constructed by the State and its component units for their own use includes all material direct and indirect

construction costs that are incurred as a result of the construction. In proprietary funds and component units, interest costs incurred (if
material) are capitalized during the period of construction.

The depreciation methods and estimated useful lives generally used by the State and its component units are as follows:

Asset Class Method Estimated Useful Life
Buildings Straight-line 10-100 years
Machinery and Straight-line 2-30 years
equipment Units of output for motor vehicles 90,000 miles
Art, literature, and other artifacts Straight-line 2-25 years
General infrastructure Straight-line 10-75 years
State highway network Composite 50 years
Computer software Straight-line 2-30 years
Other intangible assets Straight-line 2-100 years
Right-to-use lease asset — land Straight-line Lease term
Right-to-use lease asset — building Straight-line Shorter of lease term or
useful life*
Right-to-use lease asset — machinery &  Straight-line Shorter of lease term or
equipment useful life*
Right-to-use lease asset — general Straight-line Shorter of lease term or
infrastructure useful life*

*Useful life for right-to-use lease assets
are the same amount of time as the
tangible asset categories
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For the State highway network (including toll roads), depreciation is based on a weighted average of the estimated useful lives of
dissimilar assets in the network (e.g., subsurface foundations, roadway surfaces, bridges, traffic control devices, guardrails, markings,
signage, etc.).

L. Tax Refund Liabilities

Tax refund liabilities consist primarily of accrued income and sales and use tax refunds due to taxpayers. During the calendar year, the
State collects employee withholdings and taxpayers’ payments for income taxes. At June 30, the State estimates the amount it owes
taxpayers for income tax overpayments during the preceding six months. Sales and use tax refund liabilities are also estimated at June 30.
These liabilities are recorded as “Tax refunds payable.”

M. Compensated Absences

Employees of the State and component units are permitted to accumulate earned, but unused vacation pay benefits. All vacation pay is
accrued when incurred in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements. Also, when determining the vacation pay
liability due within one year, leave is considered taken on a last in, first out (LIFO) basis. In governmental funds, a liability for these
amounts is reported only as payments come due each period upon the occurrence of relevant events such as employee resignations and
retirements. The State’s policy provides for a maximum accumulation of unused vacation leave of 30 days which can be carried forward
each January 1 or for which an employee can be paid upon termination of employment. Also, any accumulated vacation leave in excess of
30 days at calendar year end is converted to sick leave.

In addition to the vacation leave described above, compensated absences include the accumulated unused portion of the special annual
leave bonuses awarded by the General Assembly. The bonus leave balance on December 31 is retained by employees and transferred into
the next calendar year. It is not part of the 30-day maximum applicable to regular vacation leave and is not subject to conversion to sick
leave.

There is no liability for unpaid accumulated sick leave because the State has no obligation to pay sick leave upon employee termination or
retirement. However, additional service credit for retirement pension benefits is given for accumulated sick leave upon retirement.

N. Long-Term Liabilities

In the government-wide financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the columns for
governmental activities, business-type activities, and component units. These amounts are also reported as liabilities in the fund financial
statements for proprietary funds. If material, debt premiums and discounts of the State are deferred and amortized over the life of the debt
using the effective interest method. If material, debt premiums and discounts of the University of North Carolina System (component
unit) are generally deferred and amortized using the straight-line method. Long-term debt is reported net of the applicable debt premium,
and/or discount.

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize debt premiums, as well as debt issuance costs, during the current
period. The face amount of the debt issued and premiums received are reported as other financing sources. Issuance costs, whether or not
withheld from the actual proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures.

O. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position reports a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate
financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net assets that applies to a future period(s) and
so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense) until then. The State and its component units have items that qualify for
reporting in this category. Some of these items include 1) the accumulated decrease in fair value of hedging derivative instruments, 2)
deferred loss on refunding, 3) State aid transmitted to a component unit that cannot be spent until a future period (but all other eligibility
requirements, if any, have been met), 4) deferred outflows for asset retirement obligations (AROs), 5) deferred outflows for pensions (i.e.,
difference between actual and expected experience, change in proportion, differences between employer’s contributions and proportionate
share of contributions, and contributions subsequent to the measurement date), 6) deferred outflows for OPEB (i.e., difference between
actual and expected experience, net difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments, change in proportion,
differences between employer’s contributions and proportionate share of contributions, and contributions subsequent to the measurement
date), and 7) a deferred loss on a sale-leaseback transaction reported by a community college (other deferred outflows). A deferred loss
on refunding results from the difference in the carrying value of refunded debt and its reacquisition price. This amount is deferred and
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amortized over the shorter of the life of the refunded or refunding debt. The primary government amortizes the deferred loss on refunding
using the effective interest method, and the University of North Carolina System (component unit) generally amortizes this amount using
the straight-line method.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position reports a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate
financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net assets that applies to a future period(s) and so
will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The State and its component units have the following items that
qualify for reporting in this category. Some of these items include 1) service concession arrangement revenue applicable to future years,
2) State aid received by a component unit that cannot be spent until a future period (but all other eligibility requirements, if any, have
been met), 3) deferred inflows for pensions (i.e., difference between actual and expected experience, changes of assumptions, net
difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments, change in proportion, and differences between employer’s
contributions and proportionate share of contributions), 4) deferred inflows for OPEB (i.e., difference between actual and expected
experience, changes in assumptions, net difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments, change in
proportion, and differences between employer’s contributions and proportionate share of contributions), 5) deferred inflows for
irrevocable split interest agreements that universities are beneficiaries of, and 6) unavailable revenues in governmental funds. The
governmental funds report unavailable revenues primarily from the following sources: sales and use taxes; other taxes; tobacco
settlement; and fees, licenses, and fines. These amounts are deferred and recognized as revenues in the period that the amounts become
available.

Deferred outflows of resources resulting from the difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments are
included in pension expense over a closed five-year period, beginning in the current measurement period. Deferred outflows of resources,
with the exception of employer contributions after the measurement date, and deferred inflows of resources are included in pension
expense, beginning in the current measurement period, over a closed period (see Note 12). The closed period is equal to the average of the
expected remaining service lives of all employees (both active and inactive) that are provided with pensions through the pension plan
determined as of the beginning of the measurement period.

Deferred outflows and inflows of resources resulting from the difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan
investments are included in OPEB expense over a closed five-year period, beginning in the current measurement period. Deferred
outflows of resources, with the exception of employer contributions after the measurement date, and all other deferred outflows and
inflows of resources are included in OPEB expense, beginning in the current measurement period, over a closed period (see Note 14). The
closed period is equal to the average of the expected remaining service lives of all employees (both active and inactive) that are provided
with OPEB benefits through the OPEB plans determined as of the beginning of the measurement period.

P. Net Position/Fund Balance

Net Position

Net position is reported as restricted when constraints placed on net position use are either externally imposed by creditors, grantors,
contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or are imposed by law through constitutional provisions. Constraints placed on
net position use by enabling legislation are not reported as net position restrictions since such constraints are not legally enforceable.
Legal enforceability means that the State can be compelled by an external party, such as citizens, public interest groups, or the judiciary
to use resources created by enabling legislation only for the purposes specified by the legislation. Situations where the State’s internal
governing body (General Assembly) places restrictions on existing resources or earmarks existing revenue sources are considered to be
constraints that are internally imposed. Such internally dedicated net position is presented as unrestricted.

For governmental activities, the State considers restricted amounts to have been spent first when an expense is incurred for purposes for
which both restricted and unrestricted net position is available. For business-type activities and component units, when both restricted and
unrestricted resources are available for use, generally it is the State’s policy to use receipts first (which include restricted and unrestricted
resources), then State appropriations as necessary. Receipts are defined as all funds collected by an agency or institution other than State
appropriations. The decision to use restricted or unrestricted receipts to fund a payment is transactional-based within the departmental
management system in place at the agency or institution. For projects funded by tax-exempt debt proceeds and other sources, the debt
proceeds are always used first.

Fund Balance

Fund balance for governmental funds is reported in the following classifications depicting the relative strength of the constraints that
control how specific amounts can be spent.

- The nonspendable fund balance classification includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are either (a) not in spendable form
or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.
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- Restricted fund balances have constraints placed on the use of resources that are either (a) externally imposed by creditors, grantors,
contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or (b) imposed by law through constitutional provisions.

- Committed fund balances can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by formal action of the North
Carolina General Assembly, the State’s highest level of decision-making authority. The North Carolina General Assembly
establishes commitments through the passage of legislation that becomes State law. Commitments may be changed or lifted only by
taking the same formal action that imposed the constraint originally.

- Assigned fund balances are constrained by an intent to be used for specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed. The
Office of State Budget and Management (OSBM) is authorized to assign unexpended funds at year-end as a carryforward of budget
authority to the subsequent fiscal year. The North Carolina Constitution (Article III, Sec. 5(3)) provides that the “budget as enacted
by the General Assembly shall be administered by the Governor.” The Governor has delegated the authority to perform certain
powers and duties of the Governor’s role as the Director of the Budget to OSBM.

- Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the General Fund. Other governmental funds cannot report positive
unassigned fund balance but can report negative unassigned fund balance if expenditures incurred for specific purposes exceeded the
amounts restricted, committed, or assigned to those purposes.

For classification of governmental fund balances, the State considers an expenditure to be made from the most restrictive resource (i.e.,
restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned in that order) when more than one fund balance classification is available for use.

In accordance with General Statute 143C—4-2, the Savings Reserve is established as a reserve in the General Fund and is a component of
the unappropriated General Fund balance. Funds reserved to the Savings Reserve are available for expenditure in an aggregate amount
that does not exceed 7.5% of the prior fiscal year’s General Fund operating budget appropriations, excluding departmental receipts, upon
appropriation by a majority vote of the membership of the Senate and House of Representatives present and voting for any of the
following purposes:

- To cover a decline in General Fund revenue from one fiscal year to another.

- To cover the difference between that fiscal year’s General Fund operating budget appropriations, excluding departmental

receipts, and projected revenue.
- To pay costs imposed by a court or administrative order.
- To provide relief and assistance from the effects of an emergency.

Each year the OSBM and Fiscal Research Division of the General Assembly shall jointly develop and produce an evaluation of the
adequacy of the Savings Reserve based on the volatility of North Carolina’s General Fund tax structure. After completing the evaluation,
these entities may revise the methodology as needed to estimate the target for the Savings Reserve balance, which shall be calculated so
as to be sufficient to cover two years of need for nine out of ten scenarios involving a decline in General Fund revenue from one fiscal
year to the next fiscal year.

In 2022, the OSBM along with the Fiscal Research Division of the General Assembly recommended a Savings Reserve target balance of
11.2% of prior fiscal year’s General Fund operating budget appropriations. At June 30, 2022, the balance of the Savings Reserve was
$3.12 billion, which represents 12.72% of the prior year’s General Fund appropriation budget. The Savings Reserve is included with
unassigned fund balance.

Q. Revenues and Expenses

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items and capital contributions. Operating revenues and
expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal
ongoing operations. Proprietary fund operating revenues result from exchange transactions associated with the principal activity of the
fund. Exchange transactions are those in which each party receives and gives up essentially equal values. Nonoperating revenues, such as
noncapital grants and investment earnings, result from nonexchange transactions or ancillary activities. Capital contributions are reported
separately, after nonoperating revenues and expenses.

R. Food and Nutrition Services

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 33, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Nonexchange Transactions, the State recognizes
distributions of food and nutrition services benefits as revenue and expenditures in the General Fund. Revenues and expenditures are
recognized based on the fair value at the time the benefits are distributed to the individual recipients. In North Carolina, benefits are
distributed in electronic form, thus distribution takes place when the individual recipients use the benefits.

91



State of North Carolina June 30, 2022
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2: CHANGES IN FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING

CHANGES RESULTING FROM ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, the State implemented the following pronouncements and implementation guides issued by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB):

— Statement No. 87, Leases,

— Statement No. 93, Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates (IBOR) (paragraphs 11b, 13 & 14 only),

— Statement No. 97, Certain Component Unit Criteria and Accounting and Financial Reporting for Internal Revenue Code Section
457 Deferred Compensation Plans (all paragraphs except for portions of paragraph 4 and all of paragraph 5),

— Statement No. 99, Omnibus (paragraphs 26 through 32 only),

— Implementation Guide No. 2019-3, Leases,

— Implementation Guide No. 2020-1 (Questions 4.1-4.5, 4.18 and 5.3), and

— Implementation Guide No. 2021-1 (Question 4.22).

Statement No. 87 requires the recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that were previously classified as operating
leases and recognizes an inflow or outflow of resources based on the payment provisions of the contract. The standard establishes one
model for lease accounting based on the principle that a lease is a financing of the right to use an underlying asset. The lessee is required
to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset. A lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred
inflow of resources.

Statement No. 93 addresses accounting and financial reporting implications that result from the replacement of an IBOR, most notably
the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR). Lease contracts that are amended solely to replace IBOR are an exception to the lease
modifications guidance in Statement No. 87. Additionally, LIBOR will no longer be an appropriate benchmark interest rate for a
derivative instrument that hedges the interest rate of taxable debt when LIBOR ceases to exist.

Statement No. 97 provides clarification for determining whether the primary government is financially accountable for purposes of
evaluating potential component units and establishes accounting and financial reporting requirements for Internal Revenue Code Section
457 deferred compensation plans that meet the definition of a pension plan. The Statement also modifies the investment valuation
requirements for all Internal Revenue Code Section 457 deferred compensation plans.

Statement No. 99 paragraphs 26 through 32 provide clarification on certain topics which includes the replacement of LIBOR,
Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP), disclosure of nonmonetary transactions, pledges of future revenues when resources
are not received by the pledging government, focus on government-wide financial statements, and terminology updates.

Implementation Guide No. 2019-3, Leases provides additional guidance on the requirements of Statement No. 87.

Implementation Guide No. 2020-1 provides guidance and clarification for questions related to the financial reporting entity, accounting
and financial reporting for certain investments and for external investment pools, fiduciary activities, and certain asset retirement

obligations.

Implementation Guide No. 2021-1 question 4.22 provides guidance on the effective date and transition of GASB 87.
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NOTE 3: DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

A. Deposits and Investments with State Treasurer

Unless specifically exempt, every agency of the State and certain component units are required by General Statute 147-77 to deposit
moneys received with the State Treasurer or with a depository institution in the name of the State Treasurer. Certain local governmental
units that are not part of the reporting entity are also allowed to invest money with the State Treasurer. Expenditures for the primary
government and certain component units are made by wire transfers, ACH transactions, and warrants issued by the agencies and drawn on
the State Treasurer. The State Treasurer processes these transactions each day. General Statute 147-69.1 authorizes the State Treasurer to
invest all deposits in obligations of or fully guaranteed by the United States; obligations of certain federal agencies; specified repurchase
agreements; obligations of the State of North Carolina; time deposits with specified financial institutions; prime quality commercial paper
with specified ratings; specified bills of exchange or time drafts; asset-backed securities with specified ratings; and corporate bonds and
notes with specified ratings.

General Statute 147-69.2 authorizes the State Treasurer to invest the deposits of certain special funds, including the Teachers’ and State
Employees’ Retirement System, the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, the Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers” Pension
Fund, the Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement System, the Legislative Retirement System, the North Carolina National Guard
Pension Fund, and the Retiree Health Benefit Fund (collectively referred to as the pension and OPEB trust funds in this note), the
Register of Deeds’ Supplemental Pension Fund, the Disability Income Plan of N.C., the Escheat Fund, the State Public Education
Property Insurance Fund, the Local Government Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Trust, public hospitals, local government Law
Enforcement Officer Special Separation Allowance (LEOSSA) trusts, and deposits of certain component units including trust funds of the
University of North Carolina System, and funds of the State Health Plan and State Education Assistance Authority in the investments
authorized in General Statute 147-69.1; general obligations of other states; general obligations of North Carolina local governments;
asset-backed securities bearing specific ratings; and obligations of any company incorporated within or outside the United States bearing
specific ratings. The deposits of the pension and OPEB trust funds may be invested in all of the above plus certain insurance contracts;
group trusts; individual, common or collective trusts of banks and trust companies; real estate investment trusts; limited partnership
interest in limited liability partnerships or limited liability companies; and certain stocks and mutual funds.

North Carolina Department of State Treasurer External Investment Pool (External Investment Pool)

To ensure that these and other legal and regulatory limitations are met, all cash deposited with the State Treasurer, except for other
investment programs, is maintained in the External Investment Pool. Other investment programs may include the public hospitals, certain
investments of the Escheat Fund, certain investments of other funds and component units of the reporting entity, the Local Government
OPEB Trust, local government LEOSSA trusts, and bond proceeds investment accounts. This pool, a government sponsored external
investment pool, consists of the following individual investment portfolios:

Short-term Investment — This portfolio may hold any of the investments authorized by General Statute 147-69.1. The Short-term
Investment portfolio is the primary cash management account for the State and is managed in such a manner as to be readily
convertible into cash. The primary participants of this portfolio are the General Fund, Highway Fund, Highway Trust Fund, and the
remaining portfolios listed below. Other participants include universities and various boards, commissions, community colleges, the
Local Government OPEB Trust, and school administrative units that make voluntary deposits with the State Treasurer.

Long-term Investment — This portfolio may hold the fixed-income investments authorized by General Statutes 147-69.1 and 147-69.2.
Since the deposits in this fund are typically not needed for day-to-day operations, the investment vehicles used generally have a longer
term and higher yield than those held in the Short-term Investment portfolio. The State’s pension and OPEB trust funds are the sole
participants in this portfolio.

Fixed Income Investment — This portfolio holds a portion of the Short-term Investment portfolio pursuant to General Statute 147-69.2.
The State’s pension and OPEB trust funds are the sole participants in this portfolio.

Equity Investment — This portfolio is managed pursuant to General Statute 147-69.2(b)(8) and primarily holds an equity-based trust.
The State’s pension and OPEB trust funds are the sole participants in this portfolio.

Real Estate Investment — This portfolio holds investments in real estate-based trust funds, limited partnerships and other limited
liability investment vehicles, and group annuity contracts, which is managed pursuant to General Statute 147-69.2(b)(7). The State's
pension and OPEB trust funds are the sole participants in this portfolio.

Alternative Investment — This portfolio holds investments in various limited partnerships and limited liability companies, hedge funds,
U.S. Treasuries, and equities, which is managed pursuant to General Statute 147-69.2(b)(9). The State’s pension and OPEB trust
funds are the sole participants in this portfolio.
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Opportunistic Fixed Income Investment — This portfolio may hold investments in debt-related strategies made primarily through
limited partnerships or other limited liability vehicles as defined by General Statute 147-69.2(b)(6¢). The State’s pension and OPEB
trust funds are the sole participants in this portfolio.

Inflation Sensitive Investment — This portfolio may hold investments in assets that are acquired for the primary purpose of providing
protection against risks associated with inflation made primarily through limited partnerships, other limited liability vehicles, or fixed
income securities managed pursuant to General Statute 147-69.2(b)(9a). The State’s pension and OPEB trust funds are the sole
participants in this portfolio.

All of the preceding investment portfolios operate like individual investment pools, except that an investment portfolio may hold shares in
other investment portfolios at the discretion of the State Treasurer and subject to the legal limitations discussed previously. To this extent,
the deposits are commingled; and therefore, the State Treasurer considers all investment portfolios to be part of a single pool, the External
Investment Pool. The External Investment Pool contains deposits from funds and component units of the reporting entity (internal
portion) as well as deposits from certain legally separate organizations outside the reporting entity (external portion). This pool is not
registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not subject to any formal oversight other than that of the legislative body.

The external portion of the External Investment Pool is presented in the State’s financial statements as a custodial fund. Each fund and
component unit’s share of the internal equity in the External Investment Pool is reported in the State’s financial statements as an asset of
those funds or component units. Equity in the Short-term Investment portfolio is reported as cash and cash equivalents while equity in the
Long-term Investment, Equity Investment, Real Estate Investment, Fixed Income Investment, Opportunistic Fixed Income Investment,
Inflation Sensitive Investment, and Alternative Investment portfolios is reported as investments. The internal equity of the pool differs
from the amount of assets reported by the funds and component units due to the typical banker/customer outstanding and in-transit items.
Additionally, each fund reports its share of the assets and liabilities arising from securities lending transactions.

Net investment income earned by the External Investment Pool is generally distributed on a pro rata basis. However, in accordance with
legal requirements, the General Fund receives all investment income earned by funds created for purposes of meeting appropriations. For
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, $45.14 million of investment income associated with other funds was credited to the General Fund.

The External Investment Pool is included in the North Carolina Department of State Treasurer Investment Programs (“State Treasurer
Investments”) separate report. This separately issued report can be obtained from the Department of State Treasurer, 3200 Atlantic
Avenue, Raleigh, NC 27604 or can be accessed from the Department of State Treasurer — Investment Management Division internet page
at https://www.nctreasurer.com/investment-management-division/imd-reports in the Audited Financial Statements section.

Bond Index External Investment Pool (BIF)

The North Carolina Department of State Treasurer operates a government sponsored bond index external investment pool (BIF) in which
the State Treasurer is authorized to invest funds for governmental entities that are outside the State’s pension and OPEB trust funds as
defined in this note. The BIF invests in high quality debt securities eligible under General Statute 147-69.2(b) (1 through 6).

Participants in the BIF may include public hospitals, the Local Government OPEB Trust, local government LEOSSA trusts, the Death
Benefit Plan of N.C., the Disability Income Plan of N.C., the Register of Deeds’ Supplemental Pension Fund, and other funds and
component units of the reporting entity with investment authority under General Statute 147-69.2. Participation in the BIF is voluntary.

The deposits are commingled; and therefore, the State Treasurer considers all funds to be part of a single pool. The BIF contains deposits
from funds and component units of the reporting entity (internal portion) as well as deposits from certain legally separate organizations
outside the reporting entity (external portion). The BIF is not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not subject
to any formal oversight other than that of the legislative body.

The external portion of the BIF is presented in the State’s financial statements as a custodial fund. Each fund and component unit’s share
of the internal equity in the BIF is reported in the State’s financial statements as an investment asset of those funds or component units.
Net investment income earned by the BIF is distributed on a pro rata basis.

The BIF is included in the State Treasurer Investments separate report. This separately issued report can be obtained from the Department
of State Treasurer, 3200 Atlantic Avenue, Raleigh, NC 27604 or can be accessed from the Department of State Treasurer — Investment
Management Division internet page at https:/www.nctreasurer.com/investment-management-division/imd-reports in the Audited
Financial Statements section.
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Bond Proceeds Investment Accounts

The State Treasurer has established separate investment accounts for each State bond issue to comply with Internal Revenue Service
regulations on bond arbitrage. A private investment company under contract with the State Treasurer manages these separate accounts. In
the State’s financial statements, each fund’s equity in these accounts is reported as investments.

At year-end, the bond proceeds investment accounts had the following investments and maturities (dollars in thousands):

Weighted
Carrying Average
Investment Type Amount Maturity (Days)
Debt investments:
U.S. Treasuries $182,319 31

Interest Rate Risk and Credit Risk. As established in the contract with the private investment company, all bond proceeds are managed in
compliance with General Statute 147-69.1 and are invested in short-term maturities and/or securities that bear the highest rating of at least
one nationally recognized rating service and do not bear a rating below the highest by any nationally recognized rating service.

Custodial Credit Risk. Investments purchased with bond proceeds were exposed to custodial credit risk since the securities were held by
the counterparty and were not registered in the name of the State Treasurer. There is no custodial credit risk policy related to these
investments.

U.S. Treasuries are valued at fair value at June 30, 2022 ($182.32 million) and are classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. The
valuation technique for these securities is the market approach where the pricing vendor gathers real-time market data and uses direct

observations to compute an independent price.

Equity Index Investment Account (EIF)

The State Treasurer has contracted with an external party (Trustee) to create the equity index investment account (EIF). The primary
participants of this equity index investment account are public hospitals and the Local Government OPEB Trust (OPEB) funds. Other
participants include local government LEOSSA trusts and certain funds of the reporting entity. These funds are part of a commingled
equity index investment trust (Trust). The Trustee manages the assets in the Trust, primarily in equity and equity-based securities in
accordance with the General Statutes. The Trustee maintains custody of the underlying securities in the name of the Trust, services the
securities, and maintains all related accounting records.

Pursuant to General Statute 159-30.1, the State Treasurer manages the OPEB trusts’ assets. These trusts are established for local
governments, public authorities, any entity eligible to participate in the State’s Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement System, and
local school administrative units. Eligible participants make voluntary contributions to the trusts for the purpose of depositing and
investing all or part of the contribution from their other post-employment benefit plans. As of June 30, 2022, there were twenty-six OPEB
trust participants in the EIF. Each participant is responsible for making its own investment decision.

The State Treasurer also manages the public hospitals’ assets. As of June 30, 2022, there were three participants consisting of the
Margaret R. Pardee Hospital, Columbus Regional Healthcare, and Watauga Medical Center. Two public hospitals also participate in the
BIF. Each participant is responsible for making its own decision.

The Equity Index Investment Account is included in the State Treasurer Investments separate report. This separately issued report can be
obtained from the Department of State Treasurer, 3200 Atlantic Avenue, Raleigh, NC 27604 or can be accessed from the Department of
State Treasurer — Investment Management Division internet page at https://www.nctreasurer.com/investment-management-division/imd-
reports in the Audited Financial Statements section.
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Escheat Investment Account

Pursuant to General Statute 147-69.2(b)(12), the State Treasurer has established a separate investment account on behalf of the Escheat
Fund. At year-end, the Escheat investment account maintained by the State Treasurer had the following investments and recurring fair
value measurements (dollars in thousands):

Fair Value Unfunded
Investments Measured at the NAV 6/30/2022 Commitments
Private credit limited partnership $ 10,817 $ 309
Private equity investment partnerships 49,496 9,651
Total investments measured at the NAV $ 60,313

Private Credit Limited Partnership. This type includes two private credit funds. These investments are valued using net assets valued as
of the previous quarter-end, plus current quarter cash flows. These investments include a mix of non-investment grade or unrated
obligations, debt securities and asset-backed securities, including but not limited to bank loans, high yield, mortgage-backed securities,
convertibles, whole loans, mezzanine debt, credit default swaps, collateralized debt obligations and sovereign debt. These funds are not
eligible for redemption. Distributions are received as underlying investments within the funds are liquidated, which on average can occur
over the span of 5-10 years.

Private Equity Investment Partnership. This type includes four private equity funds. These investments are valued using net assets valued
as of the previous quarter-end, plus current quarter cash flows. These investments include a mix of buyout, venture capital, growth equity,
and private special situations vehicles. These funds are not eligible for redemption. Distributions are received as underlying investments
within the funds are liquidated, which on average can occur over the span of 5-10 years.

B. Deposits Outside the State Treasurer
In addition to the pooled deposits maintained by the State Treasurer, other deposits are maintained outside the State Treasurer by the
primary government and certain component units. As a general rule, these deposits are not covered by the rules in Chapter 20 NCAC 7

requiring collateralization of uninsured deposits.

Primary Government

The majority of the uninsured and uncollateralized deposits held outside the State Treasurer were maintained by the USS N.C. Battleship
Commission. The USS N.C. Battleship Commission does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. At year-end, the bank
balances maintained outside the State Treasurer by the primary government were exposed to custodial credit risk as follows (dollars in
thousands):

Uninsured and Uncollateralized $ 5,197

Component Units

The University of North Carolina (UNC) System does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. At year-end, the bank balances
maintained outside the State Treasurer by the UNC System were exposed to custodial credit risk as follows (dollars in thousands):

Uninsured and Uncollateralized $ 350,511
Uninsured and collateral held by pledging bank's

trust department or agent but not in the entity's name 1,995
Total $ 352,506
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C. Investments Outside the State Treasurer

Primary Government

At year-end, 92% of investments held outside the State Treasurer were maintained by the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North
Carolina and the North Carolina Public Employee Deferred Compensation Plan.

Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina and North Carolina Public Employee Deferred Compensation Plan

The Iran Divestment Act (North Carolina General Statutes Sections 147-86.55 through 147-86.63) places investment restrictions on the
Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina (the 401(k) Plan) and the North Carolina Public Employee Deferred
Compensation Plan (the 457 Plan). Specifically, pursuant to the North Carolina Department of State Treasurer’s “Iran Divestment
Policy”, adopted in compliance with the statute, the Department of State Treasurer, including the Supplemental Retirement Plans, shall
refrain from making investments in companies on the State Treasurer's list of entities engaging in certain investment activities in Iran.

The Divestment from Companies Boycotting Israel Act (North Carolina General Statutes Sections 147-86.80 through 147-86.84) places
investment restrictions on the 401(k) Plan and the 457 Plan. Specifically, pursuant to the North Carolina Department of State Treasurer’s
“Boycott Israel Divestment Policy,” adopted in compliance with the statute, the Department of State Treasurer, including the
Supplemental Retirement Plans, shall refrain from making investments in companies on the State Treasurer's list of entities engaging in
certain boycotting activities against Israel.

In addition, the State Treasurer is required to comply with certain restrictions issued by the United States government, including
Executive Order 14032, which restricts investment activity in certain Chinese entities as identified by the Secretary of Treasury (generally
military-related companies), as well as restrictions issued by the Office of Foreign Assets Control.

The form of governance over the investments is the prudent-person or prudent-expert rule. These rules are broad statements of intent,
generally requiring investment selection and management to be made with prudent and intelligent judgment and care.

At December 31, 2021, the 401(k) and 457 Plans of North Carolina had the following investments and maturities that were maintained
outside the State Treasurer (dollars in thousands). Investments in the Pooled Account totaled $13.9 billion. The 401(k) and 457 Plans’
investments are held in a group trust established as of January 4, 2016. Their Board authorized the establishment of the North Carolina
Supplemental Retirement Plans Group Trust (the “Group Trust”) for the purpose of commingling the corpus of the separate trusts of the
Plans; and the Board adopted the Declaration of Trust establishing the Group Trust. The Pooled Account offers six equity funds, an
inflation responsive fund, an inflation protected securities fund and two fixed income funds. The actively managed separate account funds
have multiple investment managers, and the passively managed separate accounts each have a single investment manager. The remainder
of the investments is the Stable Value Fund, which consists of four synthetic guaranteed investment contracts, a separate account
guaranteed investment contract, and a short-term investment fund.
Investment Maturities (in Years)

Investment Type Carrying Amount Less Than 1 1t05 6to 10 More Than 10
Debt investments:
U.S. Treasuries $ 1,636,816 $ 202,008 $ 1,066,062 $ 277,321 $ 91,425
U.S. agencies 74,876 804 46,672 17,350 10,050
Mortgage pass-throughs 670,238 229,082 21,361 24,594 395,201
Collateralized mortgage obligations 58,408 27,958 497 - 29,953
State and local government 96,777 12,835 36,235 32,745 14,962
Asset-backed securities 369,236 54,530 156,336 36,987 121,383
Fixed income collective investment funds 99,209 - - 99,209 -
Debt mutual funds 37,127 - 37,127 - -
Pooled debt funds 1,136,399 - - 1,136,399 -
Domestic corporate bonds 706,899 45,332 337,613 214,186 109,768
Foreign corporate bonds 179,541 12,892 109,703 39,091 17,855
Foreign government bonds 25,960 12,924 4,348 8,207 481
5,091,486 $ 598,365 $ 1,815954  § 1,886,089 $ 791,078
Other investments:
Equity collective investment trusts 5,059,653
Unallocated insurance contracts 248,085
Domestic stocks 3,101,507
Foreign stocks 2,188,549
Short-term investment collective trust 147,760
Hedge/commodity/debt collective investment trust 569,808
Total investments $ 16,406,848
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In the above table, the underlying investments of fully benefit-responsive synthetic guaranteed investment contracts (SGICs) are
disclosed at fair value. On the Statement of Net Position, SGICs are reported at contract value. At year-end, the fair value of the
underlying investments of fully benefit-responsive SGICs exceeded the contract value by $39.09 million.

Interest Rate Risk. The 401(k) and 457 Plans do not have a formal investment policy that limits duration as a means of managing their
exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. The managers within the NC Fixed Income Fund and the NC TIPS
Fund have duration targets relative to a specified benchmark. Asset-backed securities are securities that are primarily serviced by the cash
flows of a discrete pool of receivables or other financial assets, either fixed or revolving, that by their terms convert into cash within a
finite time period, plus any rights or other assets designed to assure the servicing or timely distribution of proceeds to the security holders.
Collective investment funds include units in the various funds. The interest rate risk in each of the funds is dependent upon the weighted
average maturity of each of the collective investment funds which holds securities with maturities ranging from short to intermediate in
duration. As a result, the collective investment funds are sensitive to changes in interest rates. Collateralized mortgage obligations
generate a return based upon either the payment of interest or principal on mortgages in an underlying pool. The relationship between
interest rates and prepayments make the fair value sensitive to changes in interest rates. Investments consist of units in various
commingled funds, each with an investment objective relative to maturity and liquidity with interest rate risk dependent upon the
weighted average maturity of each of the funds.

Credit Risk. The 401(k) and 457 Plans do not have a formal investment policy on credit risk. The investment guidelines applicable to the
NC Fixed Income Fund places restrictions on the total risk exposure of the fund and specifically the concentration of the debt securities in
which the fund invests. The investment guidelines for the NC TIPS Fund limit non-cash sweep investments to U.S. Treasury Inflation
Protected Securities (TIPS) and TIPS futures. At December 31, 2021, the 401(k) and 457 Plan investments maintained outside the State
Treasurer had the following credit quality distribution for securities with credit exposure (dollars in thousands):

Carrying Amount by Credit Rating - Moody's/S&P/Fitch

Less than
Investment
Investment Type Aaa/AAA Aa/AA A Baa/BBB Grade Unrated

U.S. agencies $ -$ 74,876 $ -$ -$ -$ -
Mortgage pass-throughs - 602,850 - - - -
Collateralized mortgage obligations 13,960 13,104 71 1,787 24,901 4,585
State and local government 21,318 69,332 5,614 513 - -
Asset-backed securities 315,927 20,434 2,769 - 30,106 -
Fixed income collective investment funds - - - - - 99,209
Debt mutual funds - - - - - 37,127
Pooled debt funds - - - - - 1,136,399
Domestic corporate bonds 27,556 25,630 183,438 436,416 31,978 1,881
Foreign corporate bonds 4,590 11,984 75,628 77,062 10,229 48
Foreign government bonds - 4,935 16,397 2,470 2,158 -

$ 383351 % 823,145$ 283917 $ 518248 % 99,372 § 1,279,249

Custodial Credit Risk. The 401(k) and 457 Plans do not have formal investment policies that address custodial credit risk.
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Foreign Currency Risk. Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect the fair value of an
investment. The 401(k) and 457 Plans do not have formal investment policies that address foreign currency risk. Investment manager
guidelines describe how and if foreign currency hedging can be utilized in the portfolio. At December 31, 2021, the Plans’ exposure to

foreign currency risk was as follows (dollars in thousands):

Currency

Carrying Amount

Foreign stocks

Euro

Japanese Yen
Pound Sterling
Hong Kong Dollar
Swiss Franc

New Taiwan Dollar
Swedish Krona
Indian Rupee
South Korean Won
Canadian Dollar
Danish Krone
Australian Dollar
Singapore Dollar
Chinese Yuan Renminbi
Brazilian Real
South African Rand
Norwegian Krone
Indonesian Rupiah
Polish Zloty
Mexican Peso
Israeli Shekel
Malaysian Ringgit
Thai Baht

UAE Dirham
Turkish Lira
Egyptian Pound

Total

519,605
389,421
321,663
218,326
120,776
115,240
83,974
71,194
64,489
59,298
58,324
42,089
29,586
20,279
18,875
18,447
13,401
9,274
4,044
3,793
2,543
1,431
1,406
526
443
102

2,188,549

The fair value measurements of the 401(k) and 457 Plans’ investments are categorized within the fair value hierarchy established by
generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level
1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are

significant unobservable inputs.
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At December 31, 2021, the investments of these Plans maintained outside the State Treasurer had the following recurring fair value
measurements (dollars in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices

in Active Markets Significant
for Identical Other Observable
Assets Inputs
6/30/2022 (Level 1) (Level 2)

Investments by fair value level
U.S. Treasuries $ 1,636,816 $ -3 1,636,816
U.S. agencies 74,876 - 74,876
Mortgage pass-throughs 670,238 - 670,238
Collateralized mortgage obligations 58,408 - 58,408
State and local government 96,777 - 96,777
Asset-backed securities 369,236 - 369,236
Domestic corporate bonds 706,899 - 706,899
Foreign corporate bonds 179,541 - 179,541
Foreign government bonds 25,960 - 25,960
Domestic stocks 3,101,507 3,101,507 -
Foreign stocks 2,188,549 2,188,549 -
Total investments by fair value level 9,108,807 $ 5,290,056 $ 3,818,751

Investments measured at the net asset value (NAV)

Short-term investment collective trust 147,760
Hedge/commodity/debt collective investment trust 569,808
Fixed income collective investment funds 99,209
Debt mutual funds 37,127
Pooled mutual funds 1,136,399
Equity collective investment trusts 5,059,653
Total investments measured at the NAV 7,049,956
Total investments measured at fair value $ 16,158,763

U.S. Treasuries, U.S. agencies, mortgage pass-throughs, collateralized mortgage obligations, and state and local government securities
classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using a matrix pricing technique. Matrix pricing is used to value securities
based on the securities’ relationship to benchmark quoted prices. Asset-backed securities, domestic corporate bonds, foreign corporate
bonds, and foreign government bonds classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using discounted cash flow techniques.

Investments measured at the net asset value (NAV) per share are presented on the following table (dollars in thousand):

Redemption Redemption

Fair Value Frequency (if Notice

Investments Measured at the NAV 6/30/2022 Currently Eligible) Period
Short-term investment collective trust $ 147,760 Daily 1 day
Hedge/commodity/debt collective investment trust 569,808 Daily 1 day
Fixed income collective investment funds 99,209 Daily 1 day
Debt mutual funds 37,127 Daily 1 day
Pooled debt funds 1,136,399 Daily 1 day
Equity collective investment trusts 5,059,653 Daily 1 day

Total investments measured at the NAV $ 7,049,956

Short-term Investment Collective Trust - This type includes 2 funds, the BNY Mellon EB Temporary Investment Fund and the Wells
Fargo/BlackRock Short-term Investment Fund. The BNY Mellon EB Temporary Investment Fund primarily invests in instruments issued
by the U.S. Government and federal agencies, short-term corporate obligations, commercial paper, and certificates of deposit. The Wells
Fargo/BlackRock Short-term Investment Fund is invested in a diversified portfolio of money market instruments. The average weighted
maturities of the funds do not exceed 60 days. The funds are valued with a NAV at $1/unit.
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Hedge/Commodity/Debt Collective Investment Trust — This type includes one fund, the NC Inflation Response Fund. The Fund invests
wholly in shares of a collective investment trust, the BlackRock Strategic Completion Non-Lendable Fund, managed by BlackRock. This
Fund seeks returns that provide a hedge to inflation over the medium to long-term. The Strategic Completion Fund currently allocates to
three underlying asset classes: U.S. Treasury Inflation Protected Securities (TIPS), commodities and global real estate investment trusts
(REITs). The Fund’s net asset value is based on the fair value of the Fund’s assets on the valuation date minus the Fund’s liabilities on the
valuation date. The Fund’s unit value is calculated by dividing the Fund’s net asset value on the valuation date by the number of units of
the Fund that are outstanding on the valuation date.

Fixed Income Collective Investment Funds — This type includes one fund, the Commingled BlackRock Fixed Income Index Fund. The
Commingled BlackRock Fixed Income Index Fund seeks to replicate the composition and performance of the Bloomberg U.S. Aggregate
Index. The Commingled BlackRock Fixed Income Index Fund is valued at the net asset value of units held at the end of the period, based
upon the fair value of the underlying investments.

Debt Mutual Funds — This type includes two funds in Fixed Income. The MetWest High Yield Bond Fund invests primarily in high yield
bonds with the investment objective of maximizing long-term total return. The MetWest Floating Rate Income Fund invests primarily in
floating rate securities and seeks to maximize current income. The net asset value is determined by dividing the total value of the fund's
portfolio investments and other assets attributable to the fund, less liabilities, by the total number of shares outstanding. The value is
determined at the end of each day the New York Stock Exchange is open.

Pooled Debt Funds — This type includes one fund, the Prudential Core Plus Bond Fund in Fixed Income. The fund is an actively managed
bond fund that seeks an excess return over the Bloomberg U.S. Aggregate Bond Index. The fund invests in a diversified portfolio of fixed
income securities including corporate obligations, structured products, and U.S. Treasuries. The fund actively allocates to both
benchmark and non-benchmark sectors, with heavy emphasis on the credit-oriented sectors. The fund is valued at the net asset value of
units held at the end of the period, based upon the fair value of the underlying investments.

Equity Collective Investment Trusts — This type includes five equity index funds. The BlackRock Large Cap Index Fund seeks to
replicate the composition and performance of the S&P 500 Index. The BlackRock Small Mid Cap Index Fund seeks to replicate the
composition and performance of the Russell 2500 Index. The BlackRock International Index Fund seeks to replicate the composition and
performance of the MSCI ACWI Ex-USA Index. Included in the NC Large Cap Core Fund and the NC Small Mid Cap Fund are
investments in the Russell 1000 Index Fund and the Russell 2500 Index Fund, respectively. Each are valued at the net asset value of units
held at the end of the period, based upon the fair value of the underlying investments.

Other Primary Government Investments

The other primary government investments held outside the State Treasurer consisted almost entirely of separate investment accounts
held by trustees for special obligation and revenue debt issues to comply with IRS regulations on bond arbitrage, and escheated securities
held for owners.

At year-end, the other primary government investments maintained outside the State Treasurer had the following investments and
maturities (dollars in thousands):

Investment Maturities (in Years)

Carrying More
Investment Type Amount Less Than 1 1to 5 6 to 10 Than 10
Debt investments:
U.S. Treasuries $ 771,615 $ 679,604 $ 92,011 $ - $ -
State and local government 514 - 514 - -
Repurchase agreements 189,635 189,635 - - -
Commercial paper 1,993 - 1,993 - -
Annuity contracts 81,016 7,621 30,484 30,484 12,427
Money market mutual funds 128,702 128,702 - - -
Pooled debt funds 114,598 114,598 - - -
1,288,073 $ 1,120,160 $ 125,002 $ 30,484 $ 12,427
Other investments:
Domestic stocks 134,676
Total investment securities $ 1,422,749
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Interest Rate Risk and Credit Risk. The special obligation debt proceeds are invested in repurchase agreements and U.S. Treasuries. As
established in the debt covenants for certain issues, repurchase agreements with respect to government obligations can only be entered
into with 1) a dealer recognized as a primary dealer by a Federal Reserve Bank; or 2) any commercial bank, trust company, or national
banking association reporting to the Federal Reserve. There are no formally adopted investment policies or debt covenants that address
interest rate or credit risk.

At year-end, the other primary government investments maintained outside the State Treasurer had the following credit quality
distribution for securities with credit exposure (dollars in thousands):

Carrying Amount by Credit Rating - Moody's/S&P/Fitch

Investment Type Aaa/AAA Aa/AA A Unrated
State and local government $ 514 $ - $ - $ -
Commercial paper - - 1,993 -
Annuity contracts - 81,016 - -
Money market mutual funds 128,702 - - -
Pooled debt funds - - - 114,598
Total $ 129,216 $ 81,016 $ 1,993 $ 114,598

Custodial Credit Risk. There were no formally adopted policies that address custodial credit risk of other primary government
investments outside the State Treasurer.

Foreign Currency Risk. Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect the fair value of an
investment. At year-end, there were no formally adopted policies that address foreign currency risk of other primary government
investments outside the State Treasurer.

The fair value measurements of the other primary government investments are categorized within the fair value hierarchy established by
generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level
1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are
significant unobservable inputs.

At year-end, the other primary government investments maintained outside the State Treasurer had the following recurring fair value
measurements (dollars in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Markets Other Observable
for Identical Assets Inputs
6/30/2022 (Level 1) (Level 2)
Investments by fair value level

U.S. Treasuries $ 771615 $ 751673 $ 19,942
State and local government 514 514 -
Commercial paper 1,993 - 1,993
Annuity contracts 81,016 81,016 -
Domestic stocks 134,676 134,676 -
Total investments by fair value level 989,814 §$ 967,879 $ 21,935

Investments as a position in an External Investment Pool
Pooled debt funds 114,598

Total investments measured at fair value $ 1,104,412

Note: The total in this table does not agree to the total disclosed in the previous investment maturities table because this table does not
include investments reported at cost. See Note 1E for additional information.

U.S. Treasuries classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using discounted cash flow techniques. Commercial paper
valuation is provided by an independent third-party pricing vendor. Pooled debt funds are valued based on the ownership interest of the
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External Investment Pool Short Term Investment Fund (STIF), which is determined on a fair value basis as of fiscal year-end in
accordance with the STIF operating procedures. Valuation of the underlying assets is performed by the custodian.

Component Units

University of North Carolina System

The General Statutes place no specific investment restrictions on the University of North Carolina System (the UNC System). However,
in the absence of specific legislation, the form of governance over these investments would be the prudent-person or prudent-expert rule.
These rules are broad statements of intent, generally requiring investment selection and management to be made with prudent, discreet,
and intelligent judgment and care. The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill (the University) operates the UNC Investment Fund,
LLC (Investment Fund), which is a governmental external investment pool. The University operates the Investment Fund for charitable,
nonprofit foundations, associations, trusts, endowments and funds that are organized and operated primarily to support the University and
other institutions within the UNC System. Separate financial statements for the Investment Fund may be obtained from the UNC
Management Company, Inc., 1400 Environ Way, Chapel Hill, NC 27517.

At year-end, the UNC System had the following investments and maturities that were maintained outside the State Treasurer (dollars in
thousands):

Investment Maturities (in Years)

Carrying More
Investment Type Amount Less Than 1 1t05 6to 10 Than 10
Debt investments:
U.S. Treasuries 175,099 $ 45156 $ 107,870 $ 6,170 $ 15,903
U.S. agencies 95,021 4,602 12,735 6,644 71,040
Mortgage pass-throughs 5,240 - - - 5,240
Collateralized mortgage obligations 67,532 1,877 2,899 1,585 61,171
Asset-backed securities 182,595 1,222 13,629 47,134 120,610
Collective investment funds 146,889 120,818 5,971 20,100 -
Annuity contracts 162 162 - - -
Debt mutual funds 626,735 929 443,944 172,081 9,781
Money market mutual funds 317,938 317,938 - - -
Domestic corporate bonds 9,698 - 1,290 4,917 3,491
Foreign corporate bonds 10,856 - 859 6,000 3,997
Foreign government bonds 26 - 26 - -
Other 33 20 - - 13
1,637,824 § 492,724 § 589,223 $ 264,631 $ 291,246
Other investments:
Balanced mutual funds 2,706
International mutual funds 32,102
Equity mutual funds 106,929
Investments in real estate 98,392
Real estate investment trust 114,318
Hedge funds 4,309,775
Private equity limited partnerships 4,509,663
Real assets limited partnerships 639,373
Other limited partnerships 371,033
Domestic stocks 553,147
Foreign stocks 24,237
Other 3,472
Total investments 12,402,971
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Interest Rate Risk and Credit Risk. The constituent institutions of the UNC System generally do not have formal investment policies that
address interest rate risk or credit risk. At year-end, the UNC System’s investments maintained outside the State Treasurer had the
following credit quality distribution for securities with credit exposure (dollars in thousands):

Carrying Amount by Credit Rating - Moody's/S&P/Fitch

Less than
Investment
Investment Type Aaa/AAA Aa/AA A Baa/BBB Grade Unrated

U.S. agencies $ 113 § 84,774 $ - $ - 3 -3 10,134
Mortgage pass-throughs - 618 3,405 1,217 - -
Collateralized mortgage obligations 154 3,801 1,053 5,255 30,619 26,650
Asset-backed securities 1,326 1,553 2,708 32,484 114,990 29,534
Collective investment funds 5,971 19,356 - - 744 120,818
Annuity contracts - - - - - 162
Debt mutual funds 20,209 2,683 389,001 166,476 14,780 33,586
Money market mutual funds 316,155 - - - - 1,783
Domestic corporate bonds 383 342 677 1,006 5,547 1,743
Foreign corporate bonds 205 200 493 4,271 5,542 145
Foreign government bonds - - - - 26 -
Other 20 - - - - 13
Total $ 344536 $ 113,327 $§ 397,337 $ 210,709 $ 172,248 $§ 224,568

Custodial Credit Risk. The constituent institutions of the UNC System generally do not have formal investment policies that address
custodial credit risk. At year-end, the UNC System’s investments maintained outside the State Treasurer were exposed to custodial credit
risk as follows (dollars in thousands):

Carrying Amount

Held by Counterparty's

Held by Trust Dept. or Agent but

Investment Type Counterparty not in the entity's name
Domestic stocks $ 25,574 $ 270
Foreign stocks 29 -
Total $ 25,603 $ 270

Foreign Currency Risk. The constituent institutions of the UNC System do not have formal investment policies that address foreign
currency risk. At year-end, the UNC System’s investments maintained outside the State Treasurer were exposed to foreign currency risk
as follows (dollars in thousands):

Carrying Amount
Hedge Private equity limited Real assets limited
Currency funds partnerships partnerships
Euro $ 22,896 $ 165,142 $ 740
British Pound Sterling - 60,629 24
Swedish Krona - 2,564 -
Canadian Dollar - 4,912 -
Australian Dollar - 8 -
Total $ 22,896 $ 233,255 % 764

The fair value measurements of the UNC System’s investments maintained outside the State Treasurer are categorized within the fair
value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure
the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other
observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.
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At year-end, the UNC System’s investments maintained outside the State Treasurer had the following recurring fair value measurements

(dollars in thousands):

Investments by fair value level
U.S. Treasuries
U.S. agencies
Mortgage pass-throughs
Collateralized mortgage obligations
Asset-backed securities
Collective investment funds
Annuity contracts
Debt mutual funds
Money market mutual funds
Balanced mutual funds
International mutual funds
Equity mutual funds
Domestic corporate bonds
Foreign corporate bonds
Foreign government bonds
Domestic stocks
Foreign stocks
Investments in real estate
Real estate investment trust
Other

Total investments by fair value level

Investments measured at the net asset value (NAV)
Real estate investment trust
Hedge funds
Private equity limited partnerships
Real assets limited partnerships
Other limited partnerships
Other
Total investments measured at the NAV

Total investments measured at fair value

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices

in Active Markets Significant Significant
for Identical Other Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
6/30/2022 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
175,099 $ 174,899 200 -
95,021 74 94,947 -
5,240 - 5,240 -
67,532 - 67,532 -
182,595 - 182,595 -
146,889 146,889 - -
162 - 162 -
626,735 626,735 - -
310,242 310,242 - -
2,706 2,706 - -
32,102 32,102 - -
106,929 106,929 - -
9,698 334 9,364 -
10,856 - 10,856 -
26 - 26 -
553,147 525,758 1,122 26,267
24,237 24,061 176 -
98,392 796 89,320 8,276
114,231 114,231 - -
3,151 171 - 2,980
2,564,990 $ 2,065,927 461,540 37,523
87
4,309,775
4,509,663
639,373
371,033
354
9,830,285
12,395,275

The majority of debt securities classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using a matrix pricing technique. Matrix pricing
relies on the securities’ relationship to other benchmark quoted securities. In general, domestic stocks classified in Level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy are valued based on recent company stock valuation. Investments in real estate classified in Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy are valued using a market multiples technique. The market multiples technique uses multiples or ratios derived from identical or
similar assets, liabilities, or groups of assets and liabilities to determine the fair value of an asset or liability. The majority of investments
in real estate classified in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using a combination of recent sales or historical appraisals.
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The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill holds the majority of the investments measured at net asset value in the previous table.
Below are additional disclosures for these investments.

Fair Value Unfunded Redemption Frequency Redemption
Investments Measured at the NAV 6/30/2022 Commitments (if Currently Eligible) Notice Period
UNC at Chapel Hill:

Ranges from 30 days
Hedge funds $ 4,305,146 $ 30,795 to 3+ years with 30-180 days
certain notices

These funds do not have redemption
Private equity limited partnerships 4,358,233 1,481,095 Not currently eligible rights, but have terms of 10 years and
make periodic distributions.

These funds do not have redemption
Real assets limited partnerships 639,108 648,104 Not currently eligible rights, but have terms of 10 years and
make periodic distributions.

Total investments measured at the NAV $ 9,302,487

Hedge Funds. UNC at Chapel Hill reports a combination of the following asset strategies for its hedge funds: long biased equity,
long/short equity, diversifying, fixed income, and hedge funds in liquidation. The long biased equity strategy is characterized by primarily
holding long positions in publicly listed securities to gain equity market exposure globally. The long/short equity strategy is characterized
by buying and/or selling short individual securities that fund managers believe the market has mispriced. The long and short positions are
generally independent of one another and typically result in an overall net long exposure to equities. Both long biased equity and
long/short equity hedge fund managers occasionally invest in equity index futures, options on equity index futures, and specific risk
options. The diversifying strategy is characterized by its lack of correlation with major equity indices. These managers may use
derivatives such as fixed income and equity futures both as hedging tools and to gain exposure to specific markets. They may also enter
into various swap agreements to manage exposure to specific securities and markets. The fixed income strategy includes credit-based
commingled hedge funds and is characterized by a focus on income generation and portfolio diversification. These managers may use
futures and options on global fixed income and currency markets and enter into swap agreements to hedge or gain exposure to certain
markets. The hedge funds in liquidation strategy is characterized by investment in hedge funds that are either in the process of being
terminated or have received notice of termination.

Private Equity Limited Partnerships. Private equity managers typically invest in equity investments and transactions in private
companies. These investments are typically illiquid and are expected to control volatility and provide higher returns over the long term
than public equity investments. The energy subsection of the private equity strategy, including direct energy investments, energy security
investments, and limited partnerships, is primarily used to hedge against unanticipated inflation. The principal attraction of these
investments is the lack of correlation with the balance of the portfolio.

Real Assets Limited Partnerships. Real estate managers invest in private portfolio investments focusing on specific niche markets within
the real estate sector. Such sectors may include investments in public real estate investment trusts that provide a more liquid means of
gaining exposure to this asset class. These investments primarily serve as a hedge against unanticipated general price inflation but are also
a source of current income.
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Receivables at June 30, 2022, are reported net of allowances for doubtful accounts as follows (dollars in thousands):

Governmental Activities:

Highway Other Internal
General Highway Trust Governmental Service
Fund Fund Fund Funds Fund Total

Receivables, gross (excluding notes) $ 6,833,585 % 284,792 $ 55,151 $ 260,409 $ 42,596 $ 7,476,533
Allowance for doubtful accounts (2,211,200) (10,883) - (225,048) - (2,447,131
Receivables, net $ 4,622,385 $ 273,909 $ 55,151 § 35,361 $ 42,596 $ 5,029,402
Notes receivable, gross $ 13,482 $ 139 § 9% 48,689 $ -$ 62,319
Allowance for doubtful accounts - - - (35) - (35)
Notes receivable, net $ 13,482 $ 139 § 9% 48,654 $ -$ 62,284

Within governmental activities, the significant receivables not expected to be collected within one year total $119.19 million.
Amounts not expected to be collected within one year in the General Fund are $82.24 million and $36.95 million in Capital
Projects Funds.

Business-Type Activities:

Unemployment EPA NC State Other
Compensation Revolving Lottery N.C. Turnpike Enterprise
Fund Loan Fund Fund Authority Funds Total
Receivables, gross (excluding notes) $ 1,125,431 $ 639 $ 24,767 $ 67,001 $ 6,949 $ 1,224,787
Allowance for doubtful accounts (84,079) - - (22,300) (28) (106,407)
Receivables, net $ 1,041,352 $ 639 $ 24,767 $ 44,701 $ 6,921 $§ 1,118,380
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NOTE 5:

CAPITAL ASSETS

Primary Government A summary of changes in capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2022 is presented below (dollars in

thousands).

Governmental Activities

Capital Assets, nondepreciable
Land and permanent easements
Art, literature, and other artifacts
Construction in progress
Computer software in development
Total Capital Assets-nondepreciable

Capital Assets, depreciable

Buildings

Machinery and equipment
General infrastructure
State highway system
Computer software
Right to use lease assets, depreciable
Land and permanent easements

Buildings

Machinery and equipment
General infrastructure
Total Capital Assets-depreciable

Less accumulated depreciation for
Capital assets, depreciable

Buildings

Machinery and equipment
General infrastructure
State highway system
Computer software
Right to use lease assets, depreciable
Land and permanent easements

Buildings

Machinery and equipment
General infrastructure
Total accumulated depreciation

Total Capital Assets-depreciable, net

Governmental activities
Capital Assets, net

Balance
July 1, 2021 Balance
(as restated) Increases Decreases June 30, 2022
20,652,733 $ 895,287 $ (23,882) $ 21,524,138
147,576 2,427 (1,131) 148,872
2,735,268 3,156,731 (2,418,028) 3,473,971
791,903 116,298 (4,526) 903,675
24,327,480 4,170,743 (2,447,567) 26,050,656
4,432,797 195,003 (22,373) 4,605,427
2,064,148 102,749 (61,841) 2,105,056
376,249 5,027 (429) 380,847
44,864,399 2,269,894 (181,717) 46,952,576
428,711 5,003 (244) 433,470
464 78 - 542
413,343 40,058 (4,002) 449,399
2,066 163 - 2,229
1,425 - - 1,425
52,583,602 2,617,975 (270,606) 54,930,971
(1,555,603) (117,705) 18,495 (1,654,813)
(1,259,686) (106,141) 44,252 (1,321,575)
(142,378) (8,327) 213 (150,492)
(13,761,114) (939,055) 178,083 (14,522,086)
(113,228) (17,030) 64 (130,194)
- (41) - (41)
- (47,508) 110 (47,398)
- (691) - (691)
- (250) - (250)
(16,832,009) (1,236,748) 241,217 (17,827,540)
35,751,593 1,381,227 (29,389) 37,103,431
60,079,073 $ 5,651,970 $ (2,476,956) $ 63,154,087
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Business-type Activities
Balance
July 1, 2021 Balance
(as restated) Increases Decreases June 30, 2022
Capital Assets, nondepreciable
Land and permanent easements 549,128 $ 20,438 177) 569,389
Art, literature, and other artifacts 1,290 3 - 1,293
Construction in progress 460,856 248,985 (11,075) 698,766
Total Capital Assets-nondepreciable 1,011,274 269,426 (11,252) 1,269,448
Capital Assets, depreciable
Buildings 105,913 11,018 (2,402) 114,529
Machinery and equipment 26,421 2,140 (2,271) 26,290
General infrastructure 20,240 - - 20,240
NC toll road system 1,534,469 - - 1,534,469
Computer software 1,758 82 (5) 1,835
Right to use lease assets, depreciable
Buildings 3,443 - - 3,443
Total Capital Assets-depreciable 1,692,244 13,240 (4,678) 1,700,806
Less accumulated depreciation for
Capital Assets, depreciable
Buildings (52,611) (2,728) 1,452 (53,887)
Machinery and equipment (18,028) (1,739) 1,464 (18,303)
General infrastructure (13,716) (350) - (14,066)
NC toll road system (175,832) (29,684) - (205,516)
Computer software (1,114) (206) 6 (1,314)
Right to use lease assets, depreciable
Buildings - (702) - (702)
Total accumulated depreciation (261,301) (35,409) 2,922 (293,788)
Total Capital Assets-depreciable, net 1,430,943 (22,169) (1,756) 1,407,018
Business-type activities
Capital Assets, net 2,442,217 $ 247,257 (13,008) 2,676,466

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows (dollars in thousands):

Governmental activities

General government

Primary and secondary education
Higher education

Health and human services

Economic development

Environment and natural resources
Public safety, corrections, and regulation
Transportation

Agriculture

Total depreciation expense

Business-type activities

N.C. State Lottery

N.C. Turnpike Authority

Regulatory programs

North Carolina State Fair

Other business-type activities
Total depreciation expense

37,112
2,661
171
54,049
5,050
24,247
110,612
994,148
8,698

1,236,748

461
29,684
3,343
1,020
901

35,409
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Component Units (University of North Carolina System and community colleges). Capital asset activity for the University of
North Carolina System and community colleges for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, was as follows (dollars in thousands):

University of North Carolina System

Balance
July 1, 2021 Balance
(as restated) Increases Decreases June 30, 2022
Capital Assets, nondepreciable
Land and permanent easements $ 515,182 $ 7,258 $ (425) $ 522,015
Art, literature, and other artifacts 241,935 7,453 (12) 249,376
Construction in progress 1,448,646 762,986 (1,225,129) 986,503
Computer software in development 712 3,571 (3,438) 845
Other intangible assets 9,917 - - 9,917
Total Capital Assets-nondepreciable 2,216,392 781,268 (1,229,004) 1,768,656
Capital Assets, depreciable
Buildings 15,980,601 1,222,419 (19,443) 17,183,577
Machinery and equipment 2,939,440 269,015 (78,238) 3,130,217
Art, literature, and artifacts 202 - - 202
General infrastructure 2,285,664 77,694 (3,417) 2,359,941
Computer software 418,771 14,832 - 433,603
Other intangible assets 21,577 1,348 - 22,925
Right to use lease assets, depreciable
Land and permanent easements 838 - - 838
Buildings 670,254 25,855 (455) 695,654
Machinery and equipment 33,596 1,034 (197) 34,433
General infrastructure 6,060 - - 6,060
Total Capital Assets-depreciable 22,357,003 1,612,197 (101,750) 23,867,450
Less accumulated depreciation for
Capital Assets, depreciable
Buildings (5,459,608) (392,164) 11,658 (5,840,114)
Machinery and equipment (1,902,964) (168,804) 65,757 (2,006,011)
Art, literature, and other artifacts (195) (1) - (196)
General infrastructure (995,646) (61,356) 2,090 (1,054,912)
Computer software (294,509) (40,802) - (335,311)
Other intangible assets (2,196) (129) - (2,325)
Right to use lease assets, depreciable
Land and permanent easements - (116) - (116)
Buildings (1,498) (103,816) 2,195 (103,119)
Machinery and equipment (377) (6,245) 266 (6,356)
General infrastructure - (704) - (704)
Total accumulated depreciation (8,656,993) (774,137) 81,966 (9,349,164)
Total Capital Assets-depreciable, net 13,700,010 838,060 (19,784) 14,518,286
University of North Carolina System
Capital Assets, net 3 15,916,402 $ 1,619,328 $ (1,248,788) $ 16,286,942

Capital assets of nongovernmental component units of the University of North Carolina System are excluded from the above
amounts. At June 30, 2022, nongovernmental component unit foundations and similarly affiliated organizations of the University
of North Carolina System had nondepreciable capital assets of $55.313 million and net depreciable capital assets of $112.096
million.
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Service Concession Arrangement for Noble Hall at Western Carolina University

In August 2016, construction was completed on Noble Hall pursuant to an agreement between Western Carolina University
(University) and a third party developer, Collegiate Housing Foundation (Foundation), under which the Foundation designed and
built a mixed use facility that includes residential units, commercial, and dining establishments. The building is on land owned by
the Board of Trustees of the University’s Endowment Fund, a body established under the State of North Carolina, and leased to the
Foundation for 40 years. The student housing facility is managed by the University under the terms of the management agreement.
The University is operating the facility with budgetary oversight from the Foundation. At the end of the arrangement, the
Foundation will transfer its interest in the facility at no cost to the University or, if directed by the University, to the Board of
Trustees of the University’s Endowment Fund.

In order to promote economic, cultural, and community development opportunities, including the creation of employment, and the
stimulation of economic activity, the University entered into this agreement with the Foundation to construct the facility. Under
this arrangement, the University is responsible for providing electricity to the facility over the course of the 40-year lease
agreement. The University reports a liability for $1.80 million, the present value of this obligation. The University also reports
the facility as a capital asset with a carrying amount of $24.15 million at year-end and a related deferred inflow of resources of
$20.07 million that is amortized using the straight-line method over the terms of the lease agreement.

Service Concession Arrangements for Student Housing

The University of North Carolina at Wilmington, Appalachian State University, and North Carolina Central University
(collectively “the universities”) completed construction on student housing facilities pursuant to separate agreements with third-
party developers, under which such developers will construct and operate the facilities for 50 years, in certain cases with the
budgetary oversight of the developer. Each student housing facility is located on property either owned or leased by each
individual university. Residence life programming will be managed by each individual university under the terms of the
management agreements and operating agreements established with each third-party developer. At the end of each arrangement,
the third-party developers will transfer interest in the facilities at no cost to the universities. North Carolina Central University
retains the right to buy out its ground lease prior to the expiration of its lease.

The universities entered into these agreements to address shortages in student housing caused by enrollment growth as well as
increased demand for updated on-campus housing, while avoiding the issuance of debt. Under its specific arrangement,
Appalachian State University is required to provide certain services related to the facility under the agreement, including facility
management, maintenance, and security. Appalachian State University reports a liability of $26.95 million, the present value of
this obligation. Collectively, the universities report the facilities as capital assets with an aggregate carrying amount of $327.89
million at year-end and a related deferred inflow of resources of $294.45 million.
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Community Colleges
Balance
July 1, 2021 Balance
(as restated) Increases Decreases June 30, 2022
Capital Assets, nondepreciable
Land and permanent easements $ 222,343 $ 2,978 $ (1,279) $ 224,042
Art, literature, and other artifacts 878 105 - 983
Construction in progress 317,976 203,556 (298,856) 222,676
Other intangible assets - 1,134 - 1,134
Total Capital Assets-nondepreciable 541,197 207,773 (300,135) 448,835
Capital Assets, depreciable
Buildings 3,889,808 292,173 (3,127) 4,178,854
Machinery and equipment 601,310 55,326 (16,243) 640,393
Art, literature, and artifacts 771 - - 771
General infrastructure 269,567 10,178 (180) 279,565
Right to use lease assets, depreciable
Land and permanent easements - 592 - 592
Buildings 79,767 1,028 - 80,795
Machinery and equipment 5,662 4,337 (81) 9,918
General infrastructure 9,494 - - 9,494
Total Capital Assets-depreciable 4,856,379 363,634 (19,631) 5,200,382
Less accumulated depreciation for
Capital Assets, depreciable
Buildings (1,128,261) (75,245) 3,091 (1,200,415)
Machinery and equipment (273,699) (33,496) 12,179 (295,016)
Art, literature, and other artifacts (257) (20) - (277)
General infrastructure (76,652) (8,238) 99 (84,791)
Right to use lease assets, depreciable
Land and permanent easements - (43) - (43)
Buildings (10,509) (4,061) - (14,570)
Machinery and equipment (558) (2,465) (292) (3,315)
General infrastructure (1,280) (252) - (1,532)
Total accumulated depreciation (1,491,216) (123,820) 15,077 (1,599,959)
Total Capital Assets-depreciable, net 3,365,163 239,814 (4,554) 3,600,423
Community Colleges
Capital Assets, net $ 3,906,360 $ 447,587 $ (304,689) $ 4,049,258

Capital assets of nongovernmental component units of community colleges are excluded from the above amounts. At June 30,
2022, nongovernmental component unit foundations and similarly affiliated organizations of community colleges had

nondepreciable capital assets of $12.844 million and net depreciable capital assets of $7.582 million.
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NOTE 6: SHORT-TERM DEBT

Primary Government

Business-type Activities (Enterprise Funds)

The North Carolina Real Estate Commission (an occupational licensing board) renewed a revolving line of credit agreement for an
amount up to $500 thousand. As of June 30, 2022, the total amount outstanding on the revolving line of credit was zero resulting in
an unused line of credit of $500 thousand. In an event of default, the agreement will immediately terminate, and all indebtedness
will become due and payable at the lender’s option. Accelerations shall be automatic and not optional if the event of default is due
to insolvency.

Component Units

University of North Carolina System

The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill issued commercial paper to provide interim financing for the construction of capital
projects. In June of 2012, the Board of Governors for the University of North Carolina issued a resolution to limit the cumulative
amount of commercial paper for the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill under this program to $250 million. As of June 30,
2022, the amount of outstanding commercial paper was zero. The outstanding commercial paper contains a provision that in an event
of default, the commercial paper may become immediately due and payable if the University fails to pay any outstanding obligations.

North Carolina State University has available commercial paper program financing for short-term credit up to $100 million to finance
capital construction projects. The University’s available funds are pledged to the commercial paper program financing with the
anticipation of converting to general revenue bond financing in the future. The University had no net draws during the year to bring
the total amount of outstanding commercial paper as of June 30, 2022 to zero. The outstanding commercial paper contains provisions
that in an event of default, the commercial paper may become immediately due and payable if the University fails to make any
payment when due or fails to perform any covenant, condition, agreement, or provision for a period of 30 days after written notice.

The North Carolina State University Partnership Corporation has a revolving line of credit for an amount up to $300 thousand to be
used for operations at the Lonnie Poole Golf Course. As of June 30, 2022, the total amount outstanding on the revolving line of
credit was zero resulting in an unused line of credit of $300 thousand. The outstanding line of credit contains an event of default
provision that if the North Carolina State University Partnership Corporation is unable to make any payment when due, all
commitments and obligations of the lender immediately will terminate and, at lender’s option, all indebtedness immediately will
become due and payable. Also, upon default, the interest rate on the line of credit will be increased by an additional 3% margin,
subject to the maximum interest rate limitations under applicable law.

Rex Healthcare has unused revolving lines of credit totaling $101.4 million.
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NOTE 7: DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

A. Summary Information
Component Unit — University of North Carolina System

The following table summarizes the University of North Carolina (UNC) System’s significant derivative instruments. It includes the fair
value balances and notional amounts of derivative instruments outstanding at June 30, 2022, classified by type, and the changes in fair value
of such derivative instruments for the fiscal year then ended (dollars in thousands).

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other
(a) (b) Identical Observable
Changes in Fair Value at Assets Inputs
Type Fair Value June 30, 2022 (Level 1) (Level 2) Notional
UNC at Chapel Hill:
Cash flow hedges:
Pay-fixed interest rate swaps $ 50,447 $ (68,533) $ - $ (68,533) $ 250,000
Investment derivatives:
Pay-fixed interest rate swaps $ 729 $ (467) $ - 8 (467) $ 7,740
U.S. dollar equity futures $ (23,633) $ (1,191) $ (1,191) $ - $ 142,106
Total $ (22,904) $ (1,658) $ (1,191) $ (467)

(a) For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, the changes in fair value of cash flow hedges are classified as both deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources, and the changes in fair value of investment derivatives are classified as operating
grants and contributions.

(b) At June 30, 2022, the fair value balances of cash flow hedges outstanding are classified as both hedging derivative asset and

hedging derivative liability. The fair value balances of investment derivatives outstanding are classified as investments, except
that investment derivatives with a negative fair value are classified as accounts payable and accrued liabilities. For the UNC
System, the total fair value of cash flow hedges at June 30, 2022 was negative $71.42 million.

The fair value measurements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The
U.S. dollar futures classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using prices quoted in active markets for those securities. The
pay-fixed interest rate swaps (cash flow hedges and investment derivatives) classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using
discounted cash flow techniques.

B. Hedging Derivative Instruments

Component Unit — University of North Carolina System

The following table displays the objectives and terms of the UNC System’s significant hedging derivative instruments outstanding at June
30, 2022 (dollars in thousands):

Notional Effective Maturity
Type Objective Amount Date Date Terms
UNC at Chapel Hill:
Pay-fixed interest rate swap Hedge changes in cash flows  § 100,000 12/1/07 12/1/36  Pay 3.314%; receive 67%
on variable rate debt of SOFR + 7.4 basis point
Pay-fixed interest rate swap Hedge changes in cash flows  § 150,000 12/1/11 12/1/41  Pay 4.375%; receive 67%
on variable rate debt of SOFR + 7.4 basis point
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The UNC System’s significant hedging derivative instruments are exposed to the following risks that could give rise to financial loss:
UNC at Chapel Hill

Interest rate risk. UNC at Chapel Hill (University) is exposed to interest rate risk on its interest rate swaps which is largely offset (or
expected to be offset) by rates paid on variable-rate debt. In addition, the fair values of these instruments are highly sensitive to changes in
interest rates. Because rates have declined significantly since the effective dates of the swaps, the swaps have a negative fair value as of
June 30, 2022. The fair values are calculated as of June 30, 2022 and based on the implied forward rate for 67% of SOFR plus 7.4 basis
points. As rates rise, the value of the swaps will increase, and as rates fall, the fair value of the swaps will decrease.

Basis risk. The University is exposed to basis risk on the swaps to the extent there is a mismatch between variable bond rates paid and swap
index rates received.

Termination risk. The swap agreements use the International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) Master Agreement, which includes
standard termination events, such as failure to pay and bankruptcy. Termination could result in the University being required to make an

unanticipated termination payment. The swaps may mandatorily terminate if the University fails to perform under terms of the contract.

Information on debt service requirements on long-term debt of the primary government and component units and net cash flows on
associated hedging derivative instruments is presented in Note 8E.

C. Investment Derivative Instruments

Primary Government

The North Carolina Department of State Treasurer External Investment Pool (External Investment Pool) has investments in equity and
commodity futures, foreign currency forward and spot currency contracts. More detailed information about the External Investment Pool
is available in a separate report (see Note 3A).

Component Unit — University of North Carolina System

The University of North Carolina System’s investment derivative instruments are exposed to the following risks that could give rise to
financial loss:

UNC at Chapel Hill

Interest rate risk. The University is exposed to interest rate risk on its interest rate swap. The fair value of this instrument is highly sensitive
to interest rate changes. Because rates have changed since the effective dates of the swap, the swap has a negative fair value as of June 30,
2022. The negative fair value may be countered by a reduction in total interest payments required under the variable-rate bonds, creating
lower synthetic interest rates. As forward rates rise, the value of the swap will increase and as rates fall, the value of the swap will decrease.
The University pays 5.24% and receives Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association (SIFMA) Swap Index rate. On June 30,
2022, SIFMA Swap Index rate was .91%. The interest rate swap has a notional amount of $7.74 million and matures November 1, 2025.

D. Synthetic Guaranteed Investment Contracts

Primary Government

In the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina, 401(k) Plan, there are synthetic guaranteed investment contracts (SGICs)
within the North Carolina Stable Value Fund. SGICs are unallocated insurance contracts. There is one SGIC with The Prudential Insurance
Company of America (Prudential), one SGIC with Nationwide Life Insurance Company (Nationwide Life), one SGIC with American
General Life Insurance Company (American General), and one SGIC with Transamerica Life Insurance Company (Transamerica Life)
which are all fully benefit responsive. The SGICs provided an average credit rating yield 0o 2.26%, 1.76%, 1.84%, and 1.91%, respectively.
The fair value of the securities covered by the contracts as of December 31, 2021, is $1.79 billion and the contract value is $1.76 billion.
The contracts are unrated and have a maturity of less than one year.

In the North Carolina Public Employee Deferred Compensation Plan, 457 Plan, there are SGICs within the North Carolina Stable Value
Fund. SGICs are unallocated insurance contracts. There is one SGIC with Prudential, one SGIC with Nationwide Life, one SGIC with
American General and one SGIC with Transamerica Life which are all fully benefit responsive. The SGICs provided an average credit
rating yield of 2.26%, 1.76%, 1.84%, and 1.91%, respectively. The fair value of the securities covered by the contracts as of December 31,
2021, is $345.59 million and the contract value is $339.25 million. The contracts are unrated and have a maturity of less than one year.
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Both the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina and the North Carolina Public Employee Deferred Compensation Plan
have entered into wrap contracts with Prudential, Nationwide Life, American General, and Transamerica Life to assure that the crediting
rate on participant investments will not be less than zero. The wrap contracts with Prudential, Nationwide Life, American General, and
Transamerica Life were determined to have no value.
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NOTE 8: LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

A. Changes in Long-Term Liabilities

Primary Government. Long-term liability activity for the year ended June 30, 2022, was as follows (dollars in thousands):

Balance
July 1, 2021 Balance Due Within
(as restated) Increases Decreases June 30, 2022 One Year
Governmental activities
Bonds and similar debt payable:
General obligation bonds $ 2,648,385 $ -3 (338,595) $ 2,309,790 $ 333,850
Special indebtedness:

Limited obligation bonds 2,275,750 432,025 (358,885) 2,348,890 227,400
GARVEE bonds 875,865 252,595 (105,250) 1,023,210 104,270
Issuance premium 638,351 113,792 (123,349) 628,794 -

Total bonds and similar debt payable 6,438,351 798,412 (926,079) 6,310,684 665,520

Notes from direct borrowings 50,619 - (7,216) 43,403 6,210
Leases payable 417,322 34,412 (44,244) 407,490 41,940
Compensated absences 610,179 327,240 (351,421) 585,998 52,685
Pension liability (Note 12) 3,082,046 60,271 (1,656,407) 1,485,910 19,567
Net OPEB liability (Note 14) 5,350,926 959,021 - 6,309,947 -
Workers' compensation 693,466 64,835 (119,765) 638,536 130,894
Death benefit payable 37 - - 37 -
Pollution remediation payable 7,656 - (328) 7,328 379
Claims and judgments payable 731,703 - - 731,703 -
Governmental activity

long-term liabilities $ 17,382,305 §$ 2244191 $ (3,105460) $ 16,521,036 $ 917,195
Business-type activities
Bonds payable:

Revenue bonds $ 2,365,938 $ -3 (42,122) % 2,323,816 $ 36,994

Issuance premium 179,289 - (23,854) 155,435 -

Total bonds payable 2,545,227 - (65,976) 2,479,251 36,994

Notes from direct borrowings 185,991 1,182 (1,046) 186,127 1,014
Leases payable 3,509 52 (676) 2,885 697
Annuity and life income payable 88,159 5,402 (12,545) 81,016 7,621
Compensated absences 12,893 8,517 (8,950) 12,460 1,987
Net pension liability (Note 12) 40,128 - (23,707) 16,421 -
Net OPEB liability (Note 14) 79,039 8,627 - 87,666
Workers' compensation 87 46 (88) 45 12
Business-type activity

long-term liabilities $ 2,955,033 § 23,826 $ (112,988) $ 2,865,871 $ 48,325

For governmental activities, the compensated absences, pension liability, net OPEB liability, and workers’ compensation liabilities are
generally liquidated by the General Fund. Pollution remediation payable is generally liquidated by the Highway Fund. A portion of
compensated absences, the pension liability, the net OPEB liability, and workers’ compensation liabilities is also liquidated by the Highway
Fund. Internal service funds predominantly serve the governmental funds. Accordingly, long-term liabilities for them are included as part
of the above totals for governmental activities. At year-end, the following long-term liabilities of internal service funds were included in
the above amounts: compensated absences of $18.474 million, net pension liability of $25.105 million, net OPEB liability of $139.824
million, workers’ compensation liability of $1.727 million, and lease liability of $1,528. The claims and judgments liability of $731.7
million is paid from State appropriations as approved by the N.C. General Assembly. Funds were not appropriated in the current fiscal year
nor the next fiscal year.
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Governmental Activities

The Master Trust Indenture of the State's outstanding limited obligation bonds of $2.349 billion contain a provision that in an event
of default, all outstanding limited obligation bond amounts may become immediately due if the State fails to pay any outstanding
limited obligation bond amount by its due date, or if the State fails to budget and appropriate moneys sufficient to make payment on
such bonds coming due in any fiscal year.

The outstanding notes from direct borrowings of $36.808 million contain provisions that in the event of default, (1) outstanding
amounts become immediately due and payable, (2) the project can be sold and the proceeds applied to outstanding amounts due, (3)
the custodian could be directed to apply all acquisition fund amounts to the outstanding amounts due, or (4) proceed by appropriate
court action to enforce performance of the applicable covenants in the agreement.

Business-type Activities

The North Carolina Turnpike Authority has an unused line of credit in the amount of $499.46 million. This unused line of credit is
a Transportation Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (TIFIA) Loan through the United States Department of Transportation.

The outstanding notes from direct borrowings of $166.5 million contain provisions that in the event of default, the lender may
terminate its obligations to disburse any remaining undisbursed loan proceeds immediately.

The occupational licensing boards have pledged buildings and land as collateral for its outstanding notes from direct borrowings of
$10.049 million.

Component Unit (University of North Carolina System). Long-term liability activity for the year ended June 30, 2022, was as
follows (dollars in thousands):

Balance
July 1, 2021 Balance Due Within
(as restated) Increases Decreases June 30, 2022 One Year
University of North Carolina System
Bonds payable:
Revenue bonds $ 4,587,627 $ 172,150 $ (309,904) $ 4,449,873 $ 164,539
Direct placements 200,382 16,897 (16,600) 200,679 81,418
Certificates of participation 3,518 - (346) 3,172 357
Limited obligation bonds 195,290 - (8,355) 186,935 8,885
Issuance premium 311,378 6,026 (25,261) 292,143 -
Issuance discount (3,612) (42) 182 (3,472) -
Total bonds payable 5,294,583 195,031 (360,284) 5,129,330 255,199
Notes from direct borrowings 408,862 4,225 (59,583) 353,504 33,400
Leases payable 657,829 48,009 (103,788) 602,050 109,939
Annuity and life income payable 58,674 1,778 (8,527) 51,925 827
Compensated absences 555,202 467,286 (467,702) 554,786 102,160
Net pension liability (Note 12) 1,943,918 - (1,111,760) 832,158 -
Net OPEB liability (Note 14) 7,025,953 879,310 - 7,905,263 -
Workers' compensation 58,289 9,176 (14,164) 53,301 12,201
Pollution remediation payable 4,671 - (470) 4,201 106
Asset retirement obligation 14,338 764 - 15,102 -
Liability insurance trust fund payable 22,631 7,513 (3,379) 26,765 7,611
Total long-term liabilities $ 16,044,950 $ 1,613,092 $§ (2,129,657) $ 15528,385 $ 521,443

Long-term liabilities of nongovernmental component units of the University of North Carolina System are excluded from the above
amounts. At year-end, nongovernmental component unit foundations and similarly affiliated organizations of the University of North
Carolina System had total long-term liabilities of $241.488 million, of which $12.228 million was due within one year and $229.260 million
was due in more than one year.

The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill and Rex Healthcare have unused lines of credit in the amount of $10 million and
$150 thousand, respectively.

118



State of North Carolina June 30, 2022
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Revenue Bonds

Various universities within the University of North Carolina System (UNC System) have outstanding revenue bonds totaling $1.82
billion that contain provisions that in an event of default, the bonds may become immediately due and payable if the University fails
to make any payment when due or fails to perform any covenant, condition, agreement, or provision for a period of 30 days after
written notice.

Various universities within the UNC System have outstanding revenue bonds totaling $1.81 billion that contain a provision that in
an event of default, the bonds may become immediately due and payable if the University fails to pay any outstanding bond debt
service.

The University of North Carolina Hospitals has pledged future revenues as collateral for the revenue bonds payable of $412.785
million, and certain funds held have been reserved as restricted equal to 7.5% of gross patient revenues as stipulated by the bond
covenants. As of June 30, 2022, the amount pledged as collateral is $448.113 million. In the event of default, the bonds will become
immediately due and payable. At such time, the Board of Governors may require a sum sufficient to pay all matured installments of
principal and interest due, be deposited with the Hospitals’ Trustee. Additionally, the bonds can be replaced with a replacement
indenture. The owners of the outstanding bonds may be required to accept the replacement bonds in lieu of the bonds held by
them. Any such replacement may result in a reduction or material alteration in the covenants and other provisions provided to secure
payment of the outstanding bonds.

Rex Healthcare has outstanding revenue bonds of $150 million secured by a lien on substantially all of Rex’s real and personal
property and by a security interest in Rex’s unrestricted revenues.

Direct Placement Bonds

Various universities within the UNC System have outstanding direct placement bonds totaling $101.796 million that contain a
provision that in an event of default, the bonds may become immediately due and payable if the University fails to pay any
outstanding bond debt service.

Various universities within the UNC System have outstanding direct placement bonds totaling $98.884 million that contain a
provision that in an event of default, the bonds may become immediately due and payable if the University fails to make any payment
when due or fails to perform any covenant, condition, agreement, or provision for a period of 30 days after written notice ($91.044
million) or a period of 60 days after written notice ($7.84 million).

Special Indebtedness

The University of North Carolina at Wilmington has outstanding limited obligation bonds (LOBs) of $101.955 million secured by
revenues which include rentals payable by the University under leases and use agreements on the facilities financed and refinanced
with the LOBs. The LOBs are further secured by a deed of trust on the property financed and refinanced with the LOBs. The LOBs
contain provisions that in the event of default, the bonds become immediately due and payable if the University fails to make any
payment when due or fails to perform any covenant, condition, agreement, or provision for a period of 30 days after written notice.
Additionally, the bonds become immediately due and payable if an event of default occurs under the leases or use agreements or
under the deed of trust. The Trustee may also take property secured under the deed of trust held as security, including foreclosure on
the property held as security.

Western Carolina University has outstanding limited obligation bonds of $44.615 million. These bonds are secured by revenues
which include rentals payable by the University under leases and use agreements on the funded project. The LOBs are further secured
by a deed of trust on the property. The LOBs contain provisions that in the event of default, the bonds become immediately due and
payable.

The University of North Carolina at Pembroke has outstanding limited obligation bonds of $25.915 million. These bonds are secured
by revenues which include rentals payable by the University under leases and use agreements on the funded project. The LOBs are
further secured by a deed of trust on the property. The LOBs contain provisions that in the event of default, the bonds become
immediately due and payable if the University fails to make any payment when due or fails to perform any covenant, condition,
agreement, or provision for a period of 30 days after written notice.

Fayetteville State University has outstanding limited obligation bonds totaling $14.45 million and the University of North Carolina
School of the Arts has outstanding certificates of participation totaling $3.172 million that contain a provision that in an event of
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default, the bonds may become immediately due and payable if the University fails to make any payment when due or fails to perform
any covenant, condition, agreement, or provision for a period of 30 days after written notice. The University of North Carolina
School of the Arts has pledged an apartment complex as collateral for its outstanding certificates of participation of $3.172 million.

Notes from Direct Borrowings

Various universities within the UNC System have outstanding notes from direct borrowings totaling $102.065 million that contain
a provision that in an event of default, the notes may become immediately due and payable if the University fails to pay any
outstanding debt service.

The UNC System has pledged the energy savings improvements installed in its buildings and other structures as collateral for
Guaranteed Energy Savings Installment Financing Agreements in relation to the outstanding notes from direct borrowings of $93.439
million. These agreements contain provisions related to events of default and remedies. Significant to these provisions, an event of
default occurs when: (1) the University fails to pay an installment payment when due, (2) an event of nonappropriation from the
State occurs, (3) insurance coverage on the asset is not maintained, or (4) the University fails to perform any warranty, covenant,
condition, or agreement within 30 days of receiving written notice by the lender or fails to diligently pursue corrective action for
matters that cannot be reasonably corrected within 30 days. Upon the occurrence of any event of default, the lender may declare the
outstanding amount due and payable immediately. The lender may also exercise all remedies available by law or in the equity
provided under the agreement, including sale of the secured assets, and apply the proceeds of any such sale to the amounts due after
deducting all costs and expenses related to the recovery, repair, storage, and sale of the secured assets, including court costs and
reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred.

Appalachian State University has outstanding notes from direct borrowings of $72.8 million to finance construction of a residence
hall and to make site improvements. The University assigned to the financial institution the right, title, and interest in lease and use
agreements and upon default, the base rentals, which includes all rental revenue from the facility, and payments received or
receivable under these agreements, and a continuing security interest in the base rentals as well as the lease and use agreements after
commencement of any proceeding under the bankruptcy code. The financial institution has the right, power, and authority to: (1)
settle, compromise, release, extend the time of payment of, and make allowances, adjustments, and discounts of any base rentals or
other obligations; (2) enforce payment of base rentals; and (3) enter on, take possession of and operate the residence hall if a default
occurs.

Elizabeth City State University has outstanding notes from direct borrowings of $19.372 million that contain: (1) a provision that in
an event of default, the direct borrowings may become immediately due if pledged revenues during the year are less than 100 percent
of deb